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Revenue

3,162,391,000

BT HKS

¥1.7%

El=R

Gross profit margin

123.5%
¥ 0.8 %o

HES
Sales volume

264,000

08 METRIC TONS
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Earnings per share

17.2

B HK CENTS

£13.2%
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Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

96,882,000

BT HKS

£11.8%

FFRI
Dividend for the year

14

Bl HK CENTS

216.7%

fE E5 b

=~

Gearing ratio*

16.7%

Ban
£2.7 595558 1

* FRITEELAATIRREGERNE
DL RFTEEAE

*  Measured by net bank borrowings as
a percentage of equity attributable to
owners of the Company

HZE2024F12A31B EFE EHFER)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (audited)
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Review

It is my pleasure to present to all shareholders (“Shareholder(s)")
of Yip's Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together
with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as “Yip's Chemical”
or the “Group”) an overview of the Group’s performance for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “year under review”).

Looking back on the past year, the general operating environment
was even grimmer and more challenging than what | expected last
year. Although there were signs of recovery in the first quarter,
people were generally optimistic about the market outlook,
expecting that the market conditions could gradually return to
normal after the pandemic. However, corporate investment and
consumer sentiment remained sluggish, which was contrary to
our expectations. Throughout the year under review, except the
rate-cutting cycle commencing in the second half of the year
under review which was the only favourable news, other internal
and external factors unfavourable to the general operating
environment showed no sign of being pacified and, on the
contrary, intensified. From an external perspective, the Western
bloc, led by the United States, joined forces to apply further
pressure on China across various fronts. Several major Western
countries went through changes in government, and sentiments
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of de-globalisation were spreading. Additionally, geopolitical
tensions were escalating in many regions. Internally, the two main
pillars supporting economic development — the real estate and
stock markets — remained weak with prices lingering at low levels,
severely affecting consumer sentiment. Although government
authorities have introduced a series of fiscal policies and
administrative measures since mid-year in an effort to stimulate
corporate investment and boost consumer confidence, the
effects were slow to materialise and were insufficient to address
immediate challenges. Consequently, throughout the year under
review, businesses across various sectors have faced considerable
difficulties in both exports and domestic sales. The Group’s core
businesses were inevitably impacted by such challenges, with
the architectural coatings business bearing the brunt of the
downturn, experiencing declines in both sales and operating
profit. However, the decisive move to appoint a new leadership
team for the inks segment at the end of last year proved
instrumental. The new management team undertook significant
and effective restructuring and reforms across multiple aspects,
including management structure, sales strategies, and supply
chain operations. These initiatives led to a remarkable doubling
of performance compared to the previous year. Concurrently, the
industrial coatings business demonstrated robust performance
in both sales and contributions (please refer to the Report of the
Chief Executive Officer for details). Furthermore, the Group’s
solvents associate company achieved results that exceeded
expectations, benefiting from economies of scale and sound
management practices, thereby making a particularly significant
contribution to the Group. For the year under review, the Group
recorded a revenue of HK$3.16 billion, representing a slight
decrease of 1.7% compared to the corresponding period of the
previous year, while profit attributable to owners increased by
11.8% year-on-year to HK$96.9 million.

Regarding financial performance, the Group has adopted more
stringent credit measures in the face of the challenging operating
environment, with doubtful and bad debts remaining at a
normal level, maintaining a healthy overall financial position of
the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio
was at a relatively low level of 16.7%. After a comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s business prospects and future
development strategies and considering the established practice
of rewarding shareholders earnestly, the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company has resolved
to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK11 cents
per share to all shareholders, representing an increase of HK1
cent compared to the final dividend distributed during last year.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT ' YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Meanwhile, in order to demonstrate its potential value and seek
greater benefits for its Shareholders, the Group had implemented
a share buyback program on the market during the year under
review. However, the outcome fell below our expectation, with
only approximately 10 million shares of the Company (”Share(s)")
repurchased, representing approximately 1.8% of the total issued
share capital (including treasury shares) of the Company. The
Group will continue to evaluate and explore the feasibility of
various initiatives to better realise shareholder value in the future.

Outlook

I 'am not optimistic about the business environment in 2025. In
addition to the various unfavourable factors described in the
Review that are difficult to eliminate in the short run, the change
of the U.S. government this year and the fickle new governing
team may bring more challenges and uncertainties to the world
trade order — especially the “tariff war”. However, | am more
confident about the Group’s business prospects for the current
year compared to the year under review. Firstly, after nearly
two years of internal business restructuring, the Group’s core
businesses have gradually found ways to overcome challenges
and develop in a tough operating environment, the effectiveness
of which will continue to manifest. Secondly, the Group is
transforming from an enterprise of merely manufacturing and
selling chemical products to a “leading development platform
for chemical businesses”. The Strategic Investment Department
of the Group has been making relentless efforts in seeking
acquisition opportunities of relevant domestic enterprises that
may allow the Group to expand into related sectors and enhance
its core businesses, while numerous SMEs are in dire need for
support in areas such as funding, finance, human resource and
supply chain under such unfavourable operating environment and
are seeking suitable partners to sustain their operations. Given
that, with over 50 years of successful operation and a sterling
reputation in the industry, Yip’'s Chemical is expecting to create
synergistic effects through successful collaborations with these
enterprises, achieving a win-win outcome. | would like to see one
or two pilot projects initiated during the year and thus gradually
explore and refine a development model that may take the Group
onto the track of on-going growth. Finally, I am full of confidence
in the sustained growth of the Chinese economy. Whether it is
dealing with the international changes or addressing the domestic
consumption weakness, | believe that there are sufficient financial
and administrative policies that can be implemented to achieve
the goal of continuous economic growth. As mentioned above,
there are opportunities amidst crises. The Group is well-prepared
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to seek more business opportunities and accelerate its expansion
in such era of great changes with a view to constantly striving
to create greater returns for its Shareholders. At the same time,
I would like to report to all Shareholders that, as announced
by the Group in January 2025, in order to optimise its resource
allocation, the Group has decided to dispose the land use right
of part of its certain idle land in Jinshan, Shanghai at a price of
approximately HK$74 million. It is expected to record a profit
before tax of approximately HK$58 million upon completion of
the transaction.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our deepest gratitude to all employees, Shareholders,
bankers, suppliers, customers, the Board members and the
leadership teams at all levels of the Group for their unfailing
support and efforts.

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

21 March 2025
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Review

During the year under review, Yip's Chemical faced the
complicated and ever-changing economic environment at home
and abroad. On the one hand, the overall economic development
in China encountered certain bottlenecks. On the other hand, the
global trade climate was uncertain and the interest rate remained
at a high level. Against this backdrop, through a robust sales
strategy coupled with stringent cost control, the Group’s overall
business achieved stable sales and profit growth during the year
under review. The Company's cash flow and gearing ratio are
both at healthy level.
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Key Business Highlights

The Group recorded a revenue of HK$3.16 billion and a
sales volume of 264,000 metric tonnes, representing a
slight decrease of 1.7% and 9.6% respectively compared to
that of the preceding year.

Overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased to
23.5%, representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.8
percentage point. The gross profit margins of the inks and
lubricants businesses improved from the preceding year, but
the gross profit margin of the coatings business decreased
as a result of the adverse market conditions of architectural
coatings.

The solvents associate company recorded a strong growth
in revenue during the year under review.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of
HK$96.9 million, which represents an increase of 11.8%
compared to that of the corresponding period of the
preceding year.

Gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 continued to be at
a relatively low level of 16.7% as compared to 14.0% as
at the year end of 2023, allowing the Group to have more
flexibility and room in investments in new growth projects
going forward.
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Coatings

During the year under review, the Group’s coatings segment
recorded a decline of 16% to 184,000 metric tonnes in sales
volume and a decline of 8% to HK$1.46 billion in sales revenue,
respectively. During the year under review, different product
lines under the coatings segment exhibited varying development
trends. The architectural coatings business faced challenges due
to a sluggish real estate market. Amid shrinking demand and
intense market competition, despite efforts made to expand their
stores and distributor networks for the “Bauhinia” and “Camel”
brands of the Group, sales has still significantly declined. In
contrast, the industrial coatings and resin products continued
to have good performance supported by the Group’s advanced
technology and high-quality product systems. Taking coatings
for plastic toys as an example, the Group’s “Hang Cheung”
(18 &) brand is already in a leading position in the field of toy
coatings and has carried out in-depth cooperation with multiple
well-known domestic and foreign toy brands in China. As for
the protective coatings, the Group also achieved remarkable
sales and profit growth in the niche market of professional high-
performance protection. The coatings segment recorded a gross
profit margin of 26.2%, a decrease of 1.6 percentage points
compared to that of the preceding year. The segment results
declined by 87% to HK$7.2 million.

In the coming year, the Group will leverage the momentum of the
development of industrial coatings and resin products, allocating
additional resources to focus on driving the growth of these
business segments. As for the architectural coatings sector, we
will reassess this market and adopt more pragmatic strategies in
both product offerings and branding to revitalise the business.
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Inks

During the year under review, the Group's inks segment recorded
a revenue of HK$1.36 billion, representing an increase of 13%
compared to that of the preceding year. Under the efforts of new
management team, the inks segment has been able to gain more
market share in a highly competitive market while effectively
controlling supply chain costs. As a result, the business recorded a
segment profit of HK$77.2 million, marking a significant increase
of 104% compared to that of the preceding year. Leveraging on
its leading position in food packaging inks in China, the Group’s
brand Bauhinia Variegata Ink continued to expand its product
lines, including inks for electronic products and specialised inks
for industrial product decoration and other niche markets, laying
a greater platform for future development.

Looking ahead to the coming year, although the overall
demand for inks products is still somehow growing slowly, our
management team will continue to use the current competitive
advantage to expand the market share of food packaging inks in
China’s domestic demand market, while actively developing ink
products in other niche markets to enrich the product lines.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

13



14

ZEZ V4 [EEE 2024 ANNUAL REVIEW

THGRRIRS

Repor’r of the Chief Executive Officer

/Fﬁ B /$
REBEFE BEhEBEEERLP6%
E32BE T BEMNERATISEES
FHE23.3% © ZEBESE 508 B
T HE TR =ZFRHA12% - AER
BEHEBERIINEBLCESERTYE R
I T RERREERM TR - 812
EBifE&BFRBRAEFETEHRNA
B BERNARKERNMZ— -

RERR  SEBEBERTSERAEHE
BHHE  WIEMERAERFETERD
MomiZLE -

RENBAEIBE AT
SEFE R ANEEREEEAE A
Hﬁﬁmljmzweam%>\w%_;
ZHF - BB A AT R EENEERS
is%w% » 31,540,000 B 7F S 37
% o Hep - P AYEHEE4530,000
i RAETEMNEESLE - B X
M”Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm%aﬁ&%%%%
RAHIEE T - BEETR9,6008 BT
AR -

SEMEE - Eé\aﬁ:\%%fiﬁ?%%@
EET EREEHEHIABIRIK
EQJE’JAT’E CEBEBERINERB
B oo B BIEEE A RO R AL B 3 BE L
&@ﬂ@x@alﬁﬁafﬁ_?_ﬁiTii
BAEE ERNHEREINEEES
AR AR RIE o

ERLIKERRLT —T_NFEFR

Lubricants

During the year under review, revenue from the lubricants
business decreased by 6% to HK$320 million, and the gross profit
margin rose by 1.5 percentage points to 23.3%. This segment
recorded a profit of HK$9.5 million, representing a decrease of
12% compared to that of 2023. The demand for automotive
lubricants was affected by the overall economic situation, so the
sales volume of “Hercules” lubricants decreased slightly. Over the
past few years, the management team has been investing in the
expansion of specialised industrial oils, which are expected to be
one of the highlights of future growth.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to steadily develop the
sales of automotive lubricants and increase the resources invested
in the specialised industrial oils niche market.

Investment in Solvents Associate

The Group retains a 24% effective stake in “Handsome
Chemical”
The solvents associate recorded a strong growth of 13% in

, the largest acetate solvents company in the world.

sales volume in 2024, reaching a historical high of 1,540,000
metric tonnes. In particular, the sales volume of exports reached
approximately 530,000 metric tonnes, which served as the major
force of growth. Meanwhile, with its strong purchasing power
and ability to consistently control costs, the solvents associate
delivered a healthy return of HK$96.0 million to the Group.

The Group believes that under the strong leadership of the
associate’s management team, together with our business
partnerships with “PAG"” and “Qisheng”, the business will
continue its prosperous trend. The new acetic acid and acetates
solvents manufacturing plant owned by the associate in Hubei
is expected to commence operation in the second half of 2025,
which will enhance vertical integration of the production chain
and economy of scale.
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Outlook

To flexibly capture future market opportunities and continuously
create long-term value for stakeholders, the Group’s leadership
team has developed a new vision and strategy. We will build
on our strengths and strive to establish a “leading development
platform for chemical businesses” by leveraging our stable
shareholder base with long term view, our position as a listed
company in Hong Kong, our strong reputation, and our social
resources and extensive experience of operations in China. The
Group will continuously build and invest in strong chemical
businesses with excellent business models driven by innovation
in green technologies, services and branding in niche markets
and grow its platform in the future. We strive towards a century
of leadership in our respective chemical fields, generating
stable returns and creating long-term value appreciation for
Shareholders and stakeholders.

In the coming year, the Group, guided by the new vision, will
vigorously drive the organic growth in its core businesses to
fortify its current market position and profit base. Simultaneously,
we will actively seek strategic investment and acquisition
opportunities that align with the future development of Yip's
Chemical to accelerate the growth of the “leading development
platform for chemical businesses”. Furthermore, with the new
manufacturing plant of our solvents associate in Hubei set to
commence operation in the second half of 2025, the Group’s
minority equity interest in the company will continue to yield
positive results.

| believe that these initiatives will further fortify the Group’s profit

growth and add new dimensions to our businesses, driving the
Group towards a successful future and reach its new vision.

Ip Kwan (Francis)
Chief Executive Officer

21 March 2025
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Group’s Major Properties

UNSEBEFNEERI
The Group’s headquarters in ) i
Wanchai, Hong Kong R ERR=HEE MR E
The lubricants plant in
ﬂ Dongguan, Guangdong

it B8 E LIBVERIRRE AR 00) | | R EBBYE KRR 5 I EREBMNEVERBE
The coatings plant in The coatings plant in The coatings plant in

ﬂ Jinshan, Shanghai ﬁ Chengdu, Sichuan ﬁ Huizhou, Guangdong

. Yiiadf] Ml

IR ERPLIBSHERF {52 R i ST i) 48D B3 eh 22 g R S G RHERE
The inks plant in Zhongshan, The inks plant in Tongxiang, The inks plant in

ﬂ Guangdong ﬁ Zhejing ﬁ Huangshi, Hubei

’“ [|

{731 & 3R BB BB = iR ERINE B EIBE R ASERAtFIPIB0E EIRIES (2 )

The solvents plant in Taixing, The solvents plant in Zhuhai, The solvents plant in Jingmen,

l Jiangsu l Guangdong Hubei (under construction)
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oup’s MajorPropertie

B) 5
Shanghai

148

Tongxiang

PR
Chengdu@

O AR
Headquarters

ﬂ> RIS

Coatings plant
& R
Inks plan

N
Lubricants plant

MABRTERE MRS BE,
] Office or industrial building / Office unit / Plant / Sh

AR S
ﬁ Solvents plant*
SEETEENNELA RERELERTULE Kb ERNFHSFERER -
The Group owns a portfolio of completed properties which are under use or leased out; others are held for lease or sales.

R Hong Kong
Shenzhen
7

Zhuhai

BE AR Z R
*Plants of associates
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Business Profiles — Coatings
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BAUHINIA

The Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group (the “Advanced Materials
Group”) manages and operates the architectural coatings
businesses in the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau, and
industrial coatings and resins businesses in the Chinese Mainland
under Yip's Chemical. Meanwhile, it is expanding its business
into new materials beyond the field of traditional coatings. With
the growing environmental awareness and health consciousness
of consumers, the Advanced Materials Group remains innovative
and has implemented the brand value of “High-performing
Coatings Enabling a Healthy Lifestyle” by providing consumers
with professional and safe products and services. Its products
have also obtained multiple authoritative certifications both
domestically and internationally, delivering quality and excellence
to create a healthy and green living environment for thousands of
families in China. The Advanced Materials Group has set up large-
scale automated production bases in Eastern China (Shanghai),
Southern China (Guangdong Huizhou) and Western China
(Sichuan Chengdu).

Architectural Coatings

Architectural coatings business includes inner and outer emulsion
wall paints, floor coatings, art coatings, faux stone paints, wood
paints and auxiliary materials. The Advanced Materials Group
insists on innovation and strives to be the leader in China’s
household paints market. Its “Bauhinia” brand in the Chinese
Mainland has sales outlets covering China’s large and medium-
sized cities as well as the majority of towns, and has earned
accolades and trust from users. By providing professional products
and high-quality services in the construction industry, it has
secured national large-scale construction projects and earned the
trust of many state-owned construction companies and property
developers. Through long-term strategic partnerships with these
companies and developers, projects utilising the paints supplied
by the Advanced Materials Group can now be found throughout
the country.
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In terms of external collaboration, the Advanced Materials
Group maintains a proactive approach. It has become the official
supporting brand of the China Women's National Football Team
to promote the development of China’s sports industry and
China’s paint industry together, and has developed eco-friendly
products to promote a healthy lifestyle. The Advanced Materials
Group has also become the title sponsor of two high-speed
railway lines, displaying Bauhinia’s brand logo, in order to harness
the power of “China’s Speed” to further promote the brand and
embark on a new journey of brand marketing.

In addition, the Group also provides high-quality, eco-friendly
auxiliary materials, including wall reinforcement, floor leveling
and smoothing, tile paving, kitchen and bathroom waterproofing,
tile adhesive, tools and consumables, etc. Its comprehensive
sales network provides consumers with a one-stop shopping
experience.

Camel Paints

Camel was founded in 1932. Over the years, Camel has been
dedicated to developing the paint workers market and channel
business by maintaining close interaction with paint workers,
ensuring long-term stability and growth. Yip's Chemical acquired
coatings brands, namely “Camel”, “Aquapro” and “VIVA" in
early 2018, and their respective coatings businesses in Hong
Kong, Macau and the Chinese Mainland. The acquisition can
strengthen our Group's position in the coatings market in
Southern China, and create synergies with the current businesses
of the Advanced Materials Group in manufacturing, technology,
distribution and marketing. It will lay a solid foundation for the
development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay
Area, and future expansion across the Chinese Mainland.
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Industrial Coatings

Industrial coatings business consists of a range of products,
including coatings for furniture and toys, as well as protective
coatings. It has experienced consistent and rapid growth over
the years. It has successfully gained the trust of both new and
long-standing customers with its professional products, superb
product quality and exceptional services. Industrial coatings
business has a strong research and development (R&D) team
and multiple products have obtained invention patents. It can
develop new products according to customer requirements. The
industrial coatings laboratory is an accredited facility recognised
by the China National Accreditation Service for Conformity
Assessment (“CNAS"), offering corresponding testing services.
This not only provides a solid guarantee of product quality,
but also substantially tightens the collaboration between the
Advanced Materials Group and the supply chain units and end-
users of numerous international brands. The Group established
a start-up company in 2024, focusing on the R&D of UV-curable
coatings and polymer materials for new energy vehicle batteries
and related components, which is a new initiative for industrial
coatings business to tap into new applications and diversify its
product portfolio. In addition, furniture coatings has been actively
exploring overseas markets in recent years, exporting to Southeast
Asian regions such as Vietnam and Malaysia, further promoting
the growth of the industrial coatings business.
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Resins

The Advanced Materials Group also produces resins, which are
vertically integrated into related coatings products to provide
more competitive raw materials and further enhance product
function and quality. Its products range includes, among others,
acrylic resins, water-based resins, alkyd resins, polyester resins,
and polyurethane curing agents. It can also develop resins
according to customer requirements to meet their specific needs
for coatings applications.
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Yip's Chemical’s inks business started in 1998. Its brand “Bauhinia
Variegata” Ink has developed to become the largest inks supplier
in the country and it ranks among the top 20 inks enterprises
globally. Bauhinia Variegata Ink mainly produces gravure printing
inks, offset printing inks, screen printing inks, UV printing inks,
solvents and environmentally friendly processing materials, which
are widely used in various industries including food, beverage,
daily necessities, industrial products, printed materials, electronic
products, gift packaging, and decorative materials. It has
production bases in Southern China (Zhongshan, Guangdong)
and Eastern China (Tongxiang, Zhejiang) with its sales network
covering the whole country.

Bauhinia Variegata Ink is a staunch advocate of environmental
protection and is leading the industry in both environmentally
friendly products and green technologies. For example, it takes
the lead in establishing a separated benzene-free production
plant and adopting the full pipeline production model, equipped
with the most advanced automatic control system. It is also one
of the few inks production systems in China that is connected
with an Enterprise Resources Planning system. In its effort to
protect employee health and the environment, Bauhinia Variegata
Ink has also become one of the pioneers in China’s inks industry
in adopting a hazardous substance process management system.
Moreover, it has reduced volatile organic compounds (VOC)
emission during the production process through technological
advancement. It has also developed products with outstanding
eco-friendly performance including water-based inks and pure
plant oil inks, which have earned the company the “Corporate
Environmental Leadership Awards” in recognition of its efforts.
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New Asia Pacific Testing Technology Service (Zhongshan)
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the inks business, was
established in 2022. It is a comprehensive technical service
organization with laboratory accreditation from CMA and
CNAS in China, as well as CPSC in the United States. It has
established strategic partnership with internationally renowned
testing institutions and scientific research institutes to provide
customers with one-stop services, including consultation, training,
inspection, testing, certification and other diversified high-quality
services and solutions, ensuring product quality and safety for
customers.

In addition, the inks business has completed the acquisition of
the controlling stake in a circuit board inks manufacturer, which
has a production base located in Huangshi, Hubei. Through
such acquisition, the inks business aims to expand into new

niche market in the inks industry, bringing it more development
opportunities and advantages.
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Business Profiles — Lubricants

Yip's Chemical started engaging in the production of lubricants in
1992. Since then, it has rolled out a wide array of lubricants for
use in automobiles and related industries under the “Hercules”
brand, including engine oils, antifreeze fluids, system coolants,
brake oils, lubricating greases, gear oils, automatic gearbox oils,
hydraulic oils, etc. In recent years, the lubricants business has
engaged mainly in rebuilding and repositioning the Hercules
brand. Its objective is to secure a solid footing in the Chinese
Mainland automotive aftermarket through strategies such as
upgrading products, streamlining channels and empowering end-
user stores.

In addition, the Group also produces a range of high-
performance industrial lubricants and special lubricants under
the “Pacoil” brand. Pacoil products are used in various industries
including electronics, home appliances, automobiles, bearing
manufacturing, engineering machinery, steel, port terminals,
cement, toys, textiles, metal processing, etc. Concurrently,
with the growth of domestic demand, the Group has stepped
up its investment in the R&D of industrial specialty lubricant
technologies with the view of achieving greater breakthroughs
in specialty greases and metal processing oils (liquids) for the
medium to high-end markets.
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The associate of the Company in the solvents business
(“Handsome Chemical”) is the largest acetate solvents producer
globally. A major turning point in the history of the business came
in 1993, when the then subsidiary of the Company, Handsome
Chemical set its sights on economic reforms which took place in
the Chinese Mainland. A joint venture with Jiangmen Qisheng
Chemical Development Company Limited was formed and, by
capitalising on the advantages of a Sino-foreign joint venture
and complementing each other, the two partners were able to
achieve close to 30 years of dazzling performance in the solvents
business.

In order to enhance the competitiveness of the downstream
products, the Group sold its controlling interest in the solvents
business to PAG in 2022 to develop acetic acid projects, and
established a new plant in Jingmen, Hubei, with an annual
production capacity of 600,000 tonnes of acetic acid and
600,000 tonnes of acetate solvents. The plant is expected to be
completed and commence operation in 2025, starting a new
chapter of upstream development of the solvents business. The
Group continues to participate in the solvents business through its
remaining 24% equity in Handsome Chemical. To further invest in
such project, in 2023, the Group subscribed for a PAG subsidiary’s
preferred shares at the subscription price of US$85 million,
expecting to benefit from its growth potential, thereby creating
more value for the Group’s business partners and Shareholders.
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Currently, Handsome Chemical has established three production
bases, located in Southern China (Zhuhai, Guangdong), Eastern
China (Taixing, Jiangsu) and Central China (Jingmen, Hubei,
under construction) respectively. The solvents business mainly
produces eco-friendly industrial organic solvents. These include
ethyl acetate, normal butyl acetate, normal propyl acetate, mixed
butyl acetate and butyl acrylate which are extensively used in
coatings, tannery, medicine, adhesives and battery industries.
The business maintains a huge sales team and operates a sales
network that covers the whole of China and overseas. In order to
meet customer needs in different markets, Handsome Chemical
also continuously develops high-performance and new products,
such as methyl acetate and electronic-grade ethyl acetate, so as
to secure its leading market position.

The solvents business is operated under a direct-sale model,
which ensures thorough and satisfactory services and enables
the sales team to have a better understanding of customer needs
- a vital edge of the business. Its customer-oriented pre-sales
and post-sales services have, over the years, won the trust and
support of customers. Meanwhile, product quality is guaranteed
through cooperation with world-class chemical companies in
sourcing raw materials of superior and stable quality.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
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For the year ended 31 December

“E-mE C—TZ=F ZECC —E--F  ZECEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TAR TAL TAET TAET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=) (7))
(Restated) (Restated)
#& Results
X Revenue
—BERGER - From continuing operations 3,162,391 3,217,138 3,358,509 3,994,160
—BRIEEEEK - From discontinued operations - - 10,666,671 13,811,237
mugn Total revenue 3,162,301 3217,138 14,025,180 17,805,397 10,776,026
HE(Fm) Sales volume ('000 metric tons)
—%ZE@&%% - From continuing operations 264 292 269 335
~ B HEEER - From discontinued operations - - 1,195 1,224
B Total sales volume 264 292 1,464 1,559 1,490
BRE AT AR Profit before taxation 115,687 83,865 1,534,704 739,198 * 534,911
bichs] Taxation (19,993) (23,269) (238,897) (164,647) (131,335)
KEEHF Profit for the year 95,694 60,596 1,295,807 574,551 403,576
il Attributable to
KARRE Owners of the Company 96,882 86,623 1,217,774 406,280 302,575
R Non-controlling interests (1,188) (26,027) 78,033 168,271 101,001
95,694 60,596 1295807 574,551 403,576
SREH Per share data
FRAM(EAL) Earnings per share (HK cents)
—&R - Basic 17.2 15.2 214.2 72.8 53.8
-] - Diluted 17.2 15.2 2142 72.8 53.8
FRIE GBI * Dividend per share (HK cents)* 14.0 12.0 90.0 40.0 22.0
Bt = Financial ratios
TH@EERRE Return on average total assets 1.6% 1.2% 13.2% 43% * 3.7%
FHRFESRRE Return on average shareholders’
funds 2.5% 2.1% 29.7% 11.3% 9.5%
# I —FR-_T_FoBEBERE & Amount for 2022 and 2021 included continuing and discontinued
MEREBRERIEEEER operations
* —E__FrERREBERIKRES * Dividend per share in 2022 included special dividend HK75 cents
R758( - —E=—F 2 HFRKREBIE per share. Dividend per share in 2021 included special dividend
BRI EERI0OBIL RS T = —4&F HK10 cents per share and scrip dividend alternative was offered in
RERIR BREUBRRE ZEE - respect of the 2021 interim and special dividend.
RM+=A=+-H
As at 31 December
“E-NE -—E--fF —F-- —F--% ZZ-FF
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TER THBL THBL THBL THBL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EE5)
(Restated)
BEREE Assets and liabilities
BELE Total assets 6,075,778 6,419,027 8,011,501 10,420,089 8,439,363
BfERE Total liabilities (2,264,296)  (2,503,925)  (3,552,588)  (5,692,590)  (4,213,164)
3,811,482 3,915,102 4,458,913 4,727,499 4,226,199
AARIREEGES Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 3,789,127 3,926,349 4,406,955 3,802,373 3,405,924
FERER Non-controlling interests 22,355 (11,247) 51,958 925,126 820,275
3,811,482 3,915,102 4,458,913 4,727,499 4,226,199
FRTEEERRES LR Net bank borrowings to
shareholders' funds 17% 14% 25% 37% 31%

ERILIKERRLR
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Revenue iso00)
HZE+-HA=1—HIL%E For the year ended 31 December

EES ) PSR [RESIR S
Revenue . Continuing operations . Discontinued operations
20,000,000
17,805,397
15,000,000 14,025,180
10,776,026
10,000,000 13

5,000,000 3,217,138

3,162,391

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

g HJXIHJX-LI%\ [G:2(1D)

Dividend per share s

HZE+-H=1—HIL% For the year ended 31 December

[sdl R T
Special Final Interim
100
90
80
60 75
40
40
10*

22
20 . 12 14
o B | 20 0 7-7-7
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
* B RAR B A
Paid with final dividend
# BR8N A HAF R R R B R RAURAR S 2B

Paid with interim dividend with scrip dividend alternative offered
for both special and interim dividends

ARBBRREERERR o
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company «soo

#W+=HA=+—H As at 31 December

5,000,000
4,406,955

3,802,373 3,926,349

4,000,000 3,789,127

3,405,924

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AR TR EREAE R e
Profit attributable to owners
Of the Company (HK$"000)

HZ+ZA=1—HILFE For the year ended 31 December

1,500,000

1,217,774*

1,000,000

500,000 406,280

302,575

86,623 96,882

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Y ARRBRLEEBRERIEEERE

Included continuing operations & discontinued operations

g Hﬁ%%u (€z:3011D)

Earnings per share i« cens

#Z+-H=+—HIEFJE For the year ended 31 December

250

225 214.2%

200

175

150

125

100

75

50

25 15.2 17.2

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Y EERBREEBRERILEERY
Included continuing operations & discontinued operations
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Analysis of Revenue and Segment Results for the Past Five Years

LR Revenue
BZ+-A=1-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December

—B-ME -—T-=4§ —ZT--f —T--F C—E-FTE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TER T T Fin FEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(E75))

(Restated)

AE () Solvents (Note 1) - - - - 7,867,873

R Coatings 1,461,257 1,584,807 1,639,448 2,036,898 1,442,690

HE Inks 1,364,757 1,206,236 1,340,198 1,498,448 1,244,546

pERER Lubricants 324,015 344,944 299,026 333,214 219,973

mE Properties 8,977 10,998 10,685 10,163 8,904

Bt (Hi=) Others (Note 2) 4,432 71,533 74,015 139,329 136,883

T HEH Elimination (1,047) (1,380) (4,863) (23,892) (144,843)

ok Total 3,162,391 3,217,138 3,358,509 3,994,160 10,776,026

Mt - Notes:

- RBEZTE-—_F+-A=+—BILF 1 During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating segment
E - AREEREEERSE KAREE regarding the manufacture of and trading in raw solvents and
mMZBEDFERIEEE - kD E related product was discontinued. The segment revenue and results
BLEETEDEZSERIECEER did not include any amounts for these discontinued operations.

Z R

Z AEEERERETHEMEIERN 2 The Group's operation relating to the manufacture of and trading
¥GERNEEEAEREERLA in other chemical products, together with the business engaging
ERERBHEZ(RNBE-_T_ZTF in trading of car maintenance products and car maintenance
TZA=T-HIEFERKRETREZE services (which was acquired during the year ended 31 December
ZEZNFFTZA=+—HIEFEAS 2020 and disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2024),
BE)HEEINAEROFENEEL - did not meet the quantitative threshold for reportable segment.
FULZEEBR Efb &GO 25 Accordingly, these businesses were aggregated and presented in

"Others”.

ERILIKEBRAT —Z_NFEFR
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Analysis of Revenue and Segment Results for the Past Five Years

R rmen)
Revenue (Hkswmilion)

#HZE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December

10,000
9,000 AR
. Solvents
8,000 . Coatings
Jh2
. Inks
7,000
bebicpcd
. Lubricants
6,000 LIES
. Properties
Hith
5,000 . Others

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Analysis of Revenue and Segment Results for the Past Five Years

pak-E S

Segment Results

HBE+-A=t-HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

—B-ME -—T-=4§ —ZT--f —T--F C—E-FTE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TER TET TET TET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&3)
(Restated)

AE (it =) Solvents (Note 1) = - - - 471,454

2E Coatings 7,219 57,250 8,526 (123,503) 51,156

hE Inks 77,199 37,861 9,424 47,337 60,767

AR Lubricants 9,536 10,849 (2,113) 19,735 7,593

mE Properties (5,738) 30,869 6,247 67,579 981

Bt (hi=) Others (Note 2) (716) (44,759) (34,141) (31,511) (12,130)

T HHEH Elimination 195 - (186) 333 (316)

B Total 87,695 92,070 (12,243) (20,030) 579,505

et - Notes:

— REBEZTZF+ZA=1+—HLHF 1 During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating segment
B AR EESRABRERE regarding the manufacture of and trading in raw solvents and
MZEENFECRIEEE - WD fEEE related product was discontinued. The segment revenue and results
BEREEWEAEZSERIEEEED did not include any amounts for these discontinued operations.
A& EE

Z AEEEHAREREEHMEIERD 2 The Group's operation relating to the manufacture of and trading
¥BERNEFETTEREERLA in other chemical products, together with the business engaging
ERERBNVER(RBE_ZT_TF in trading of car maintenance products and car maintenance
TZA=tT—BIEFERNRBITRAEZE services (which was acquired during the year ended 31 December
ZEZNFFTZA=+T—HIEFEND 2020 and disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2024),
E)EETA 2RO EHENLERK - did not meet the quantitative threshold for reportable segment.
Btz EEBRIEM A HED Accordingly, these businesses were aggregated and presented in

“Others”.

ERCISEEERLT —Z-NFEFH
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Analysis of Revenue and Segment Results for the Past Five Years

DEEZ Emen
Segment Results ¢ikswilion)

#HZE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
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BEZEEEIIERE  WENARE
EFUREREAREBERGFHUED
EEIVE - QREBIELEZRER
250 DEFERNEBESEEFESR
A86,546,0008 L ( —E-=4F  FHE
MEA236,544,00087T) L AF - #
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o BEFEHRBHEEENHEEERS
HESRWRMBY B EEER
FTEEZFRERALL EFRD -

ER{LISEEBRLT —T_NFEFH

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated
by net bank borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable
to owners of the Company) was 16.7% (31 December 2023:
14.0%), representing an increase of 2.7 percentage points as
compared to that as at year end of 2023. The Group continued
to maintain positive operating cash flow in 2024, however, with
more cash spent on acquisition of investment-grade bonds and
Shares repurchases to enhance Shareholders’ return, coupled
with the impact of the depreciation of the Renminbi (“RMB")
exchange rate, the gearing ratio has thus slightly risen compared
to last year. Currently, the gearing ratio is still at a relatively low
level, and the Group will leverage this advantage to continue
seeking business development opportunities.

The RMB exchange rate recorded a depreciation of 3.7% in
2024. The Group remained prudent in managing its foreign
exchange exposure such as increasing its RMB bank borrowings
so as to minimise the impact of RMB fluctuation on its results.
As for operating cash flow, the Group recorded a net cash
inflow of HK$86,546,000 during the year under review (2023:
net cash inflow of HK$236,544,000). As compared with the
preceding year, although the profit before tax with adjusting
items increased, the net cash inflow from operating activities has
decreased mainly due to the growth in sales of the inks business,
which led to a corresponding rise in its trade receivables.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, gross bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$1,226,713,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,401,793,000). After the deduction of short-
term bank deposits, bank balances and cash amounting to
HK$594,377,000 (31 December 2023: HK$854,247,000), net
bank borrowings amounted to HK$632,336,000 (31 December
2023: HK$547,546,000). Of the gross bank borrowings,
HK$872,313,000 (31 December 2023: HK$930,787,000) were
short-term loans repayable within one year. Such loans were
denominated in two currencies, HK$474,265,000 in Hong
Kong Dollars and HK$398,048,000 in RMB (31 December 2023:
$721,667,000 in Hong Kong Dollars and HK$209,120,000 in
RMB). Long-term loans repayable after one year amounted to
HK$354,400,000 (31 December 2023: HK$471,006,000), and
they were all denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (31 December
2023: HK$460,000,000 in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$11,006,000
in RMB). The short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash
were denominated in the following currencies: HK$68,329,000 in
Hong Kong Dollars, HK$503,804,000 in RMB, HK$15,094,000 in
US Dollars and HK$7,150,000 in other currencies (31 December
2023: HK$179,991,000 in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$392,694,000
in RMB, HK$272,974,000 in US Dollars and HK$8,588,000 in
other currencies).

With its currently ample liquidity, the Group has only signed a
3-year bilateral sustainability-linked loan of HK$100,000,000
with a bank in Hong Kong in 2024. As at 31 December 2024,
medium to long term loans (including portions repayable within
one year amounted to HK$205,600,000) accounted for 46% of
the total bank loans. The Group will monitor the interest rate
fluctuation closely and enter into interest rate swaps or fixed rate
arrangement with the banks at appropriate time to hedge against
the risk of interest rate fluctuation. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group's loans under fixed rate arrangement constituted 38% of
its medium to long term loans.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
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As stated above, the Group will continue to increase its RMB bank
borrowings in the Chinese Mainland to finance its local operations
to take advantage of the lower interest costs there as well as to
mitigate the risk of RMB rate fluctuation. The Group will continue
to strike an optimal balance between lowering borrowing costs
and minimising currency exposure by structuring a favourable
combination of Hong Kong Dollars, US Dollars, RMB or other
foreign currency bank loans in Hong Kong and the Chinese
Mainland. As at 31 December 2024, a total of 22 banks in Hong
Kong and the Chinese Mainland granted banking facilities of an
aggregate amount of HK$2,957,066,000 to the Group. Of these
banking facilities, 52% and 48% were denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars and RMB respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any pledged
asset and significant contingent liabilities. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Group did not have any immediate concrete
plans for material investments or capital assets but the Group
may explore potential opportunities to make investment and/or
acquire capital assets to achieve sustainable growth.



%% HONG KONG

BEEMEBRRR

[BR5E% | 5K [HERRE]

Hong Kong Brand Development Council
“Camel” awarded as “Hong Kong Top Brand”

XEEHEEXHR

2023F WAL —ESGHRE 5 ((L2ER)

League of American Communications Professionals
LLC (LACP)

2023 Vision Awards — Gold Award in ESG Report
Competition (Chemical Category)

ERLEREHSY

15%Plus [FERRME] Fis

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
15 Years Plus “Caring Company” Logo

ERTPEREHAE

[ESGHIE | 178

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of
Hong Kong

ESG Pledge Scheme

tHREEAS

[HBERNET+] & [REIER] Z3F

World Green Organisation

“Green Office 7+" and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” Labels

BEERARLERES

[FLIVERT ) Rt 212024 — TFLBE] BIEF
Hong Kong Promoting Happiness Index Foundation
2024 Happiness-at-work Promotional Scheme —

“Happy Company” Logo
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BEIA N IRE
Awards and Recognitions

 F B 7 35 THE CHINESE MAINLAND

PEARANBEBAFEBRM
. gi]ii% R EERREEFRARERERS [SMBRMEE] & [FREH
N

o HMBERZHAMTAANERER [AIF RS R

o ZHBBFRAERER [AREEXRMF L]

o ZHEBEKBTRARERER [HETH]

o ZHLEBFAREREAS [REREEEECE] K [LETM
BReE]

o HEBPLFRFER [FIUTRAEER] MERER [FILTES
TREFMR L] K [REEEENE]

Relevant Government Agencies of the People’s Republic of China

e Five subsidiaries of inks, coatings and lubricants recognised as “High and
New Technology Enterprise” and “Technologically Advanced Small and
Medium Enterprise”

e Five subsidiaries of inks and coatings recognised as “Innovative Small and
Medium Enterprise”

e Coatings’ Huiyang subsidiary recognised as “Provincial-level Technology
Enterprise”

e Coatings’ Shanghai and Chengdu subsidiaries recognised as “Green Manufacturer”

e Coatings’ Shanghai subsidiary recognised as “Green Supply Chain
Management Enterprise” and “Shanghai Brand Cultivation Benchmark
Enterprise”

* Inks’ Zhongshan subsidiary received “Zhongshan Government Quality Award”
and recognised as “Zhongshan Excellent Engineering Technology Research
Center” and "Excellent Manufacturing Enterprise”

BIE

(FEEDE) 2024 & [BIR TR] TR] FEE]
The Labour Department

Good Employer Charter 2024 and Supportive
Family-friendly Good Employer

ChBtR) M

2024%!?%%/53% PR - 2HREI8ML - PREIAME I - AHERTE

Ink World

2024 Top International Ink Companies — Ranked 18 globally and ranked 1%t in
the Chinese Mainland, in terms of sales revenue

BEMARESEEER

2023-24FF [REMFREE] e

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
2023-24 "Good MPF Employer” Award

(CRRHR) M

2024 F BB R KPR — RIRESIA - REAMBTR - LIHEEAFE
Coatings World

2024 Top International Coatings Companies — Ranked 57 globally, and
ranked 7% in the Chinese Mainland, in terms of sales revenue

REFEERBES

<®¥ [—) B>
InspiringHK Sports Foundation
SportsHour Company Scheme

TERERRDE
[ZEERMRBMENETELE]
China Association for Quality Inspection
Role Model Company for the National Product and Service Quality Integrity

BEBIEIR

ERBAA (BEZTAATE - AT %
Employees Retraining Board (ERB)

ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme —
Manpower Developer

BEREBABEEBERTRERN

[BEBREEBY (BiEx) |
Guangdong Provincial Government and the HKSAR Government
Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner Production Excellent Partners
(Manufacturing)

FEZRIEGS
[2024 BB RIFEIAREBH B L ERFEREN ]
China National Coatings Industry Association
Excellent Demonstration Unit for 2024 Environmentally Friendly Wood Coatings

EREZHEHBITENGS
ii?ﬁ%ﬂsEiﬂ&é‘l%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%J K [ERZHISFRELCERES
g

Guangdong Coatings and Inks Industry Association
Role Model Company for the 35" Years Technology Innovation and
Standardised Construction of Guangdong Coatings Industry
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Corporate Sustainability
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The Group established its vision of “Towards a Century of
Revered Leadership” in early years which laid a solid foundation
to drive our sustainable development. The Group has instilled the
concept of sustainability into its development strategies and daily
operations. This approach not only helps the Group identify and
manage risks and opportunities in the sustainability roadmap but
also leverages those opportunities to strengthen our position as a
market leader.

The Group consistently enhances its sustainability performance by
identifying Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") topics
that are material to the Group, and by continuously monitoring
our performances in areas related to these topics. During the
year under review, the Group has developed a series of eco-
friendly products to assist its customers in transitioning to greener
operations while promoting and implementing environmental
responsibilities throughout the entire supply chain. Additionally,
we continue to collaborate with like-minded social enterprises,
leveraging our expertise to create shared value, empower
disadvantaged communities, and drive sustainable social
development.

Simultaneously, the Group has been actively leveraging on
climate-related opportunities in sustainable finance and green
products. Following the grant of a three-year sustainability-linked
loan totalling HK$460 million by three renowned banks to the
Group in 2023, during the year under review, a new three-year
sustainability-linked loan of HK$100 million was made available
to the Group by a local bank to finance the Group’s capital
expenditures. Application of proceeds of such loan will help the
Group in its initiatives and implementation of projects to improve
energy efficiency and other R&D plans to promote its long-term
sustainable development targets.

The Group issues its ESG Report in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
ESG report 2024 depicts our management policies, progress and
achievements in the aspects of the environment, communities,
employees, supply chains and customers in the year under review.
Please visit www.yipschemical.com to view the full report.


https://www.yipschemical.com/en/index.aspx
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Human Resources

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has a total number of 2,189
employees, including executive directors of the Company (2023:
2,561 employees), among which 59 and 8 of them are from Hong
Kong and other country respectively while the remaining 2,122
are from different provinces in the Chinese Mainland.

The Group places great emphasis on the management and
development of human capital. The employees are encouraged
to strive for improvement through internal and external training
programs, job rotations and participation in the Group's
educational subsidy programs, facilitating self-development
in knowledge and skills and to maximise their potential in
their work. We offer suitable platform for development of
highly committed and capable employees, regardless of their
background, geographical location or educational level. The
Group regularly identifies talented employees and tailors career
plans to support their continuous development. With versatile
experience in challenging roles in different areas, the current
management team of the Group has risen through the ranks to
positions of management. In addition to the focus of developing
employees internally, the Group also seeks to attract external
talents.

The Group offers a challenging work environment, and sets
up different programs for motivating employees to strive for
improvement and to advance their skills in order to drive the
development of business. From time to time, the Group makes
reference to market trends for reviewing its remuneration
and reward policy so as to ensure reasonable and competitive
compensation and benefits for its employees. These include basic
salary as well as results and individual performance-based bonus
to attract and retain talents.
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The information contained in this section was as of 31 December
2024.

Chairman and Non-executive
Director

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, aged 76, is the Chairman, co-founder of the
Group and a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ip
was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the Company
since 1 January 2012. He focuses on the leading of the Board,
formulating the Group’s long-term development strategy and the
planning and inheritability of human resources of the Group etc.
Mr. Ip is the brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman
of the Group and an Executive Director of the Company and
the father of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, an Executive Director of the Company and a member of
the SLT and the uncle of Mr. Yip Long, Brian and Mr. Yip Chun,
Ivan, each a member of the SLT. In 2006, he established “Ip Chi
Shing Charitable Foundation Limited” with the objectives of
carrying out charity activities in the Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong including fostering education in the Chinese Mainland and
providing care for the underprivileged groups in Hong Kong and
making contributions to society.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, aged 65, joined the Group in 1977. Mr. Yip is
the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director of
the Company. He also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company and the Chairman of Handsome Chemical, an
associate of the Group. Mr. Yip has over 40 years of experience
in the manufacturing of and trading in petrochemical products.
He is the brother of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group
and a Non-executive Director of the Company, the father of Mr.
Yip Long, Brian and Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan, each a member of the
SLT, and the uncle of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and a member
of the SLT.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Ip Kwan (Francis), aged 42, joined the Group in 2007.
Mr. Ip is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the SLT. He also
acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Ip was previously the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Corporate Development Officer of the Group, the Co-President
and the General Manager of the Bauhinia Advanced Materials
Group and an assistant to Directors of the Group. He is the son
of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group and a Non-
executive Director of the Company, a nephew of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director
of the Company, and the cousin of Mr. Yip Long, Brian and Mr.
Yip Chun, Ivan, each a member of the SLT. Mr. Ip graduated
from the London School of Economics with a Bachelor degree in
Government and Economics. Before joining the Group, he had
worked in the investment banking industry for three years.

Mr. Ho Sai Hou, aged 58, joined the Group in 2010. He is the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of
the Company, a member of the SLT and the Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Ho also acts as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible for the Group’s
human resources and corporate communication functions. Before
joining the Group, he acted as chief financial officer, executive
director and company secretary for several listed companies in
Hong Kong. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences Degree in
Accounting from The University of Hong Kong and an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) with The China Europe
International Business School in 2007. He is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA). Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in
accounting, finance, taxation and company secretarial fields.
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Independent Non-executive
Directors

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick, aged 70, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director in 2018. He is currently a
chief operating officer of Fung Investment Management Limited.
Mr. Ho previously worked in The Dow Chemical Company for 40
years and retired in 2018. He was the global business director
for Ethylene Oxide, Propylene Oxide and Derivatives in Chemicals
and Metals in Dow headquarters in Midland, Michigan. Mr. Ho
returned to Hong Kong in 1998 and acted as the President for
Dow Chemical, Asia Pacific region and Global Vice President for
Epoxy & Specialty Chemicals and subsequent served as the Asia
Pacific Vice President for manufacturing, public & government
affairs. Mr. Ho was the chairman of Association of International
Chemical Manufacturers (AICM) in China and Hong Kong from
2001 to 2003. In all, he has extensive experience in chemical
industry. Mr. Ho holds directorship in certain private companies
within the Fung Group and is an independent non-executive
director of Computime Group Limited. Mr. Ho resigned as an
executive director of Global Brands Group Holding Limited with
effect from 1 July 2022. He holds a bachelor degree in Chemical
Engineering from Queen’s University at Kingston, Canada.

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, aged 46, joined the Group as
an Independent Non-executive Director in 2020. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Economics and a Master of Accounting
from the University of Michigan and is a member of American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Mr. Ku was the
Finance Director of Johnson Controls Inc. (a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, stock code: JCI) since May 2023
and has been appointed as its General Manager for Hong Kong
and Macau since April 2024 instead. He acted as an accounting
manager in Hong Kong Oxygen & Acetylene Company Limited,
a subsidiary of the Linde Group in 2007. Mr. Ku also worked
in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants for
more than four years. Furthermore, Mr. Ku also was the Finance
Director of Global Business Unit Steering and the Regional
Financial Controller of Commercial Vehicle Systems Asia Pacific
of Knorr-Bremse Asia Pacific (Holding) Limited, the Asia Pacific
regional headquarters of Knorr-Bremse Group (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange). He is the son of Mr. Ku
Yuen Fun, a retired Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company.
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Independent Non-executive
Directors (Continued)

Ms. Yau Ching Man, aged 41, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 22
March 2024. Ms. Yau holds a Bachelor Degree in Computer
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong. She is currently
the Vice President (Administration) of Tao Heung Holdings Limited
and is mainly responsible for human resources, information
technology, corporate communications and administration
functions. She is also currently an Elected Member (Restaurant
Category) of The Quality Tourism Services Association (QTSA)
Governing Council and the Board Member of Hong Kong
Federation of Restaurants and Related Trades. Before joining the
Group as an Independent Non-executive Director, she had also
served as a member of the SLT and the Head of Operations of the
Group, the General Manager of Best Lubricant Blending Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Co-President of
the Bauhinia Coatings Group from 2005 to 2018. She has over 10
years of extensive experience of corporate management in both
PRC and Hong Kong.

Management Executives

Mr. Yip Long, Brian, aged 36, is a member of the SLT of the
Group and the chairman of the Inks Group. He once served as
the Deputy General Manager of the Solvents Group of the Group
during 2013 to 2014, was promoted to the Chief Operating
Officer of the Group from 2015 to January 2016, and was
appointed as the vice chairman of the Inks Group in 2023. He
also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He is a nephew of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group
and a Non-executive Director of the Company, the son of Mr.
Yip Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive
Director of the Company, and the cousin of Mr. Ip Kwan, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of
the Company and a member of the SLT, and the brother of Mr.
Yip Chun, Ivan, a member of the SLT. Mr. Yip holds a Bachelor
of accounting and finance degree from the London School of
Economics, a Master degree in Business Administration from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
Juris Doctor in law from the University of Hong Kong. Before
joining the Group, he had worked in the investment banking
industry for one year and the e-commerce industry for three years
respectively.
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Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan, aged 34, joined the Group in 2020. Mr.
Yip is the Strategic Investment Director of the Group as well
as a member of the SLT. Mr. Yip obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree from University of California, Los Angeles. He is a nephew
of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group and a Non-
executive Director of the Company, the son of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director of
the Company, the cousin of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and
a member of the SLT and the brother of Mr. Yip Long, Brian, a
member of the SLT. Before joining the Group, he had worked in
the investment industry for six years.

Dr. Chow Mai Mai, Miranda, aged 48, joined the Group
as Executive Management Trainee in 2003. Dr. Chow is the
Head of Operations and Risk Management of the Group as
well as a member of the SLT. Dr. Chow is in charge of the
safety, health and environmental, internal audit as well as
information technology functions of the Group and oversees its
risk management. Dr. Chow holds a PhD from the University of
Cambridge and a Master degree in Business Administration from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. She has
held a number of executive and management positions in the
Group, including the Head of Research & Development as well as
the Head of Corporate Development. Dr. Chow has over 20 years
of experience in chemical industry.

Mr. Chen Tian Yi, aged 45, joined the Group in 2023. Mr.
Chen was the General Manager of the Inks Group of the
Group and was promoted as CEO of the Inks Group from 27
June 2024. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Shanghai for
Science and Technology and a Master of Business Administration
(International) from the University of Hong Kong. Before joining
the Group, he was the Project Manager of McKinsey & Company;
the Sales Director in Asia Pacific Region of Eastman Chemical
Company; the Deputy General Manager of Sales and Strategy
of CNNC Huayuan Titanium Dioxide; the Vice President of Sales
and Strategy of Shandong Haike Chemical Group; the Legal
Representative, General Manager and Executive Vice President of
Sales in the Asia Pacific Region of Chromaflo Technologies China
Manufacturing Company Limited. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of
extensive experience in chemical industry.
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Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, aged 48, joined the Group in 2003. Mr.
Chan is the President of the Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group
from 1 January 2025. Before that, he was a Co-President of the
Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group, a member of the Group
Management Committee and Group Financial Controller, and
had held various management positions in various subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Master degree in Business Administration from the Hong Kong
University of Science & Technology. He is a fellow member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. Zeng Zhi, aged 54, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Zeng
is currently the General Manager of the Lubricants Group.
He was previously the Financial Controller of Yip's Lubricant
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zeng holds a Bachelor
degree in Accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law (formerly Zhongnan University of Economics). He is
a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Zeng has 20 years of experience in
petrochemical industry. Before joining the Group, he was a
product material control manager of a listed company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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The Board present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Principal Activities and Business
Review

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the manufacturing of
and trading in coatings, inks, lubricants, properties investment as
well as other businesses. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under
review.

Details in respect of the business review during the year under
review as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) including, a fair review of the business of the Group
with financial performance indicators including revenue and net
profit of the Group as well as revenue and operating profit of its
business segments, and return on investment properties and an
indication of likely future development in the Company’s business
are explained in the “Chairman’s Statement — Review and
Outlook” and the “Report of the Chief Executive Officer” from
pages 6 to 15 of this annual report. These indicators illustrate
the performance of the Group as a whole and of its individual
businesses in terms of business development and profitability in
attaining its corporate vision of “Towards a Century of Revered
Leadership”. The trend of these indicators for the past five years
together with other financial ratios of return on average total
assets and return on average shareholders’ funds are disclosed
in pages 28 to 29 of this annual report. Particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year, if any, can be found in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group’s liquidity and
financial resources are disclosed in pages 34 to 36. Save for
disclosed above, details of the other activities required to be
disclosed are explained as follows:
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Principal Activities and Business
Review (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’'s businesses and prospects as well as financial
conditions and results of operations will be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational risks
and financial risks. For business risks, all the Group’s businesses
are mainly carried out in the Chinese Mainland so it will be
subject to the impact from economic and political development
and market situation of the Chinese Mainland. For operational
risks, the Group is mainly engaged in manufacturing of chemical
products and it is thus exposed to various environmental, health
and safety risks in its operations. For financial risks, there will be
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk)
for the Group's financial instruments, and credit risk and liquidity
risk associated therewith. Details of the policies on mitigating
these financial risks are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Compliance with the Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year under review, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group.

The relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company include, among others, the Companies
Ordinance, the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") and the
relevant laws, rules and regulations in relation to its business
including health, safety and environmental protection, workplace
conditions and employment etc. To ensure compliance with
these requirements of laws, rules and regulations, the Company
has implemented an effective internal control and approval
procedures, and has undertaken risk management and provided
trainings.
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Principal Activities and Business
REVieW (Continued)
Environment Policies and Performance

The discussions on the Group’s environmental policies are set
out in the “Corporate Sustainability” section on page 38 of
this annual report and will be set out in the 2024 ESG Report
published on the same day of this annual report.

Relationship with Customers, Suppliers,
Employees and other Stakeholders

The Group has a large number of customers and suppliers across
different industries and geographical areas. The Group maintains
good relationships with its customers and suppliers. As the top 5
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 8% of the
total revenue of the Group, the Directors consider that the Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
Further details of the credit control system and credit terms
granted to customers are shown in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s relationship with its employees,
investors and Shareholders are set out in the “Human Resources”
and the “Corporate Governance Report” sections on page 39 and
pages 65 to 100 of this annual report, respectively.

Emolument Policy and Long-term
Incentive Plan

A general description of the remuneration policy of the Group
is set out in the “"Human Resources” section on page 39
of this annual report. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and determined and approved
by the Board. The emolument payable to the Directors is
determined with reference to their qualification and experience,
responsibilities undertaken, contribution to the Company and the
prevailing market level of remuneration of similar position.

In addition, the Company has adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentive/reward to Directors and eligible participants/
qualifying grantees, details of the scheme are set out under the
heading “Share Option Scheme” on pages 54 to 56 of this annual
report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the profit
of the Company for the year under review are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 108 and note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Dividends

During the year under review, an interim dividend of HK3
cents per Share was paid to the Shareholders. The Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 of HK11 cents in cash per Share, with
total amount of approximately HK$61,431,000, payable to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company as at the close of business on Monday, 16 June
2025 and will be payable on or around Tuesday, 15 July 2025.
The final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
"AGM") to be held on Thursday, 5 June 2025.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year under review are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of share options of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme (as defined under the heading “Share Option
Scheme” below) are set out under the heading “Share Option
Scheme” hereunder and in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year under review are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity on pages 112 to 114 of this annual report.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution of the final
dividends represent the share premium, special reserve and
retained profits. Under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium of the Company is available
for distribution of or paying dividends to Shareholders subject
to the provisions of the amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the “Memorandum
and Articles”) and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance
with the Memorandum and Articles, dividends can be distributed
out of the share premium and retained profits of the Company
subjected to the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, which
amounted to HK$1,631,055,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$1,718,599,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment and
Investment Properties

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year under

review are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence

Ms. Yau Ching Man

(appointed with effect from 22 March 2024)
Mr. Wong Yuk

(resigned with effect from 22 March 2024)

At each annual general meeting of the Company, no less than
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with article 112 of the Memorandum and Atrticles,
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting. Mr. Ip Kwan, being an Executive
Director of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen and Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence
being Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company will
retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Apart from retirement by rotation pursuant to the Memorandum
and Articles, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Non-Executive Director, and all
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were not
appointed for any specific length or proposed length of service
with the Company.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities

As at 31 December 2024, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save for the interest of the Directors and chief
executives in the Shares and share options of the Company set
out below, none of the Directors and chief executives has any
interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provision of the SFO) or which were required pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
therein or which were required to be disclosed herein pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the
Listing Rules.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities (Continued)

Interests and Short Positions in Shares,

HNERRAR Underlying Shares and Debentures of the

Company

HEEATE

RIREZ

FERAREERGSE Ak

Number of Shares and underlying Shares held Approximate

Rip#E Rz Koz R ES percentage

Interests in Interests in Interests in Interests in of the

Shares Shares Shares Shares issued share

fBA Rk AF EFRA ay capital of

Treasury the

EERF Name of Director Personal Family Corporate Shares Total Company"®

EFpas Mr. Ip Chi Shing 161,304,532 9,192,000@  26,504,000® 10,024,000 207,024,532 36.42%

EYHi4 Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 27,200,000 13,000,000 - - 40,200,000 7.07%

£ HEE  Mr.IpKwan 26,869,000 - - ~ 26,869,000 4.73%

M5 %4E  Mr. Ho Sai Hou - - - - - -

@EN%E  Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick - - - = - -

HUERAE  Mr Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence - - - - - -

MEFZLLE  Ms. Yau Ching Man - - - - - _

Hiat Notes:

(@ WEBRMEF 7,098,000 HEEMN (@)  Out of these Shares, 7,098,000 Shares were jointly held by Mr. Ip
BB ERIEAE - 2,094,0000% 81 Chi Shing with his spouse and 2,094,000 Shares were held by his
RERBEER - spouse.

(b) EERGOFBELKREEESERE (b)  These Shares were held respectively by Ip Chi Shing Charitable
A (—ZE=4H%)(21,200,0004% ) F1 3 Foundation Limited, a charitable organisation (21,200,000 Shares)
KABLTEEEZSBRAR(—EERA and Yip's Care Extension Foundation Limited, a limited company,
7)) (5,304,0000%) FTi5 A  EEK LA (5,304,000 Shares). Mr. Ip Chi Shing controls 50% (together with
RELEKNESZESBERARNEXHEE his spouse control 100%) and 60% (together with his younger
TEEESBRARNBRAEHAIHES sister and brother control 100%) of the voting power at the general
50% (B E FRBHH100% ) & 60% (£ meetings of Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited and Yip's
HBHRHEBE100%) 2R ERE - WIRE Care Extension Foundation Limited respectively. He was therefore
(EHREEED) - AR AHETEZ deemed to be interested in these Shares held by these two
BIEPNGESEN3 ) s £l corporations under the SFO.

(0 EEXREERARARRAGHEEEA () Mr. Ip Chi Shing, who controls over one-third of the voting power

=Hr—2EERE  BURE(GES KB
BIEGIDEXVE - EHEGEABEARAR
FiF % A #910,024,000 f&% & 77 f% (7 ¢ #

A

N

X

at the Company’s general meeting, is deemed to have an interest in
the 10,024,000 treasury shares held by the Company pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities (Continued)

Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) These Shares were held by Madam Yip Tso Ka Lai, Brenda, the
spouse of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin.

(e) The percentages are calculated based on the number of issued
Shares (including treasury shares) as at 31 December 2024, i.e.
568,484,096 Shares.

Details of the share options held by the Directors under the
Company’s share option scheme (i.e. part of the interests in the
underlying Shares), if any, are set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” hereunder.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, debentures
or underlying Shares or any of the Company’s associated
corporations as at 31 December 2024.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”) by a Shareholders’ resolution passed at
the annual general meeting held on 6 June 2022. The 2022 Share
Option Scheme became effective from 6 June 2022 and, unless
otherwise terminated, will remain in force for a period of 10 years
until 5 June 2032. The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
is to recognise and motivate the contribution of the eligible
participants and to provide incentives to them and help the
Group and its associates in retaining the eligible participants and
recruiting additional employees and to provide them with a direct
economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives
of the Group and its associates.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant share
options to eligible participants including any employees, advisers,
consultants, agents, contractors, clients, suppliers and/or such
other persons, who in the sole discretion of the Board has/have
contributed or may contribute to the Group and/or any of its
associates.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be issued upon
exercise of share options granted under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme to (i.e. maximum entitlement of) any one participant
in any twelve months shall not exceed one percent of the total
number of issued Shares unless the proposed grant has been
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The offer of a grant of share options under the 2022
Share Option Scheme may be accepted by each grantee (and upon
payment of a non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00
by each grantee) until 5:00 p.m. on the twenty-first business
day following the date of offer, provided that no such offer shall
be open for acceptance after expiry or termination of the 2022
Share Option Scheme. The share options may be exercised during
such period as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
and notify the grantee during which the grantee may exercise a
share option, save that such period shall not be more than ten
(10) years from the date of offer and the Board may provide
restrictions on the exercise of a share option during the period a
share option may be exercised. The 2022 Share Option Scheme
does not specify any minimum holding period or vesting period
but the Board has the authority to determine the minimum period
for which a share option in respect of some or all of the Shares
forming the subject of the share options must be held before it
can be exercised. The exercise price of a share option granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant but in any case
it shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share. Whilst the
2022 Share Option Scheme was adopted prior to the amendment
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which has come to effect on 1
January 2023, the Company will comply with the provisions under
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules when making any
grants thereafter.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

During the year under review, there are no share options granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme.

As at 1 January 2024, the number of Shares that could be issued
upon exercise of all share options that could be granted under
the then available scheme mandate limit was 56,848,409 Shares,
which represented approximately 10.00% of the total number
of issued Shares as at 6 June 2022, the date of adoption of the
2022 Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2024 and as at
the date of this annual report, the number of Shares that could
be issued upon exercise of (i) all outstanding share options;
and (ii) all share options that could be granted under the then
available scheme mandate limit were nil and 56,848,409 Shares,
which represented 10.00% of the total number of issued Shares
(including treasury shares) as at 31 December 2024 and as at the
date of this annual report.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares
and Debentures

Save as disclosed above and in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year under review was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2024, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the following Shareholder (other than the Directors or
chief executives of the Company disclosed above) had an interest
or long position or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred therein:

RO SEERGD Z2FE Long position in Shares or underlying Shares
HAEEDT
BRITRAE
RER A &1 R EE ZADEO
Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
Number of capital of the
Name of Shareholder Capacity Shares held Company’
R\ L ESBEAA 49,381,913 8.69%
Ms. Ip Fung Kuen Beneficial Owner
Hiat - Note:
(1) ZEB PHEDIER-_Z-_NF+=A (1) The percentages are calculated based on the number of issued

—t+—HEBRTROHEBE (BEEFR
%) » BN568,484,096 & I 5 5+ o

BREXEEEN R-T_WE+_-A
=t—R BREEFANE BECHHE

ATRARD TR AREEE (E% R
GBS PP EXVE) 2 Bl - 485
B S R A R CGE S R
1) XV R A2 B 50 P 4 7 2
HRAR -

Shares (including treasury shares) as at 31 December 2024, i.e.
568,484,096 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
are not aware of any other persons who have interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities
Repurchase of Shares

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
repurchased a total of 10,024,000 Shares on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate consideration (before expenses) of
HK$14,833,500. All the repurchased Shares are subsequently
held as treasury shares. The Directors believe that the repurchases
of Shares would lead to an enhancement of the net assets value
per Share and/or earnings per Share.

The number of treasury shares held by the Company as of 31
December 2024 was 10,024,000 Shares.

BRI MET T - Particulars of the repurchases are as follows:
BRE
il EETT00)
EEROHE SRBEME Aggregate
Total number Purchase price per Share consideration
B# of repurchased B Bi& (before
Month Shares Highest Lowest expenses)
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
+A 2,300,000 1.50 1.50 3,450,000
July
AV;| 3,024,000 1.47 1.47 4,445,280
August
A 4,700,000 1.53 1.43 6,938,220
September
10,024,000 14,833,500

BRIALWESN  RBE-_T-_WNF+=
A=+ — B LEFERARRRHEEMRMH
BARAMERE HEXBELARFZ
EA LTS o

58 ERCISEERAT —T - NEEFH

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the Group’s total turnover. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholder (whom to the knowledge
of the Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company) as at 31 December 2024 has any interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers.

Corporate Governance

Report on the Company’s corporate governance is set out in
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 65 to 100 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of the annual report.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the 2022 Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Company during the year under review
or subsisted at the end of the year under review.

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable
donations of approximately HK$182,000.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Memorandum and Articles provides that each Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him/her in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or
omitted to be done by him/her as Director, auditor or other
officer of the Company and in which judgment is given in his/her
favour or in which he/she is acquitted, or incurred in connection
with any application in which relief is granted to him/her by the
court from liability in respect of any such act.

The Company has taken out and kept in force appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company.

The permitted indemnity provisions and the directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage were in force during the year
under review and as of the date of this annual report.

Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded
as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting standard.
Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements. Among the related party
transactions, each of the following transactions constitutes a
connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Further, each of those transactions constitutes a de
minimis transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
is therefore fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(a) During the year under review, the Group paid rent of
HK$960,000 (2023: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments
Limited which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director and
50% by his spouse.
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Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

(b)  During the year under review, the Group received rent and
license fee of HK$264,000 (2023: HK$304,000) and service
fee of HK$53,000 (2023: HK$53,000) from Ip Chi Shing
Charitable Foundation Limited in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing,
the controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director
has controlling interest.

(c)  Remuneration paid to Directors pursuant to their service
contracts entered into with the Company or its subsidiaries
are fully exempted transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules. The details of the remuneration paid
to them are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Discloseable Transaction
Disposal of Land Use Right

On 17 January 2025, (i) Bauhinia Coatings Manufacturing
(Shanghai) Co., Limited (a company incorporated under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, “Bauhinia Coatings”),
Shanghai Jinshan District Land Reserve Centre (the “Land Reserve
Centre”) and Shanghai Carbon Valley Green Bay Industrial Park
Management Committee (the “Committee”) entered into the
state-owned land reserve agreement (the “Land Resumption
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Land Reserve Centre has
agreed to acquire, and Bauhinia Coatings has agreed to surrender
and dispose of the right of use of a parcel of land situated at
Jinshan District, Shanghai for a consideration of RMB69,110,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$74,342,000) (the “Disposal”)
and (ii) Bauhinia Coatings and the Committee entered into a
supplemental agreement to the Land Resumption Agreement to
set out the parties’ obligations on the reinstatement works to be
carried out and the allocation of costs in relation to vacation of
the target land between Bauhinia Coatings and the Committee
respectively.

For details regarding the Disposal, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 January 2025.
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Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held significant investments
(including any investment in an investee company with a value of
5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024)
in the preferred shares and the interests in associates as follows:

(1) Preferred Shares in PAGAC Heisenberg
Holding I Limited

The subscription price of the two redeemable non-voting
preferred shares of PAGAC Heisenberg Holding | Limited
(the “lIssuer”) was approximately HK$667.3 million. As
at 31 December 2024, fair value of such preferred shares
was approximately HK$659 million, which represented
approximately 10.8% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 December
2024, dividend income of approximately HK$22.9 million
from such investment was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The principal business of the Issuer is
investment holding, which through its subsidiaries, holds
and is engaged in the solvents business. With a view to
participating in the development of the solvents business
in building a new acetic acid and acetates plant, the Group
intends to hold the preferred shares for long term strategic
purposes including forming a strategic cooperation with
PAG and receiving stable profit contribution from the
solvents business.
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Significant Investments (continues)

(2)

Interests in associates

Following the completion of the Group’s disposal of 68%
shareholding in Handsome Chemical Development Limited
("HSD"), which in turn holds 51% effective interest in
Handsome Chemical’s subsidiaries, to PAG by the end of
2022, Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries became
32% and 24%-owned associates of the Group, respectively.
Fair value of the Group’s remaining effective interest in
Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries subsequent to
the completion of disposal of approximately HK$1,209.4
million was recognised and regarded as the cost of initial
recognition of investment in such associates. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amount of such interests in
associates was approximately HK$1,237.6 million, which
represented about 20.4% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 December
2024, share of result of approximately HK$96.0 million
from such associates was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and dividend income of approximately
HK$53.4 million was received from such associates.
Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the solvents business and the Group intends to
hold such interests in the associates for long term strategic
purposes and receive stable profit contribution from the
solvents business.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other
significant or undertake any other material acquisition or disposal

of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year under

review.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement or Contracts

Save as disclosed above, no Director or any entity connected

with a Director had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in a

transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.
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Contracts Concerning Management
and Administration

No contracts, other than employment contracts with Directors
and full time employees, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year under review.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum and Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by the Company's
auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

21 March 2025
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Statement of Compliance

The Board is committed to practicing and achieving a high
standard of corporate governance. The Board periodically reviews
the daily corporate governance practices and procedures of the
Company and its subsidiaries and procures the Company and
its subsidiaries to strictly comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, and the rules and guidelines of regulatory bodies.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has made detailed disclosures in relation to the
accounting period covered in this annual report in compliance
with the requirements set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Also, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of Part 2 of the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct on securities
dealings by Directors and the relevant employees (the “Code
on Securities Dealings”) on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of the Model Code as its own code of conduct
governing dealing by all Directors and relevant employees in
the securities of the Company. After making specific enquiries,
all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and Code on
Securities Dealings for the year under review.
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Group’s Vision and Culture

Vision

Yip's Chemical long-term vision is to become a “leading
development platform for chemical businesses” driven by green,
innovative technology and services and highly respected brands
that enrich people’s lives.

We strive towards a century of leadership in our respective
chemical fields, generating stable dividends and creating long-
term value appreciation for Shareholders and stakeholders.

We will continue to be a responsible company, protect our
environment, and contribute to society.

Purpose and Strategy

The Company will build on its strengths and strive to establish
a “leading development platform for chemical businesses” by
leveraging our stable Shareholder base with long term view, our
position as a listed company in Hong Kong, our strong reputation,
and our social resources and extensive experience of operations
in China. The Group will continuously build and invest in strong
chemical businesses with excellent business models driven by
innovation in green technologies, services and branding in niche
markets and grow the platform in the future. The Company
strives towards a century of leadership in its respective chemical
fields, generating stable returns and creating long-term value
appreciation for Shareholders and stakeholders.

For more details of the Company’s strategy highlights, please
refer to the sections of “Chairman’s Statement — Review and
Outlook” and “Report of the Chief Executive Officer” of this
annual report.

Culture

To drive the sustainable development so as to attain its corporate
vision, the Company promotes the corporate culture of “TIDE",
which aims to equip colleagues with the qualities of “Teamwork,
Integrity, Determination and Excellence”. For more details, please
refer to the section of Building Human Capital of the Company’s
website.

Value

The seven core values outlined in the Company’s corporate
vision complement each other and form the cornerstones of
the Company’s commitment to people-oriented management
philosophy and the pursuit of sustainable development. Please
refer to the inner cover page of this report for each core value.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, strategy and
values, and is satisfied that they are aligned with the Company’s
culture. The Company has formulated corporate strategy for
delivering the Company’s objectives and a long-term business
model as the basis to generate or preserve value over the longer
term. For details, please refer to the above heading of “Group’s
Vision and Culture”, and sections of “Chairman’s Statement —
Review and Outlook” and “Report of the Chief Executive Officer”
of this annual report.
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The Board

The Board’s principal duties are setting policies, monitoring
the execution of such policies, and providing supervision and
assistance to the overall management of the Group.

Composition of the Board

As of the date of this annual report, the Board is chaired by Mr.
Ip Chi Shing and comprised a total of seven Directors, namely,
three Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. During the year under
review, the number of Independent Non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board which fulfills the
requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
as of the date of this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence
Ms. Yau Ching Man

The following changes to the Board composition have taken place
during the year under review:

(1)  Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 22 March 2024; and

(2)  Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from 22 March 2024.

On 4 March 2024, Ms. Yau Ching Man has (i) obtained legal
advice from Messrs. Ronald Tong & Co, a firm of solicitors
qualified to advise on Hong Kong law, as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her
as a Director and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange;
and (ii) confirmed she understood her obligations as a Director.
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The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Biographic details of the Directors as of 31 December 2024 are
set out in the section “Directors’ and Management Executives’
Profiles” on pages 40 to 45 of this annual report. The list of
Directors with their roles and functions is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As of the date of this annual report, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
Chairman of the Group and a Non-executive Director, is (i) the
elder brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin who is the Deputy Chairman and
an Executive Director; and (i) the father of Mr. Ip Kwan, who is
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director
and a member of the SLT. Mr. Yip Tsz Hin is the uncle of Mr. Ip
Kwan. To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
above, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her and his/
her immediate family members’ independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors were independent
throughout the year under review.

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, an Independent Non-executive
Director, is the son of Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, the former Independent
Non-executive Director, however, the Board considers that Mr.
Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence is independent for, among others, the
following reasons:

(i) Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence satisfies all the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules except for
Rule 3.13(6) of the Listing Rules solely for him being the
son of a retired Director; and

(i)  the Company believes that Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence
is capable of exercising his professional judgment and
draw upon his extensive knowledge and experience in the
accounting and financial industry.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

69



70

&A% GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXRERBHS

Corporate Governance Report

EES

BEESHERE)
BIKHTEE B

ERE BN ITESTTRELE
BEFBEANR T -_—F—H—HE
ABIEATESIRER  BIAR
BIZHBRBIKMIERRCFIDARA
Al (—RERHP B R ARR BB A
A [EAERRCRID D) ZESF - KM
TARECHRARESSRRAIAENE
S BR EWRAEIAIDGEN - Tk
EmR FRBIEINZE T A BT
RRR AL IR - [REWT -

() EBEEB-ZT-hF—H—HBIE
HARBMITESEETIERNTES
% TBFREAAEENETE
B ERREY TARREFE
ZHEBREERHEEA B LERW
B2/6 K

(i) FREESERHIERZCRYD)
ZEE BEFEERCRIDR =
E-N\E+—-A+=HERFLH
(RILZ BT AR LX) - Bk E 5%
EETBEEREFERRCRI)
EATBEE - I B EFEER
CRINER-_Z-FFMA+HRT

ER{LISEEBRLT —T_NFEFH

The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

In respect of another Independent Non-executive Director Mr.
Wong Yuk, notwithstanding that Mr. Wong Yuk was a director
of Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company Limited*
(ZMERRCEINBE QA (a company established in the PRC
and a subsidiary of the Company, “Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen)”),
within two years prior to 1 January 2021, the date of his re-
designation as an Independent Non-executive Director, Mr.
Wong has confirmed, and the Board agrees, that Mr. Wong is
independent and satisfies all the indicative independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, save for Rule 3.13(7) of
the Listing Rules, for the following reasons:

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk has been re-designated from an Executive
Director to a Non-executive Director since 1 January 2019
and has no longer been involved in any daily operations,
management and business of the Group since then and has
played a valuable role to bring objectivity and independent
judgment to the Board'’s deliberations; and

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk acted as a director of Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen) which applied for deregistration on 13
November 2018 (by then Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen) had
already ceased its business), since then Mr. Wong ceased
to perform any executive role in Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen)
and the deregistration process of Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen)
was completed on 10 April 2020.
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The Board (Continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

(iii)

Mr. Wong Yuk has also informed the Group that he has
been appointed as the acting chief executive officer (CEO)
and chief operating officer (COO) of Cashew Manfield
Holding Limited (“Cashew Manfield”), an associate jointly
established by Pan Asia Data Holdings Inc. (formerly known
as Manfield Chemical Holdings Limited, stock code on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 1561) and Japan Cashew
Company (B ZAKFH X &4 ) with effect from 1 January
2024. Upon discussions, the Board considers that Mr. Wong
Yuk to still be independent for the following reasons:

1. the principal products manufactured by Cashew
Manfield and the industrial coatings products of
the Group have different applications and market
positioning; and

2. Mr. Wong will continue to devote sufficient time to
relevant work affairs of the Group.

In general, Mr. Wong’'s new employment with Cashew
Manfield has no conflicts of interest with the Group, which
would affect his independence from the Group. Therefore,
the Board confirms Mr. Wong's independence for acting
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
during the period of 1 January to 22 March 2024.

for identification purpose only
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The Board (Continued)

Operation of the Board

The details of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings held

during the year under review are set out in the following table:

EEEeBcHERETHE
Number of Board Meetings Attended and Held
Exg FREB
EREE HUESSER FHTESSR

Chairman and

Independent

Regular Other Non-executive

Board Board Directors

EEHR Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meeting

HEREREE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 4/4 0/8 1/1

EFEEE Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 4/4 0/8 T3 FN/A

B %4 Mr. Ip Kwan 4/4 8/8 T EAN/A

S 5E 4 Mr. Ho Sai Hou 4/4 8/8 TEAN/A

EEIERE Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4 0/8 11

A A Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 4/4 0/8 171

EpERZ 4+ Ms. Yau Ching Man* 3/3 0/6 1/1

FrBsEE Mr. Wong Yuk* 11 0/2 ANEFAN/A
* FRAEBZZE-_MF=A=-+=-Ai * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

BEBUFNTEERODFZELTES
EoNE=ZA -+ -_BREEZTEIIE
HYirE=E-

REBEFEN EFEENAEFEE
REBRRFAVBELEEXR MABES
REFANEEGBL2EEHE RETE
EERGHN EFENEBEFEAT
BRTNREMESTSSE - UitEAR
FEGIUIRESEAMERARRE
BZEH-

ER{LISEEBRLT —T_NFEFH

with effect from 22 March 2024 and Ms. Yau Ching Man was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director with effect
from 22 March 2024.

During the year under review, the Board had maintained a 100%
attendance rate at the four regular Board meetings and active
participation had been achieved by all Directors throughout the
year. Besides these regular Board meetings, eight other Board
meetings were convened during the year under review to approve
routine business or discuss any matters that required the Board’s
timely attention.
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The Board (Continued)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and
Input are available to the Board

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism from
the following two aspects:

1. Independence assessment criteria for Independent Non-
executive Directors

(i) annual independence assessment of each Independent
Non-executive Director according to the Nomination
Policy as set out below and Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

(i) annual review of tenure of each Independent Non-
executive Director.

2. Assessment to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board

(i) review of the Board and Board committee structure;

(i) management of conflict of interest;
(iii)  review of remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

(iv)  recruitment channels and procedures for Independent
Non-executive Directors;

(v) annual review of time commitment of each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors;

(vi) in order to facilitate Directors to properly perform
their duties, all Directors could seek advice from
the Company Secretary or in-house legal team, and
can also seek advice from independent professional
advisors, at the Company’s expense; and

(vii) annual closed-door meeting between the Chairman
and Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
considered the mechanism effective.
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The Board (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Board approved and adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) on 20 August 2013 and last reviewed
this policy on 21 August 2020. The Board Diversity Policy is
summarised as follows:

o the selection of candidates of the Board will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service to the Group. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board; and

o the Board will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives and monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board will review the Board Diversity Policy once every eight
(8) years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and considered the policy effective. On 22 March 2024, the
Group appointed Ms. Yau Ching Man to serve as a new Director
(who was formerly the Head of Operations of the Group and
has the relevant specific industry experience or professional
fields), and have complied with the Listing Rules and the code
provision(s) of the CG Code which require gender diversity of
board members on or before 31 December 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Company has formulated a succession plan to identify and
develop potential employees to fill key positions in the Group.
Human Resources Department communicates with general
managers of each operating business and department heads to
identify the talent pool and potential successors for key positions
every year, and also arranged different types of training and
talent development for these potential successors. The selection
of successors is based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
to the Group. Measures as mentioned above will be taken by the
Company to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board and key positions for achieving gender diversity.

As of 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was as follows:

DG 2%

174 Femo|e

The Board reviewed the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and peer companies and believes
that the gender ratio of the Group was comparable to that of
peer companies. Other than compliance with the requirement
of appointment of a new Director of different gender on or
before 31 December 2024, the Company did not set any plans or
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity across the
workforce in 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 14 February 2019 which sets out the
criteria and procedures for the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors. The Nomination Policy is summarised as
follows:

o The selection of candidates or re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board will be based on the
following criteria:

(a) Reputation for integrity

(b)  Accomplishment and experience in the chemical or
petrochemical industry, in particular, in the solvents,
coatings, inks, lubricants and other related markets

() Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

(d) Diversity perspectives as mentioned in the Board
Diversity Policy

(e) Independence for the independent non-executive
Directors as defined in Listing Rules

(f)  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Board from time to time

(g) Balanced representation of different management
domain of executive Directors

(h)  Balanced representation on the Board by Executive
Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors
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The Board (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The nomination and selection procedures are:

(a)

(@]

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Board shall
conduct, at least annually and once every five (5)
years respectively, a review of the structure, size,
and composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and consider the Board
succession plan.

Proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in order for the Board
to assess the suitability of the candidate(s) based on
the above listed criteria.

When any existing member(s) of the Board is subject
to re-election according to the Memorandum and
Articles, the Board shall apply the above listed criteria
to the proposed candidate(s) on his/her/their re-
appointment.

The Board shall ensure the procedures of nomination,
selection and appointment/re-appointment comply
with the Memorandum and Articles, the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules from time to
time.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy once every eight (8)

years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) has
been adopted by the Board since 2008 and was last revised in
February 2022, which includes setting guidelines to be followed
by the Board in deciding whether to recommend dividend out
of the profits and the amount of dividend per Share to be
distributed. The Dividend Policy is summarised as follows:

o The Group’s profitability and dividend payout ratio: In
general, the Group’s dividend payout ratio is between 40%
and 60% (except in special circumstances);

o Operating environment: If the Group believes that uncertain
operating environment will adversely affect the Group’s
future profitability, the Group may reduce the dividend
payout ratio to retain cash flows;

o The Group’s cash flows and capital and operation
expenditures: In all circumstances, the Group must
maintain sufficient cash flows to meet the daily operation
expenditures arising from operations in both the Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong;

o In addition to cash, dividends may also be distributed in
company Shares, warrants or other forms of securities of
the Company;

o In general, the interim dividend should be approximately
30% to 40% of the projected full-year dividend; and

o In special circumstances, the Group may consider issuing a
special dividend.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed by the Board once every six (6)
years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policies

A whistleblowing policy (the "Whistleblowing Policy”) and
system have been implemented and set up in 2022 for employees
and those who deal with the Group (e.g. business partners
and suppliers as well as the general public) to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee of the
Company (the "Audit Committee”) about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the Company. An excerpt version of the
Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Company’s website.
The Company has also embedded in the employee handbook and
staff code of conduct a set of anti-bribery and anti-corruption
policies, including prohibition of employees from engaging in
activities that present a conflict of interest, completion of a
declaration of interest form by employees at designated levels
at new employee orientation and every year thereafter, as well
as policy on acceptance of advantages and by employees and
guidelines for social entertainment. The whistleblowing and
anti-corruption practices and policies are fundamental to good
corporate governance.

The Whistleblowing Policy will be reviewed by the Board at
appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Board also reviewed/formulated
the following guidelines and policies :

. Terms of Reference of Health, Safety and Environment
Committee;

o Procedures for Granting Share Options;
o Code of Conduct of the Group; and

o Policy on Sustainable Development.
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The Board (Continued)
Company Secretary

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), Mr. Ho Sai Hou, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year under review, Mr. Ho has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the role of the Company Secretary
included, amongst others, ensuring that the Directors have
access to all necessary information and that all Board procedures
were followed. The Company Secretary was also responsible for
offering opportunities of continuing professional development to
all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
help ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Directors were also provided with monthly updates
on the Company'’s performance, financial position and prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to properly
discharge their duties.

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house trainings for
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and reading
materials on the latest development of applicable laws, rules
and regulations, management, financial and business issues to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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The Board (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Professional

Development (Continued)

B ARBEB T AEELHEZIHE In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in various

A S MR - RBEEMEHRD
A BEREBFEAMEZOE

professional development seminars and courses. A summary
of training received by Directors during the year under review

BENT - according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:
E k¥l
Type of Trainings
BER R
e )Y FEM AR
RIS I e wrex
Seminars
and/or Reading
In-house conferences and on-line
EEHR Name of Director training and/or forums studying
HREREE Mr. Ip Chi Shing v/
HErEEA Mr. Yip Tsz Hin v/
® iE Mr. Ip Kwan v/
At x5 A4 Mr. Ho Sai Hou v/ v/ v
EENIEAS Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick v/
HAEEAE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence v
[GIfE G Ms. Yau Ching Man* v/ v/
F B A+ Mr. Wong Yuk* v
* FTHEEBE-_T-_MFE=A=-+_—HA * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

BB IERTEERDFELTAS
EoNE=A -+ -_BREESEBIIE

WiTES -

with effect from 22 March 2024 and Ms. Yau Ching Man was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director with effect
from 22 March 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board

The Board, as the highest governing body, is collectively
responsible for leading, planning and controlling the businesses
of the Group, and also for performing the corporate governance
duties and functions as more specifically set out in the list of
matters reserved for the Board. During the year under review,
the position of the Chairman of the Board was held by Mr. Ip
Chi Shing, and the position of the Deputy Chairman of the Board
was held by Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and the position of Chief Executive
Officer was held by Mr. Ip Kwan.

As disclosed below, the Company established SLT. During the
year under review, Mr. Ip Kwan oversaw the works of SLT and
other senior management of the Group. The above structure is
to ensure a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty to
manage the Board and the management’s duty to oversee the
overall internal operation of the Group.

The Board has delegated to SLT broad management
responsibilities, including but not limited to formulating and
implementing policies and business strategies, as well as
supervising the performance of the Group’s different business
segments. SLT currently comprised a total of five members,
namely Mr. Ip Kwan, Mr. Ho Sai Hou, Mr. Yip Long, Brian, Mr.
Yip Chun, lvan and Ms. Chow Mai Mai, the first two of which are
Executive Directors.
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The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board (Continued)

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board is maintained
and is subject to regular review. The more important matters

include:

o setting long-term objectives and strategies

° approving preliminary results announcements

o approving annual budgets and medium-term business plan

o approving major capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals

o establishing risk management policies

o approving notifiable transactions and connected transactions

o declaring and recommending the payment of dividends

° appointing new Directors

o establishing Board committees

o reviewing and monitoring of internal control and risk

management systems

o formulating and reviewing policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with CG Code

o reviewing and monitoring policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o approving major policies and guidelines

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors

o reviewing compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report

o overseeing the Group’s sustainability performance and
execution
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The Board (Continued)

Senior Leadership Team

The members of SLT as at 31 December 2024 were:

° Mr. Ip Kwan

o Mr. Ho Sai Hou

o Mr. Yip Long, Brian
o Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan
o Ms. Chow Mai Mai

Duties and responsibilities of SLT

o Assist the Board in setting policies and strategies;

o Execute the policies and strategic plans set by the Board;
o Supervise the businesses of subgroups;
o Supervise and oversee central support function/corporate

services; and

o Assist and co-ordinate the operations of subgroups, and
maximise the benefits for the Group.

Currently, there are four Board committees, namely Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and health,
safety and environment committee (the “HSE Committee”).
Except the HSE Committee, all the board committees have
formulated their specific written terms of reference in accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code.
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005.
During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Ms. Yau Ching Man after Mr.
Wong Yuk's resignation on 22 March 2024. Mr. Ho Pak Chuen,
Patrick was the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Major
roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

o establishing a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the Group’s remuneration policy

o making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management

o determining the remuneration packages of all individual

Executive Directors and senior management

o making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors

o approving the terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is

available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and from the Company Secretary upon request.
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting and the attendance of each member at this meeting
is shown in the table below:

HER
jo 4= Member Attendance
EENIEAE Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 11
R g4+ Ms. Yau Ching Man* 1/1
FRBS A ** Mr. Wong Yuk** N EAN/A
* BEELLTR-_TE-_MF=A=+=H * Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the

REZEHFMEZEEKE -

** FREAR-ZZTZNF=A=+=HIE
BIESMEEEKE -

RZEHELENEBEFEAR  HFMEE
S THEBEETIRR

BT EN T -_AFIENTES
MEFEHRE

. B MNERRTEEREREEA
BT _AFNRAFREE

. Mmoo EoUEEe B E KA
RES =

EEHepERERRARARREMEBA
BIEBMNGEEEZRE - REBRFE
WEBEFEHFHRITHREEABMSFEBR
e MBHmEHEeH T -

ERLIKERRLT —T_NFEFR

Remuneration Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

* Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee in the
meeting and during the year under review included but not
limited to:

o reviewed and approved the remuneration of Non-executive
Directors for the year 2025

o reviewed and approved the salary adjustment for Executive
Directors and senior management for the year 2025

o discussed the reward scheme of SLT for the year 2024

Directors’ emoluments consisted of payments to Directors in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Details of the Directors’ remuneration and
management executives’ emoluments for the year under review
are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.



BEESs

EREEE

ERZEER —ANANFE+— K
REBEFER  BEZZECH=ZUBT
EMITEEMEK - BNHAEELELE A7
MNaEER(RZE-_MF=ZA=-+=-HF
BB AR FEL M - URE
BATNELE BEXZESTERE
R

. EHEBMNIMEER

. EEEEVKERE RBREE
NI EEIEIE - LA A ERE XTI
BE A AR AR

. BE SRR B S ANEAZ BT A R

ENZECHEBEDEIHNART K

B PTAEVE R > A R M E BoRIR
HERH -

B8R GOVERNANCE REPORT

PREIBHRS

Corporate Governance Report

The Board (Continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in November 1998. During
the year under review, the Audit Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ku Yee Dao,
Lawrence, Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Ms. Yau Ching Man
after Mr. Wong Yuk’s resignation on 22 March 2024, and it was
chaired by Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence. Major duties of the Audit
Committee include:

o reviewing financial information of the Group

o overseeing the Group's financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures and
effectiveness of internal audit function

o monitoring the relationship between the Group and its
external auditor

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and from
the Company Secretary upon request.

REBEEERN  ERZEGRITTHER The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under
E SKERZEGRZIHEREH review and the attendance of each member at these meetings is
BN shown in the table below:

HE=E
ME Member Attendance
HABRE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 4/4
EENIEE Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4
il e Ms. Yau Ching Man* 3/3
TR A ** Mr. Wong Yuk** 11
* BEELXTR T -_MF=A=+=H * Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the Audit

HEZEERZEEGKE -

= FEEAR-—T-_ME=A-_t+_H
BEERLZBGKE -

Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

** Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from 22 March 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The works performed by the Audit Committee in these meetings
included but not limited to:

o reviewed the 2023 annual and 2024 interim results before
submitting the same to the Board for approval and in
doing so, the committee focused on material deviations of
the Group’s performance from past year’s results, major
areas of judgment, selection and application of accounting
policies and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o received reports from the internal audit department,
discussed material findings with the head of internal audit,
reviewed the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
department and effectiveness of the internal audit function
and approved the internal audit plan;

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with established
guidelines and procedures;

o discussed the audit plan with the Group’s external auditor
and assessed its independence with reference to its policies
for maintaining independence and reviewed the extent of
non-audit services provided;

o considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting; and

o approved the audit fees paid to the Group’'s external
auditor.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee on 18 March 2025.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 20 December
2021. The Nomination Committee consisted of one Non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Ip Chi Shing, and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Ms.
Yau Ching Man after Mr. Wong Yuk’s resignation on 22 March
2024, and was chaired by Mr. Ip Chi Shing. Major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee include:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated to be nominated as

Directors

o assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
from the Company Secretary upon request.
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§$ (#) The Board (Continued)

REZEEES(#H) Nomination Committee (Continued)

REEFERN  REEZEGRTTMAX The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
BE SHERZESEZHFEREHE under review and the attendance of each member at these
T meetings is shown in the table below:
HER
24=1 Member Attendance
BEEKEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 2/2
EENIFAS Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 2/2
P EHSEr £+ Ms. Yau Ching Man* 1/1
FRES A ** Mr. Wong Yuk** 1/1
* MEEL+R-_E-_MNE=A=-+=H * Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the Nomination
BEZTREZEENKE - Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

**  FREAR-ZZTZNF=A=+=HIE **  Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Nomination Committee
BTREZEGNKE - with effect from 22 March 2024.

RzEgs RET8@2T1ERE The works performed by the Nomination Committee in the

B meetings included but not limited to:

o RATBIERITESE o nomination of new Independent Non-executive Director;

. BN EESEMNERE - ABRAEKX . reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
(BIEREE - MR &R E) skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board:;

o IRBMIEMITEFRNBUM K e assessed the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

o B EReB I EENNERLE . reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of Board

M o independence mechanism.
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The Board (Continued)
Health, Safety and Environment Committee

The HSE Committee was established in January 2012 in order to
enhance the importance of the health, safety and environmental
protection works to the Group. Prior to 22 March 2024, the
HSE Committee comprised two Independent Non-executive
Directors and thereafter during the remaining year under review,
the HSE Committee comprised one Executive Director and one
Independent Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Ip Kwan who
was appointed after Mr. Wong Yuk’s resignation on 22 March
2024 and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick, and was chaired by Mr.
Ip Kwan (before 22 March 2024, by Mr. Wong Yuk). The HSE
Committee has formulated its terms of reference which include
its major duties below:

o the adoption and renewal of the Group’s health, safety and
environment policies;

o determining the Group's appetite for health, safety and
environment risk; and

o managing the Group’s monitoring environment for health,
safety and environment matters, including organisation
structure, reward and punishment systems, resource inputs,
operation culture, etc.

ZESREBEFERNRITTZNGE - During the year under review, the HSE Committee held three
EXRERZEGH L EREEHINNT - meetings and the attendance of each member at these meetings is
shown in the table below:

HER
Jo 4= Member Attendance
s Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 3/3
B Mr. Ip Kwan * 2/2
FrBS A ** Mr. Wong Yuk** 1/1
* AN B -_NE=A -+ - Hit * Mr. Ip Kwan was appointed as the Chairman of the HSE Committee

BEELRZGIR -

** FRAEER-ZT_NFE=ZA=-F+-HR
BELZZEEF -

with effect from 22 March 2024.

* Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as the Chairman of the HSE Committee
with effect from 22 March 2024.
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The Board (Continued)

Health, Safety and Environment Committee
(Continued)

The works performed by the HSE Committee in these meetings
included but not limited to:

o reviewed the Group's health, safety and environment
performance in 2023 and 2024;

o reported and reviewed accidents in recent years and the
follow-up work;

o reviewed the new or revised regulations and requirements
related to health, safety and environment recently issued by
the state and local governments and reviewed the impacts
on the Group;

o reviewed the revision of health, safety and environment
policy;
. discussed the Group's future health, safety and environment

work plan; and

o review the external developments in sustainable development
(particularly in environmental protection) and the Group's
related management.

Accountability and Audit
Directors’ and Auditor’s responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Group and their announcements
to Shareholders and commit to the presentation of a balanced,
clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are disclosed in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 101 to 107 of this
annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Furthermore, the Board oversees the Group's risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis through the
following structures and processes:

o Various Board committees and sub-committees are set up
with clear terms of reference to monitor risks and controls
of key business activities. These Board committees and sub-
committees engage directly with senior management of
the Group regularly and report to the Board on material
findings and make recommendations to improve the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

o Whilst the Board delegates wide powers to the management
to conduct business activities, it also promulgates Group
Polices (GPs) and establishes Group Authorization Limits
(GAs) to ensure that such activities are conducted prudently
and that proper balance is maintained between risks and
rewards. Under these GPs and GAs, the management
is required to report to the Board regularly on major
operational risks and to seek the Board’s specific approval
on material transactions.
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Edga :
FEEEERASBEE ) Risk Management and Internal
Control (Continued)

EEgHF Annually, the Board:

. BhEEEeZEeNESTSWE . Receives annual reports from each of its committees and
ZEERXMFERS  ZEWE sub-committees which summarise the businesses covered
BESEFEEGRT—FNER during the past year and major work focus for the following
NMREMEITIE- year.

. BERNEERREE QAT . Conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the
REMARE - B ReE Group's risk management and internal control systems

regarding:

. BERERBERE 8k . significant risks (including ESG risks) and their
Eramb) R EMRE changes;

. B TS EE RIR . financial reporting procedures;

D EHRBEFER o Listing Rules compliance;

. BERERRBETRZE . significant control failings and weaknesses; and
&

. SEYHEERAZTNEFTE - . adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
LARIRIE - 8 REIBERR experience, training programmes and budget of the
MERAERER - EIH Group's financial and internal audit functions as
BRRER  ABFIIRTE well as those relating to the ESG performance and
HAHEEERH - reporting.

LRI AEERRER RN EZERLG Having reviewed the above aspects of the risk management and

W EMAE  ARAFTRBERRERER internal control systems of the Group, the Company considers

NEBEEIE Rt A R B4 its risk management and internal control systems effective and

adequate.
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Risk Management and Internal
Control (continved)

The Board adopted “The Group Information Policy and Guidelines
for Handling Inside Information” in 2013 and revised the
aforesaid policy and guidelines on 1 December 2016. The Group
formed a team to manage and control its inside information (the
“IS Team”). The IS Team members include Board members and
representatives from SLT, such as the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretarial Department’s
personnel. The IS Team members review and monitor the Group’s
activities to identify if there is any inside information and if so to
make accurate and adequate disclosure in a timely manner.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Internal Audit
Department was set up in 1997 to monitor independently the
implementation of the internal control procedures, compliance
with group policies and to make recommendations on the
effectiveness of the internal control systems. The head of
Internal Audit Department reports to both Mr. Ho Sai Hou (the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director,
the Company Secretary and a member of SLT) and the Audit
Committee.

Auditor's Remuneration

For the year under review, the fee paid/payable to the Group’s
external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set out as

BT follows:
BEftERAHE
FriR it 2 IR % Services rendered Fee paid/payable
FHET
HK$'000
EZRE Audit services 1,445

FEEZRTE Non-audit services

EEPERE Interim report review 500
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of Shares. All Shares have the
same voting rights and are entitled to all dividends declared.
The rights of the Shareholders are set out in, amongst others,
the Memorandum and Articles and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands.

Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
Meeting

Pursuant to article 68 of the Memorandum and Articles, a
general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting
at a general meeting.

A general meeting may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one Shareholder which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at a
general meeting of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 28 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
Meeting (Continued)

Pursuant to article 116 of the Memorandum and Articles, no
person other than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended
by the Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting unless, during the period, which shall be at
least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the meeting convened for such election
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be
proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, of his intention to propose such person for
election and also notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more requisitionists.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Board
by post to the head office and principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong, or via e-mail through
the Company’s website (please refer to “Contact Us” at
http://www.yipschemical.com).
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Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board strives to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders, and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings to communicate with Shareholders
directly.

The 2024 annual general meeting was held on 3 June 2024. The
attendance of each Director at the general meeting during the
year under review is shown in the table below:

BRREBEZHERBITHE

Number of General Meeting
Attended and Held

BRFRBFRE

EEHR Name of Director Annual General Meeting
HREREE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 1/1
EFLsE Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 171
2z #r4E Mr. Ip Kwan 1/1
It 5 5E 4 Mr. Ho Sai Hou 11
G Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 11
HABRE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 1/1
B e £ Ms. Yau Ching Man* 1/1
FrBA A ** Mr. Wong Yuk** T EAN/A
* MEEELt+tN-—_E-_mWE=/A—+—H * Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as an Independent Non-

RERTEIIFRITES -
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executive Director with effect from 22 March 2024.

i Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director
with effect from 22 March 2024.

Constitutional Document

The Memorandum and Articles is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and from the Company
Secretary upon request.

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year under review.
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Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders

The Company highly values the relationship with investors and is
committed to maintaining a high level of corporate governance.
The Company has formulated the Group External Communication
Policy (the “Group External Communication Policy”) to provide
clear procedures and guidelines for the communication with
stakeholders including Shareholders, investors, creditors and
the media. The policy states that the Company should provide
accurate, consistent and transparent information for stakeholders
through different channels in a timely manner, and respond to
stakeholders’ enquiries and opinions in accordance with the
policy, and thus strives to maintain good two-way communication
with stakeholders.

During the year under review, the Board also conducted a review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Group External
Communication Policy. Having considered the multiple channels
of communication and engagement in place (see below), the
Board is satisfied that the Group External Communication Policy
has been properly implemented during the year under review and
is effective.

The Group fully understands the importance of maintaining
timely communication with investors and Shareholders. During
the year under review, the Group’s Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications Department built a good long-term
relationship with investors and Shareholders through continuing
communication. After the annual results announcement every
year, the Group holds an investor briefing audio conference,
inviting investors and bankers to participate. Its recording is
uploaded subsequently so that stakeholders from Hong Kong,
the Chinese Mainland and overseas are able to learn timely of the
Group’s operating performance and major development. Apart
from results announcement, the Group also arranges one-on-one
meetings or video conferences with investors and Shareholders
to address their enquiries as well as collecting their views. The
Group’s general meeting is also an important channel to maintain
a good two-way communication with Shareholders who can raise
their questions regarding the business and provide feedback to
the management team directly.
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Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders
(Continued)

In addition to meeting with institutional investors, the Group
also values its communication with retail investors. Therefore,
media briefings are held regularly to update the media with
the Group’s latest development. To ensure the consistency of
any announcements of the Group, the Group timely uploads
its interim and annual financial reports, announcements, press
releases, presentation materials and etc. to corporate website.
Investors and Shareholders can thus quickly and easily browse
or download the information they need so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the Group. Besides, in 2023,
the Group complied with the amendments to the Listing Rules by
the Stock Exchange in regards to the expansion of the paperless
listing regime by informing Shareholders and investors via its
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office as well as
disclosing on its website the relevant arrangement to request
printed copies of the Company’s corporate communications. The
Group has also set up Yip's Chemical Facebook and LinkedIn
pages as well as WeChat subscription page for posting the
Group’s latest information regularly. Investors and Shareholders
can also lodge their enquiries to the Company via post or email
anytime.

The Company timely and accurately publishes information and
communicates interactively through the aforementioned channels
to solicit and understand the views and opinions of stakeholders.
The Group firmly believes that continuous enhancement of
communication helps strengthen the ties with Shareholders.
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4

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
YIP’'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yip's
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 108
to 296, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Expected credit losses assessment of trade receivables

We identified expected credit losses ("ECL")
assessment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables
to the Group's consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in determining the ECL of
the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,
excluding balances associated with bills received
for future settlement, amounting to approximately
HK$993,138,000, of which approximately
HK$312,459,000 were past due.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the
Group identified debtors that are credit-impaired,
of which the ECL are assessed individually.
The remaining amounts of approximately
HK$992,425,000 are assessed on collective basis
through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns based on the Group's internal
credit ratings, and these debtors’ repayment
history and past due status. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and forward-
looking information.

As disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recognised
impairment loss of HK$11,710,000 for the
year and the Group's lifetime ECL provision on
trade receivables amounted to approximately
HK$64,487,000 as at 31 December 2024.

QOur procedures in relation to ECL assessment
of trade receivables included:

o Understanding relevant controls on how
the management estimates the loss
allowance;

o Testing the accuracy of information
used by management to formulate the
grouping for collective assessment, as at
31 December 2024, on a sample basis,
to the supporting documents; and

o (Challenging management’s basis and
judgement in determining credit loss
allowance as at 31 December 2024,
including their identification of credit-
impaired debtors, the reasonableness
of management's collective assessment,
and, on a sample basis, the basis of
estimated loss rates applied in each
individually assessed debtors and each
grouping of various debtors (with
reference to historical default rates and
forward-looking information).
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chin Cheung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZE T YF+ =8B =+—HIL%E For the year ended 31 December 2024

“E-mF ZT=F
2024 2023
B =E FERT FHET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
= Revenue 5 3,162,391 3,217,138
SHE R Cost of sales (2,418,745) (2,434,868)
EF Gross profit 743,646 782,270
E bl A Other income 7a 90,935 104,609
H e R E1E Other gains and losses 7b (40,641) 453
SHERKIHER Selling and distribution expenses (184,889) (205,490)
—RITHER General and administrative
expenses (529,340) (571,624)
BT E Finance costs 8 (60,048) (63,521)
EENEFEEZEERM  Impairment loss recognised on
BEEE goodwill and intangible assets - (57,504)
AN E Share of result of associates 96,024 94,672
R %52 B 48 A Profit before taxation 9 115,687 83,865
I8 Taxation 10 (19,993) (23,269)
NS Profit for the year 95,694 60,596
HivZ2EZH - Other comprehensive expense:
TeEFHEAEZZERE  Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
I EBITEE 25 E®  Exchange differences on
MmEEZIERZ58 translation from functional
currency to presentation
currency (162,612) (91,885)
BAREFARMEAEWE  Fair value loss on equity
([BRAREFFAEMEE  instruments at fair value
sk Dz #Em T AMAR  through other comprehensive
BEE income (“FVTOCI") (3.664) (1,506)
(166,276) (93,391)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehenswe e

E-ZT-_WF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—EmEF —E-=
2024 2023
FizE FER FAT
NOTE HK$’'000 HK$'000
HignEsonEAEIR Y2 Items that may be reclassified
HE : subsequently to profit or loss:
¥ T AEEZFHR Net adjustment arising from
hedging instruments (1,525) (3,264)
EITEBINETSMAESL Y Exchange differences arising
ME X ZHE on translation of foreign
operations 21,463 35,149
BAREFAEMEEY  Fair value (loss) gain on debt
wmZ BB ITENARE instruments at FVTOCI
(518 s (31) 1,394
BAREAEMEEY  Provision for impairment loss
wmZ B TR EHER recognised for debt instruments
BB R at FVTOCI 100 =
REEZEAREF AEM  Release upon disposal of debt
FHEWE 2 BB AR instruments at FVTOCI
fR bR (621) -
19,386 33,279
REEMEEmEZ Y Other comprehensive expense for
the year (146,890) (60,112)
REZME(ZE)WEELEE  Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (51,196) 484
AR (EE) G105« Profit (loss) for the year attributable
to:
—AARRE - Owners of the Company 96,882 86,623
—FEERAE R — Non-controlling interests (1,188) (26,027)
95,694 60,596
RE2ME(HZH)WEEEE  Total comprehensive (expense)
FEME 1A %E - income for the year attributable
to:
i VNG g — Owners of the Company (48,630) 25,566
—FEERR AR — Non-controlling interests (2,566) (25,082)
(51,196) 484
BREAEF Earnings per share 12
— &K — Basic HK17.2 centsi&fll  HK15.2 centsi#{ll
—#E — Diluted HK17.2 centsi&fll  HK15.2 centsi#{ll

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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—E-ImEF —T=F
2024 2023
B 5% FET FET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FREBEE Non-current assets
W% - BE&RE Property, plant and equipment 13 962,000 1,032,307
A% Investment properties 14 222,451 222,900
REEE R R 2w Interests in associates 15(a) 1,237,645 1,241,342
BAREFARMEEWEE  Equity instruments at FVTOCI
ZHEmT A 16(a) 16,101 20,444
BRARBERABZ(ER Financial assets at fair value
REFABE]) 2SR through profit or loss
BE ("FVTPL") 16(b) 856,057 857,411
BAREFARMETAEWZE  Debt instruments at FVTOCI
ZEBIE 16(c) 70,357 22,492
RESER A 2 BT A Debt instruments at amortised
cost 16(d) 140,982 135,200
[l Goodwill 17 59,089 55,105
EmREE Intangible assets 18 58,745 60,794
JE U — R Bt 2 R B Z0IE Amount due from an associate 15(b) 73,998 76,817
EEEYE BMEK&RZME  Deposits paid for acquisition
ARIEEMEZF & of property, plant and
equipment and investment
properties 16,724 37,883
TESRTH Derivative financial instruments 22 68 97
EETTBE = Deferred tax assets 28 2,496 2,727
3,716,713 3,765,519
REBEE Current assets
(EA =T Inventories 20 360,100 393,246
B S EWEIA Trade receivables 21(a) 1,308,119 1,240,923
A e AR R S TR AN SR IR Other debtors and prepayments  21(b) 96,307 163,561
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments 22 162 1,531
RETEBA =M A I 22 H  Short-term bank deposits with
HRITIFHK original maturity more than
three months 23 - 238,154
RITHEBR IR E Bank balances and cash 23 594,377 616,093
2,359,065 2,653,508
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R=ZZ=MF+=A=+—H At 31 December 2024

—ECNF —BC=F
2024 2023
P aE FET FHT
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
REEE Current liabilities
ERERRETER Creditors and accrued charges 24 925,172 961,029
TEeRTHE Derivative financial instruments 22 89 =
ABREE Contract liabilities 25 34,174 31,956
FERTRR R Taxation payables 30,888 28,270
HE&E Lease liabilities 26 4,454 15,170
BE——F AN H Borrowings — amount due
within one year 27 932,313 930,787
1,927,090 1,967,212
RBEEZFE Net current assets 431,975 686,296
BEERREBAE Total assets less current
liabilities 4,148,688 4,451,815
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
TESRTHE Derivative financial instruments 22 38 =
HE&E Lease liabilities 26 9,464 27,689
BE——F1&5H Borrowings — amount due after
one year 27 294,400 471,006
BEXERIBEBE Deferred tax liabilities 28 33,304 38,018
337,206 536,713
3,811,482 3,915,102
B #E Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 29 56,848 56,848
E Reserves 3,732,279 3,869,501
AT RREGEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,789,127 3,926,349
FEEERAER Non-controlling interests 22,355 (11,247)
3,811,482 3,915,102
EEedRlN - ET-_AaFE=A=-+—8# The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 296 were
R EFEI108BEEF 296 B 2546 approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
BIESRE  WHLTEEREEE 21 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
EEREE EIZEELE Mr. Ip Chi Shing Mr. Yip Tsz Hin
E = DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-ZT-WF+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEMATRR
Attrbutable to owners of the Company
BhE  TUAK fEER EARE  HRER
BE RhEE  EERG B BE HABE  BRE EXBE ZEEE RMBE 0 R BE REEM & FMBER &%
Share Non- Investment Captal ~ Property Non-
Share Share  Treasury option distrbutable  Hedging  revluation  Translation Legdl Other ~redemption ~ revaluation  Retained controling
aptd  pemium  chares resene  resene  sene  reene  resenefsene  resene  rene e poofs Total  interess Total

fin  fEr TEr T TAr TR T A TEn  fEm T TEr TR Tan T TAR
HKS'000  HK$000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HK$000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HK$O00  HKS'O00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'00  HKS'000 K000  HKS'000  HKS'000

(Fita) (ib) (o)
(Note a) (Noteb) ~ (Note)
R=%2Z5-F-B At 1 January 203 56,848 576,022 - 338 2393 489 (19541)  (30586) 69,570 326 6,431 3068 3519328 4406955 51958 4458913
REGR(BE) Profitlos) for th year - B B - B B - B B - B - 8663 8663 (602)  6059%
R ERAEELIERAESZE  Exchange diferences on ransaton fiom
i3 functional currency o presentation
arrency - - - - - - - (080 = = = = - (0830 95 (91.889)
Fair value loss on equity instruments
at FvToc! - - - - - - (1,508) - - - - - - (1,506) - (1,506)
Net adjustment arising from hedging
instruments - - - - - By - - - - - - - (3264 - B2ed
Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations - - - - - - - e - - - - - e - B
Far value gain on debt instruments at
mod - - - - - - 139% - - - - - - 139 - 139%
FERA(R I haLE Total comprehensiv (expense) income for
the year - - - - - (3,264 (1) (57,681) - - - - 8663 2556 (2508 484
Sub-fotal 56,848 576,012 - 3738 1393 168 (19653 (88267 69570 326 6431 3068 3605951 443252 26876 4459397
Lapse of share option - - - 33 - - - - - - - - 3738 = = =
CR&(KE1) Dividends recogrised as distibution (Note 11) - B B - B B - B B - B - (466,158 (466,158) - (466,18)
IR Acquistion o partial interest of anon-wholly
owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - () - - (1) 509 (1368 (18130)
& Transfer - - - - - - - RO 1] - - RO 110 - - -
EHe Waierofloan - - - - - - - - - (35 - - - (5505 3505 -
R-F-ME-F-H At 1 January 204 56,848 576,012 = - 168 (19653 (88267 75579 (35,505 6,431 3068 3136215 3926349 (11,.247) 3915102
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-ZT-NF+=H=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
BERELIRR
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRE  FTRK REEE EKRE  9RER
Bx  BfER  EEER i BE HhER fif  EXBR :EER  A4ER B BE REE it FERRE it
Share Non- Investment Capital ~ Property Non-
Share Share  Treasury  option distributable  Hedging revaluation ~Translation Legal Other redemption revaluation  Retained controlling
Gpitl  premium  shares  reseve  reseve  reseve reserve  reseve  resenve  reseve  reseve  resene  profits Total  interests Total
T TR TR TR TEn TR TEr TR TR TR TR TEm TR TER TR TR
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
(Hita) (Kb (Wi
(Note 2) (Noteh) ~ (Notec)
R=E-MmE-F-R At 1 January 2024 56,848 576,022 - - M 1628 (19653) (88267 75519 (35,505 6,431 3088 3136255 3926349 (11.247) 3915002
HEAH(EE) Profitlos) for the year - - - - - - - - - - - - %88 %82 (1188) 95694
R EUFEEETISEMESZE  Eichange diferences on ransaton from
ik functional currency to presentation
currency - - - - - - - (161,234) - - - - - (161.234)  (1378)  (162612)
BOREHAEGRTEUEZEEIE  Fairvalue loss on debt instruments at YTOC
IR - - - - - - (31 - - - - - - (31 - (31
HRTARE R Net adjustment arising from hedging
instruments - - - - - (1) - - - - - - - (1) - (1)
RAERNERMELZELZE  Echange diferences arsing on translaton of
foreign aperations - - - - - - - 148 - - - - - 148 - 148
Fair vlue loss on equity instruments at
frmoci - - - - - - (3,664) - - - - - - (3,664) - (3,664)
7 /“uﬁﬁ EME%ZFME Provision for impairments loss recognied for
(EERERERR debt nstruments at FVTOCI - - - - - - 100 - - - - - - 100 - 100
RHERMAETAZH2ERRZE  Release upon disposal of debtinstrumens at
BIARER Frmocl - - - - - - - - - - - E (71 -
FERE(R)hEEE Total compreensie expense) income for
the year - - - - - (1525 (216) (139.771) - - - - 96882 (48630)  (2560)  (51,196)
st Sub-otal 56,848 576,022 - - M 103 (23869 (28,038) 75579 (35505 6,431 3008 3233157 3870719 (13813) 3863906
HEMBRRRRR Release upon disposa o subsdiaries - - - - - - - (o) - - - - 4 - I 1578
MELTR R Release upon deregistration o subsdiaries - - - - - - - i3 - - - - [11] -
WERBAA(K0) Acquisiton ofa subsiiary (Note 30) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 086 086
WE-RHREMEAATARE  Acouision of partal interestof anon-wholly
owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 4% - - - ] (46) -
Dividends recognised as distrbution (Note 11) - - - - - - - - - - - - (B0 (13730 - (1370
@EM i Repurchase of shres (Note 29) - - (83 - - - - - - - - - - (183 - (1483
AERAEERAER (ML) Transaction costs attributable o repurchase of
shres (Note 29) - - (1) - - - - - - - - - - (14 - (]
L Tansfer - - - - - - - - - -8 -
RZF-METZR=1-B At 31 December 2024 56,848 576,022 (14,908) - M 103 (23869 (3207)  8MT (35459 6,431 3068 3160502 3789127 22355 3811482
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Z-T-NF+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

B -

(a)

(c)

ER{LLIKERRLF

TR DIk EEEE TRHEARLNME
(Fep B 1) B SZ 2 BT 2 ) 954 B e ) 28
FEAXR  ARZEMBARZEABR
BRBEATERZES « ()WAENRE
FRERHK(DEALEEE

ADREZAERBATBANBA
AREEWEM S 2 AT EFBAZ
B -

AEBREBE-_TE-_TF+=-_A=1+—
AEFEEEFEAHABONT)BER
AR ([FRFHE)824% 2 s -
#REAAR%65883,0007T ° HAth
%ﬁh##%%‘ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%h%
&WﬁEWRFZ%m%% A& A
B R B B B A SRR A
%'Mg REBE_T_=F+-_HA=+—
AIEFE  ASEREFEAGD24%
T2824%#wm  ReRBAARME
69,320,0007t(78,137,000/87L) °

REBE-T-_=F+-A=1+—HIF

B AEEHGEYE-FF2EMEBER
AIWE 91,039,063/ 87T °

“TMFEFR

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(o)

The non-distributable reserve represents capitalisation of retained
profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (ii)
expand production operations.

The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents the transfer
of profits of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal
requirements in the relevant place of registration.

The Group disposed of 8.24% interest in Yip’'s Ink & Chemicals
(Zhejiang) Limited (formerly known as Bauhinia Variegata Ink &
Chemical (Zhejiang) Limited”) (“Yip's Ink Zhejiang”) during the
year ended 31 December 2020 at an aggregate consideration
of RMB65,883,000. The other reserve represents the difference
between the non-controlling interest’s proportionate interest in
Yip's Ink Zhejiang and the consideration received. The decrease
in equity interest did not result in a loss of control over Yip's Ink
Zhejiang. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired the remaining 8.24% interest in Yip's Ink Zhejiang with a
cash consideration of RMB69,320,000 (HK$78,137,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group waived a loan
of HK$91,039,063 due from a non-wholly owned subsidiary.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ZE-T-_MF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—EDNE —To=F
2024 2023
FHERT FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRA A AR A Profit before taxation 115,687 83,865
AT R Adjustments for:
B EEEE Amortisation of intangible assets 2,032 2,863
M BERREINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 103,905 124,066
ME - BERZE2EER Impairment loss recognised on
REEE property, plant and equipment - 14,967
HEREVEEZCHER Impairment loss recognised on
WEEE goodwill and intangible assets - 57,504
EHEERA([EHEER Impairment loss (reversed) recognised
K DERIE TR A A EE on debt instruments at FVTOCI
AE 2 U R R IR E SEA and amortised cost under expected
RAEZ BB IARRZR credit loss (“ECL") model, net of
BEEEER) - Nk reversal (65) 640
FEHEERAEUETRES  Impairment loss recognised (reversed)
R Eo At FE W R IBTERR 2 FE on trade and other receivables
B (EE) - MR under ECL model, net of reversal 12,248 (37)
BAREFABRZERMEE Dividend income from financial assets
ZBBHA at FVTPL (25,547) (17,855)
iz /&/’M STABZZEBERE  Fair value loss (gain) on financial
ZAnEEE(kE) assets at FVTPL 1,618 (7,172)
REMEZ AR EEE Fair value loss (gain) on investment
(Yzs) properties 11,739 (27,891)
% E R Finance costs 60,048 63,521
AISHON Interest income (23,082) (47,239)
HE MEDE - BEREHE  Net loss on disposal/written-off of
ZFEE property, plant and equipment 1,704 937
BRKIEHEES M E Gain relating to termination of lease
contracts (37) (553)
HEHBARRNER Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 1,036 -
HEBKTARE 2 W Gain of disposal of investments in
debt instruments (848) -
il AN ES Share of result of associates (96,024) (94,672)
TR ERME (B ) Provision (reversal) of allowance for
slow-moving inventories 2,322 (356)
MEFE Written off of inventories 4,025 4,758
SNERE RSB FTE A 2 B Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 15,339 19,678
BEECREYR 2 CEEH Operating cash flows before movements
Ben in working capital 186,100 177,024

2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

—ECoOEF —EC=F
2024 2023
B sE FTExT TR
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FERD Decrease in inventories 12,114 13,453
B 5 R WGRIE S N Increase in trade receivables (145,700) (18,573)
E R R R IBFIER A Decrease in other debtors and
prepayments 50,261 56,320
FERTBR R K fE ST & AR 42 10 Increase in creditors and accrued
charges 2,018 4,834
SHEEEIMCHD) Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 2,218 (2,696)
PR HI SR TAE BRI Decrease in restricted bank balance - 12,110
HEMEECRS Cash generated from operations 107,011 242,472
B BAEH PRC income tax paid (20,465) (5,928)
REEBMES 2 FR S Net cash from operating activities 86,546 236,544
REXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEME  BERR Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (38,760) (21,648)
BAZANEAEZZER  Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
BE (5,392) (670,287)
WHRAAEARMER Acquisition of equity instruments at
Wz m LA FVTOCI - (11,319)
BAREBHEKNAZEHEIA Acquisition of debt instruments at
amortised cost (18,448) (135,126)
BARAAEGAEMZE Acquisition of debt instruments at
Wz BB IA FVTOC! (65,553) (21,351)
HERAREFAEBZEZER  Proceeds from disposal of financial
BEMSHE assets at FVTPL 698 =
HEREHEKARIZANE Proceeds from disposal of debt
STAE M2 E W 2 B instruments at amortised cost and
TAMEHIA FVTOC 32,468 -
HEWE  BERREZ Proceeds from disposal of property,
FTS 508 plant and equipment 1,707 668
HERE Y S HIE Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 158 -
B — el Bt & 8 AR B, Dividend received from an associate 53,449 43,120
BEUHE A B ABZE 228 Dividend received from financial assets
BERE at FVTPL 2,599 -
A—EEBREER Loan to an entity - (34,520)
WHE—FME AR ZEEMA  Net cash inflow from acquisition of a
EE subsidiary 30 327 =
WEE—ME2 EHBARIES  Net cash outflow on acquisition of
w2 B mibFHE partial interest of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary - (78,137)
HEWBARZATSFIEFHE  Net proceeds from disposal of
subsidiaries - 1,795,206
HEWNBARMIRERIEFE  Net cash outflow on disposal of
subsidiaries 31 (3,426) =
BENEEME  BFER&ER Deposits paid for acquisition of
REMEZ ] © property, plant and equipment and
investment properties (1,443) (10,215)
BYFIE Interest received 29,526 37,145
RERETHEA=EA M2 Withdrawal of bank deposits with
RITER original maturity more than three
months 238,154 -
TR BBR=E A Placement of bank deposits with
RITER original maturity more than three
months - (238,154)
REXBMEEZFHS Net cash from investing activities 226,064 655,382

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash F|ows

E-T_MF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—EoME ZTZ=F
2024 2023
TERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
MEXL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ILEE Borrowings raised 1,284,394 1,888,563
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (1,446,535) (2,667,245)
BERARE Dividends paid (73,730) (466,158)
BAFE Interest paid (62,387) (65,704)
L EERG Payments on repurchase of shares (14,834) =
Bl R DB 2K A Transaction costs related to
repurchase of shares (74) =
BB D RFEERRR Dividends paid to non-controlling
sy shareholders of subsidiaries - (16,526)
SNHEERRE Payment of lease liabilities (8,551) (19,646)
HERRE RN ERER 2 Cash received from the settlement of
TESBRTABKEGRS the derivative financial instruments
used to hedge interest rate risk 2,463 3,558
MEXBMA2FRE Net cash used in financing activities (319,254) (1,343,158)
Re kB FHRFRD Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (6,644) (451,232)
FHzReRAeEH Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 616,093 1,076,006
EXEHMELITE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (15,072) (8,681)
FRZBERESEHR Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year 594,377 616,093
ReRReSRESRIT Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents
RETR={E R AEIH 2 Short-term bank deposits with
R HIRITF R original maturity within three
months 90,280 229,166
RekRes5s Cash and cash equivalents 504,097 386,927
594,377 616,093
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

—REHR
ERETEBEERAT(TARF])
R RER S S EM L 2
2RF] HENREBEBMER S
BRAR(THERAT]) T » RAR]
AR A S BE Ne B S B 2 Hh
REBRABEN —HRKE -

ARBR—EREZERAR - HE
EM B AR R E RN EEER
BEARA - 28 mBREBM -
MELE AR EMET

HAaPBREABET(ET])E
5 - BRINARBZINEEE AR
BTAR®E]) - ARREEET
EREZREBZRE - RERAE
RE B —FBRMNRB R EH 2R
RRF - MARBAKREELUNE
B o

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yip's Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
principal subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the
manufacture of and trading in solvents, coatings, inks and
lubricants, property investment as well as other businesses.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Renminbi (“RMB"”). The
reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation currency is
because the Company is a public company with the shares
listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its investors
are located in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the
2020 Amendments”) and Amendments

to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments. Presentation.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the
2020 Amendments”) and Amendments

to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also
specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at
the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and
facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.



PE R #1e] &8 B #E 3Rk
HEAREBYER
HER ZEF] =

CHEMERRERZHMTE
B BREEARE B
EERAZETT (#)

BERMBREERFE185KE
BHREZZFIRHE

BRMBIME LI E 1 8RABHE
225 RFFERTE R B8RS T
BRBBEEF  BBRRBEGHE
BB 1RAHHE 2 25 - AR
STEAMBREEAGIER - R
REEERHRABIEOTSE
KA - SIARIBRRT 2HIE
B RER N OFER - R
BREMTFREEEETENR
RIEEZ BB - YR ERBRET
ERBBENBEARDF - o &
TEEGHRAE1RNREDS
EEBE LR ER RERM
HERAETH - WEAG A
BISR A HEARE AR LR
EIREREFIIVETEMISHT -

R EHMEERNE 185 R H M LE
A2l —E—+F— A —H
K BRARZFRRREER - Wi
FIRRER - BEIFERR E AR
FERKMBRETRERRIE
FRZEY - AEEEEFGEE
R EERE1REAEE LGS
MIBMENFATE -

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © 811 5 R S5 By 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continueq)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MEGZESUBHREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

BEERBAREFTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
asl STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION
3.1 iRHGRENBRE 3.1 Basis of preparation of
2B consolidated financial statements
REMBREDRBELSG The consolidated financial statements have been
FHET A2 AR 2 BB IS prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HELEARE - RRBGEE HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
WBREMS  WEREGE consolidated financial statements, information is
BHEEEFEFREED considered material if such information is reasonably
HRE - AIEEERERA expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
EFKR oW BREMBRE In addition, the consolidated financial statements
BRAEBBERIFERA include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
AlEF EmRAICN EmR Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Al ) REB A RIEOIATRE Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
ZHEREESIE - by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
3.2 ERGHBERER 3.2 Material accounting policy
information
mERE Basis of consolidation
BEMBREREARARAR The consolidated financial statements incorporate
AR E) R E YA aE the financial statements of the Company and entities
ZEBZUBRE - BUSE controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
HIETHIEARAF] Control is achieved when the Company:
. HERETHEREN . has power over the investee;
. E 2R E T EBm . is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
AR LA RS from its involvement with the investee; and
EE S
. BRENTTEEE N . has the ability to use its power to affect its
L H[EIR o returns.
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners
of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument ("HKFRS 9”) or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The concentration test is met if substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or
delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions
and events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
("HKAS37") or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies (“HK(IFRIC)
—Int 21"), in which the Group applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination. Contingent assets are not
recognised.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

129



130

BSR4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fm © 81115 ¥ 5 Bfy 5E

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MEGZESUBHREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

EEREXRSFEE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
BER ) STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 EXEFBUERER 3.2 Material accounting policy
(#%) information (continued)
¥¥atta) Business combinations (Continued)
RUER - FTEERT# B & At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
ENRAEBEBENRAAE acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at
R - WELA N ESRBRIN - their fair values, except that:
. REFIHEENBER . deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
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or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and



3. MEGEUKREZ
HERBEASHBE
Bl

3.2 EAEBHBEKRER

(%)

¥¥atta)

. HEaEERFNGHEE
NE(ERRLBBYB
REEAF16HHEE
([BAMBIRELERE
1655 1)) 2 BRERER
HE . MMETWERE
RUREE R BT E
M (a) FH HA A Uk B8 B HA
1218 A A JEMW ; 3(b)
HHEEBREBEZH
ERIN o FREEER
HABAEAERRZ
SRR NMGTE - WiE
AR AR BB RSB R
MBERZHEIEK °

EERAEEAE KRB
TR IR & BB
R 77 DA TE P 5 150 R BB 7 B AR
B (WA) Z2RAREZE
o B AT R BRI B E
RErAEABENKRERZF
B2 EMHETE o MSEHNT
18 PTURIE T 2l & B
AR BEZFESNAE
ERE - HEBT ERIFE
Pt o & BR B URE 07 DATE Y
FREBETBRAER 2 AR
B(NE) &M - BIZHEA
KRERBERAEEREIK

#x °

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © 811 5 R S5 By 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases
("HKFRS 16")) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained,
unless the Group can demonstrate that some other
method better reflects the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group's share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group'’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in Notes 5 and 25.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described
below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets
is functioning properly, and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’'s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is classified as “right-of-use assets”
and included in “property, plant and equipment”
in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets, other than properties under construction,
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value

of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets is estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and intangible assets other than
gOOdWi" (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and intangible assets other than
gOOdWi" (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and intangible assets other than
gOOdWi" (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject
to third party contractual restrictions are included as
part of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank
balance no longer meeting the definition of cash.
Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank balances
are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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3. MEGREUKREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
HERERSFHEK CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
=g 10 STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 EXEHERER

(&) information (continued)
EMITAE) Financial instruments (Continued)
EWMEEE) Financial assets (Continued)
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Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result
of interest income calculated using the effective
interest method are recognised in profit or loss. All
other changes in the carrying amount of these debt
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading
of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI

Investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investment, and is transferred to retained
profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income” line item in profit or
loss.
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3. MEGREUKREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
HERERSFHEK CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
=g 10 STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 EXETHEER

(&) information (continued)
EMITAE) Financial instruments (Continued)
EWMEEE) Financial assets (Continued)
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Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on financial assets (including debt
instruments at amortised cost and at FVTOCI, amounts
due from associates, trade receivables, other debtors,
short-term bank deposits with original maturity more
than three months and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

3 an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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3. MEGZESUBHREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

EEREXRSFEE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
BER ) STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 ERETBIRER 3.2 Material accounting policy

(#) information (continued)

ST A#E) Financial instruments (Continued)

SREEE) Financial assets (Continued)

RRE B ISR E LR E 5% Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

BETREN G2 EMEE assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

B (&)

(i) BHZEE (i) Definition of default
A EERREEM For internal credit risk management, the Group
T AKERE BN considers an event of default occurs when
B 4w 25k 2k B SN information developed internally or obtained
ZERBTREEATK from external sources indicates that the debtor
AgEMEGEREA(BRE is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
REE)FEMABNRE Group, in full (without taking into account any
(TEZERAEBEFEZ collaterals held by the Group).
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SERR EXES that default has occurred when a financial asset
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RNENREESR

ik

152 ERCISEERAT —Z - NEEFR



3. MABZEHKREZ
HERBEASHBE
Bl

3.2 EXETHERER

(%)

ERIA#E)
SREES)

IR B B T 3R RIS 0%
BETRET G SREE

BE(E)
(i) HFEEREZEHBME
E

ERLE-HKZHES
- HRBESREEL
HETRRIR S IRBRL
MEEE - ZATRE
ECHREERE - 2
BREELREEREZ
BERBRENTESHSE
B AR EUR ¢

(@) BEITALMBRA
HIRBBRY B AR
3

by BRAEXK - A
RYXEREF
1

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © 811 5 R S5 By 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External and/or internal credit ratings

where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and trade receivable,
the Group recognises an impairment loss or
reversal of impairment loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount. For trade receivables, the
impairment loss and reversal of impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss with the
corresponding adjustment recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments.
Such amount represents the changes in the
investment revaluation reserve in relation to
accumulated loss allowance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate
at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

o For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “other gains
and losses” line item (Note 7(b)) as part of the
net exchange gains/(losses);

o For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences on the
amortised cost of the debt instrument are
recognised in profit or loss in the “other gains
and losses” line item (Note 7(b)) as part of the
net exchange gains/(losses). As the foreign
currency element recognised in profit or loss
is the same as if it was measured at amortised
cost, the residual foreign currency element
based on the translation of the carrying
amount (at fair value) is recognised in other
comprehensive income in the investment
revaluation reserve;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses (Continued)

o For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the “other gains and losses” line item as
part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets (Note 7(b));

° For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI,
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income in the investment
revaluation reserve.
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3. MEGREUKREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
HERERSFHEK CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 EXEHERER

(#) information (continued)
SWMIA#E) Financial instruments (Continued)
CREEE) Financial assets (Continued)
RIFEREHMEE Derecognition of financial assets
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The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
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substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to retained profits.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including creditors and
borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss (Note 7b) as
part of net foreign exchange gain/(loss) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. For those which are designated as a
hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency
risk, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
hedging reserve in equity.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair values at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair values at
the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative
is designated and effective as a hedging instrument,
in which event the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedging
relationship.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a
non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due
to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other
derivatives are presented as current assets or current
liabilities.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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information (continued)
Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the
Group documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with
its risk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging
instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes
in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.

Assessment of hedging relationship and
effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group
considers whether the hedging instrument is effective
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk,
which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument;

o the effect of credit risk does not dominate the
value changes that result from that economic
relationship; and
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and
effectiveness (Continued)

o the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is
the same as that resulting from the quantity of
the hedged item that the Group actually hedges
and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity
of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio
but the risk management objective for that designated
hedging relationship remains the same, the Group
adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying
criteria again.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging
reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value
of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is
included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)
Cash flow hedges (Continued)

Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged item. However, when the
hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition
of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability,
the gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
are removed from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset
or non-financial liability. This transfer does not
affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore,
if the Group expects that some or all of the loss
accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will
not be recovered in the future, that amount is
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting
prospectively only when the hedging relationship
(or a part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying
criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes
instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge
accounting can either affect a hedging relationship
in its entirety or only a part of it (in which case
hedge accounting continues for the remainder of the
hedging relationship).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Discontinuation of hedge accounting
(Continued)

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the profit or loss is impacted by the forecast
transactions. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in
equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses item are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation
of the Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group's
presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in translation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the translation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss)
before tax because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.



3. MEGEUKREZ
HERBEASHBE
Bl

3.2 ERETHRER
(%)
BLE ()
EAER AR EREER S S
EHFIEHIRE - WATE
T 475 12 40 SRR DA 4
e [ 5 B 3 25 5 B B e 3
X

EIEREAERA RS
9% B EL A 6 S B AR A
2B (RBR) BB A A
R A A EEER Y
BEEHE -

EEVARBEREEZFE
RREBASEBRBRAZT A
RBEHPREERGEEELE
ENRBEZERREZIHNBEE
2.

RABNBAREEILGE
ZREWMERZBEREA %
EMEZEESRIREE
BEERERE - RIEZR
REHEB RIS ERR ° A&
BiERETERERETE

RIAEAKENEERER
HEEREBESEENE
EXGHELHRE  A5HE
BEAEERBHRESERE
RMEREEEXHERRE -

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © 811 5 R S5 By 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The Group
selected not to rebut this presumption.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to lease liabilities and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are recognised as expenses when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured at
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.
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3. MEGREUKREZ 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
HERERSFHEK CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
=g 10 STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 EXEHERER

(#) information (continued)
LRGBERSRR ) Share-based payments (Continued)
DREREEURDAER Equity-settled share-based payment
TRR5 (&) transactions (Continued)

BT EEBZHEREE) Share options granted to employees (Continued)
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The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N CE RTA' NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually
insignificant or when the Group does not have reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the
Group's internal credit ratings.

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
lifetime ECL of trade receivables by collective assessment
through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns, based on the Group’s internal credit ratings and
these debtors’ repayment history and past due status.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and forward-
looking information.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's trade
receivables are disclosed in Notes 21 and 33.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION
A. Revenue

Revenue represents the amount received and
receivable for goods sold and services provided to
customers, net of discounts and value-added tax, and

UREWREKER 2HE rental income received and receivable from tenants
N during the year.
EEBEDM Disaggregation of revenue
—EmEF —EF-=
2024 2023
FER FHET
HK$'000 HK$000
RE—FFEBER Recognised at a point in time:
EmiEEEEH Revenue from sales of products
— 28 - coatings 1,461,221 1,584,770
— & —inks 1,364,529 1,205,915
—HE — lubricants 323,580 344,282
—AERE R EA — car maintenance and other
{EITES chemical products 1,632 33,734
R—BRERA#ER Recognised over time:
RERERS Car maintenance service 2,800 37,795
EFERNEETE Revenue from contracts with
customers 3,153,762 3,206,496
VISR WA Rental income from properties 8,629 10,642
3,162,391 3,217,138
RIEZEFMNE ZH@T% ©  Geographical market based on
location of customers:
R A Chinese Mainland 3,062,260 3,113,792
BB Hong Kong 64,394 69,692
BINEEBFERE R Overseas (mainly including
B=x) countries in South East Asia) 35,737 33,654
3,162,391 3,217,138
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

A. Revenue (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Sales of products

Revenue from sales of products is recognised at
a point in time when control of the goods has
been transferred, depending on terms set out in
the contracts, being when the goods have been
delivered from the Group's factory or shipped to the
customer’s specific location (delivery). Transactions
and handling activities that occur before the customer
obtains control are considered as fulfilment activities.
Following the delivery, the customer has full discretion
to use and sell the goods and has the primary
responsibility on the timing of selling the goods and
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon
delivery.

Car maintenance service

Generally, the car maintenance services are completed
within the same day and there is no credit term
granted for these services. Revenue from the provision
of car maintenance service is recognised over time
which represents the Group’s right to invoice for
service performed.

The Group uses a practical expedient for not
disclosing the information including the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the
end of the reporting period as these sales or services
have an original expected duration of one year or less.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

B. Segment information
(a) Segment revenue and results

Information reported to and reviewed by the
executive directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"),
for the purpose of allocating resources to
segments and assessing their performance
focuses on nature of the Group’s businesses
and operations.

For management purposes, the Group’s
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments included four business divisions,
namely (i) coatings, (ii) inks, (iii) lubricants and
(iv) properties. These divisions are the basis on
which the Group reports its operating segments
information.

Principal activities of the Group's reportable
segments are as follows:

Coatings - manufacture of and trading in
coatings and related products

Inks - manufacture of and trading in
inks and related products

Lubricants - manufacture of and trading in
lubricants products

Properties - property investment and holding

of the Group's properties not
used for production plants,
central administration office,
and not used for other operating
segments, including but not
limited to properties for rental
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BER®
(a) DHEEXBEN¥ESE

(%)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

B. Segment information (continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results

(Continued)

In addition, the Group’s operation relating
to the manufacture of and trading in other
chemical products together with the business
engaging in trading of car maintenance
products and car maintenance services do not
meet the quantitative threshold for reportable
segment in both years. Accordingly, these
businesses were aggregated and presented in
‘others’ in the segment table in this note.

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment results represent the profit or (loss) for
the year by each segment without allocation of
share of result of associates, impairment loss
recognised on goodwill and intangible assets,
unallocated income, unallocated expenses
which mainly include central administration
expenses and directors’ salaries, and finance
costs. This is the information reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

B. 27 &R = B. Segment information (continued)
() P EEEBEREE (a) Segment revenue and results
(%) (Continued)
AEBREBEFEEE An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue and
EWMREENEED 2 results by reportable and operating segments
DEEEEREEDN for the year under review is as follows:
I
EER Vi
B HE boypd nE ) =) ik &a
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Elimination Consolidated
TR Tin TR FEn AR TAT AR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-E-ME+-R Year ended 31 December
St-ALEE 2024
PREEE Seqment revenue
EPANERE Revenue from contracts with
customers
HiME External sales 1461221 1364529 323,580 - 3,149,330 4,432 - 3,153,762
PEREE Inter-segment sales 36 28 435 - 699 - (699) -
MBS B External rental income - - - 8,629 8,629 - - 8,629
AERAEMA Inter-segment rental income - - - 348 348 - (348) -
st Total 1,461,257 1,364,757 324,015 8,977 3,159,006 4,432 (1,047) 3,162,391
£+ Results
nEEE Segment results 7219 77,199 9,536 (5,738) 88,216 (716) 195 87,695
NG+ Share of result of associates 96,024
AARHA Unallocated income 47,860
AAEER Unallocated expenses (55,844)
S ER Finance costs (60,048)
BHAAR Profit before taxation 115,687
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5. BXHEEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

B. 278&R# B. Segment information (continued)
(a) P EEXBERXEE (a) Segment revenue and results
(#&) (Continued)
BES )
B hE BRA S #; 0 i Fa
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants ~ Properties total Others  Elimination  Consolidated

Th Tin a1 Tin a1 Tin a1 T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ-E-=E+-F  Yearended 31 December 2023

=t-BLEE
PEEEE Seqment revenue
EPANESR Revenue from contracts with
customers
HiMHE External sales 1584770 1205915 344,082 - 3,134,967 71,529 - 3,006,496
AEREE Inter-segment sales 37 31 662 - 1,020 4 (1,024) -
HHRERA External rental income - - - 10,642 10,642 - - 10,642
AERBEHA Inter-segment rental income - - = 356 356 = (356) =
@t Total 1,584,807 1,206,236 344,944 10,998 3,146,985 71533 (1,380) 3,217,138
£+ Results
PERE Segment results 57,250 37,861 10,849 30869 136,829 (44,759) - 92,070
NG+ Share of result of associates 94,672
HERENEEERR Impairment loss recognised on
BFiE goodwill and intangible assets (57,504)
AARMA Unallocated income 7,777
AARER Unallocated expenses (54,629)
BIRER Finance costs (63,521)
BRATAH Profit before taxation 83,865
WE S BEEHE e Inter-segment sales/rental income are charged
UG A BRI ER ST SN & at the similar terms as external sales/rental
WA ZIEFRABE - income.
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5. EXBER2EER = 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

B. 27 &R = B. Segment information (continued)
(b) Ht&EH (b) Other information
REtEH BRI HE Amounts included in the measurement of

BERBIETYIEE segment profit or loss or segment assets:

FEL Gk
2H e by % h Ht ¥ &8
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Corporate Consolidated

Tin Tirn Tin Tin TR TiET TiEn TiEn
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000

BZ-3-ME+-A Year ended 31 December
St-ALEE 2024

ERHEERE(MEE)  Additions to non-current assets

(note) 13,180 31,513 210 20,266 65,169 - 3,032 68,201
% BEREEZITE  Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 42319 54,163 394 1,007 101,490 106 2,309 103,905
B EERH Amortisation of intangible assets 1,900 132 - - 2,0 - - 2,032

L5 REMERFERES Impairment loss recognised on
EEBXBUTZEEA  trade and other receivables

HEFRTE under ECL model, net 7499 4,745 4 - 12,248 - - 12,248
HE/HisE  BER  Netloss on disposalshwritten
B off of property, plant and
equipment 467 239 28 948 1,682 2 1 1,704
RENZAAEER Fair value loss on investment
properties - - - 11,739 1,739 - - 11,739
HENBAREE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - 1,036 1,036

BEFERE(RBERR)  Provision for (reversal of)

allowance for slow-moving

inventories 1,708 1,295 (675) - 2,328 (6) - 2322
G Written off of inventories 2,444 1,449 132 - 4,025 - - 4,025
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5. BXHEEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

B. 278&R# B. Segment information (continued)
(b) Et&ER (%) (b) Other information (Continued)
BES o
B ik bEbcp] S @t - % Fa
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Corporate  Consolidated

Tin Tién TFibn Tién T Fitn Tién Fin
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BEZECSE+CH  Yearended 31 December 2023
=t-ALEE

SERBEERE(HEE)  Additions to non-current assets

(note) 24,296 21,478 1316 8271 55,361 1,121 268 62,756
% BEREEZINE  Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 48,459 55,224 4,440 1,070 109,193 12,544 2,329 124,066
N Amortisation of intangible assets 1,900 134 = = 2,034 829 = 2,863

BSREMERFENES Impairment loss (reversal of
[EEBXENTZEHA  impaiment loss) recognised
FESEOREEEAD)  ontrade and other receivables

38 under ECL model, net 1156 (1113) (135) . ©) - 55 37)
% BERAEZZED Impaiment loss recognised on

HEFE property, plant and equipment = = = = = 14,967 = 14967
HERENEECERZ  Impairment loss recognised on

HEESE goodwill and intangible assets - - - - - 57,504 - 57,504

HE /H#ENE  BER  Netloss (gain) on disposal
b FEE MR wiitten off of property, plant

and equipment 520 469 26 (10) 1,005 40 (108) 937
REMFELRENE Fair value gain on investment
properties - - - (27,891) (27,891) - - (27,891)

EEGERE(ERBRE)  Provision for (reversal of)

allowance for slow-moving

inventories 436 (930) 169 - (325) (31) - (356)
fERE Written off of inventories 463 3930 182 - 4,575 183 - 4758
Mz - ERBEENBREE Note: Non-current assets excluded those related to
HE - -e@mIHE- goodwill, financial instruments, interests in
REEE DA 2 associates, amount due from an associate and
= U — deferred tax assets.
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5. EXBER2EER = 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

B. 27 &R = B. Segment information (continued)

() HREBERASHELL () An analysis of the Group’s segment assets and
DI PO BEEER segment liabilities by reportable and operating
SEBESITHT segments is as follows:

2 he R ng T2RAEM Hit &&
Reportable
segment

Coatings Inks Lubricants Properties total Others  Consolidated

TiEn TiEn T Thxn Thrn Tin TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

WZBZME+=A  At31December 2024

Sr=f
BE Assets
RN HEE Reportable segment assets 1,223,248 1,299,552 184,338 239,441 2,946,579 2,267 2,948,846
EURELE Deferred tax assets 2,49
EAPREE Other unallocated assets 3,124,436
GRBAE Consolidated total assets 6,075,778
=l Liabilities
N2RLEAR Reportable seqment liabilities 712,493 587,464 47,497 1,576 1,349,030 1,875 1,350,905
b Taxation payables 30,888
ELHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 33,304
EMRIEAE Other unallocated liabilities 849,199
GABAR Consolidated total liabilities 2,264,296
RZBZ=£+ZF  At31December 2023
=t-A
BE Assets
NERNERE Reportable segment assets 1,289,373 1,293,008 209,107 242476 3,033,964 12,805 3,046,769
Eithade Deferred tax assets 2777
AP REAE Other unallocated assets 3,369,531
GAlRE Consolidated total assets 6,419,027
8 Liabilities
NEFNERE Reportable segment liabilities 644,976 508,774 44,049 3,105 1,200,904 31,899 1,232,803
iRzt Taxation payables 28,270
EUHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 38,018
EhRokEE Other unallocated liabilities 1,204,834

HRBERE Consolidated total liabilities 2,503,925
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. EEHERTEER @
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
B. Segment information (continued)

(d) For the purposes of monitoring segment
performances and allocating resources between
segments:

all assets are allocated to operating
segments other than deferred tax assets,
short-term bank deposits with original
maturity more than three months, bank
balances and cash, derivative financial
instruments, equity instruments at FVTOCI,
financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments
at amortised cost, debt instruments at
FVTOCI, interests in associates, amount
due from an associate and other
unallocated assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than taxation payables,
deferred tax liabilities, derivative financial
instruments, certain borrowings and other
unallocated liabilities.
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5. EXBER2EER = 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

B. 27 &R = B. Segment information (continued)
(e) WEERH (e) Geographical information
REEZ EXEBRIER The Group's revenue based on geographical
=l B L vl = i location of customers has been presented in
S5(@) 275! o BrA BN Note 5(a). Other than the Chinese Mainland and
REBIN - BRI A Hong Kong, no further analysis by individual
RAEHRE - BLEE countries is presented for overseas countries
KRz AbREZ2® because such information is not used for
TEHNE R 2 (8751 B K &Y internal reporting and, thus, it is not available.

HE—FZDH

REEIEREEERE The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
BEIJHEBMESTE by geographical location of assets is presented as
wan R (&) follows (note):
—EME —E-=4F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R i (BT EE ) Chinese Mainland
(place of domicile) 1,207,804 1,279,978
B Hong Kong 111,205 129,011
1,319,009 1,408,989
Mz ERBEETRE Note: Non-current assets excluded interests in
JrA /NI B associates, amount due from an associate,
7o FE U — ] B deferred tax assets and financial instruments.

RAIFRIE -~ REH
REERERT

/E; o
() EEXEF (f) Major customers
REEFER  A5E No individual customer of the Group has
REEBIEF BRIAS contributed over 10% of the revenue of the
BLXEHEIR10% ° Group for both years.
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6. EEFMRESME 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

BNREMN T (ZTE==4F:7 The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2023:
fOE=ZEZMEMT : seven) directors were as follows:
ynEe HifrEz BUHHTES
Non-
executive
Executive directors director Independent non-executive directors
£18 £ )it -1 il 5 HE AME CE] Aif HERAR
Yau Ku  HoPak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Ching Wong  YeeDao,  Chuen, Management
Tsz Hin Kwan ~ SaiHou  ChiShing Man¢ Yuk'  Lawrence Patrick Total ~ executives

Tén Tén TR  TEr  TEr  TEn  TEn TR TEx  Tin
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000

(Hike)
(Note )
BEZSCMETCAST-ALEE  Yearended 31 December 2024
o Fees - - - - 155 45 200 200 600 -
Efife Other emoluments
EE RAMER (Ha) Salaries and other benefits (note (2] 231 3,640 2,666 1525 - - - - 008 8982
BiEra (i) Discretionary bonus (note (5) mn 531 %7 - - - - - 1,029 4,361
RN ELR Retrement benefitscheme
contributions 39 336 26 - - - - - m 623
fesg Total emoluments 267 4,507 3299 1,525 155 4 200 200 12,602 14,466
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(#) AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
B FH1EE I S TS
Non-
executive
Executive directors director Independent non-executive directors
£13 £ it S5 I A @l B fBEEAR
Ku Yee Ho Pak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Wong Dao, Chuen, Management
TszHin Kwan SaiHou  ChiShing Yok Lawrence Patrick Total  executives
Tkt  TEr  TAm  TEr  TAr  TEn TRt Thn ThL
HKF000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK§'000
(fskc)
(Note ¢)
BEZZCZETZA=T-AILEE  Yearended 31 December 203
i Fees = - - - 20 0 0 600 -
i Other emoluments
FEREMRA (Ha) Salaries and other benefits (note (&)~~~ 2,201 3139 2588 1494 480 - - 992 10864
Wiz (Rizk) Discrefionary bonus (note o) 107 966 797 - - - - 1870 3883
FIRRRIETEIRS Retrement benefitscheme
contributions 310 290 239 - - - - 839 854
Hesg Total emoluments 2618 4395 364 1494 630 0 M BA 1560

F HAEARRBYIIENTES ' B
ZENF=A -+ HBER

e EZEAARRBIYIERTE
£ H-E-_MFE=A=+=H
HBAERL

NERMRAITESZMEER SR
BEREEARBRAEEEHR
WS o A EFIRIFAITESE R
BIARTES M TR LK
FERARRIESTRBREMR 2R
% o

# Resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 22 March 2024

© Appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 22 March 2024

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors shown above were
mainly for their services as directors and consultant of the
Company.
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6. ESFHREESHNE

(%)

BEE

(a) BE_ZE-_NMF+=-—A=+—H
WHFE  UEMBESZHFSR
H th 18 A8 5 H E7H € 960,000
BIL(ZZF = =4 : 960,000/%
JT) e

(b) MIBEANDEFELEES
BRI KA L5 G st BURR

E o

(0 EHEEEEAEETRER
HEIXKRBENMSEBIEEER
RE{THRABRERBEMESS
e -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

AN

D EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The directors’ salaries and other benefits above included
leases rentals of HK$960,000 (2023: HK$960,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics during the year.

Mr. Ip Kwan acts as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
and his emoluments disclosed above included those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2023: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of
the remaining two (2023: three) individuals were as follows:

™
—EC-NE —T-=F
2024 2023
FBT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
e MEMEA Salaries and other benefits 3,551 5,784
BB AEAL Discretionary bonus 4,061 2,648
RIRBEA Retirement benefits 224 528
7,836 8,960

EMEFEA > NEBYERAR
RAEFERSNERHFAL(BRE
BT EMAREELE R
MMAZR S B 2 B & sk BER AR (8 o
AN REARREEEMEFE
NS -

Hipfi (ZF-_=F : 3) AL 2
MEsEDT

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors of the Company and five highest paid
individuals, including directors, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. In addition, no director of the Company waived any
emoluments during both years.

The emoluments of the remaining two (2023: three)
individuals were within the following bands:

—E-OE —EF-=

2024 2023

BEAR PN

No. of No. of

employees employees
2,500,001 7T 23,000,000 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

BT 1 2
3,000,001%7c%3,500,000  HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

BT - 1
5,000,001&7C%5,500,000 HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000

BT 1 _

2 3
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. EEFMRESME 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(%) AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
THEBAS(MBEEARAESE) The emoluments of the management executives (excluding
ZHe&HBEWT : the directors of the Company) were within the following
bands:

—EmEF —E-=F

2024 2023

EEAH EE AR

No. of No. of

employees employees

0772 1,000,00078 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 - 2
1,000,001 7C£ 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

JT 1 _
1,500,001 7c22,000,000/% HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

JT 2 2
2,000,001787c22,500,000/% HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

JT 1 1
2,500,001/ 72 3,000,0007% HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

T 1 2
3,000,001 C£3,500,000%% HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

7T - 1
5,000,001 £5,500,0007% HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000

7T 1 -

6 8

7. Hib A LR HEAarlk 7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER

mREE GAINS AND LOSSES
(a) AEEZEMBABTE : (@) The Group’s other income comprises:
—EMEF —Z==
2024 2023
FTHERT FHET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FRUA Interest income 23,082 47,239
ERAT e B (Bt 3E) Government grants (note) 19,139 23,232
LASERABZ 2 & BE Dividend income from financial
2 IRBUA assets at FVTPL 25,547 17,855
ZREEMITHRA Consignment products processing
income 10,830 -
Hith Others 12,337 16,283
90,935 104,609
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Halg A AR E AU 7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
mREE e GAINS AND LOSSES (continued)

(b) AEBEZEMYE(ER)B (b)  The Group's other gains (losses) comprises:
7=
—E-NF —F-=
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
EINE LR R R S TESEZ Net exchange loss arising from
R H 518 foreign currency balances and
transactions (13,246) (18,656)
YE - BE MR 2SR Impairment loss recognised on
A EE property, plant and equipment - (14,967)

BAREFFAEMEEUE Impairment loss reversed
MRS AR 2 EE TR (recognised) on debt instruments
RIBEEEEAERTZ  at FVTOCI and amortised cost
2B E (FER)MERE © under ECL model, net of reversal

HBR B [l 65 (640)
Z 5N EMEWFRIENTER Impairment loss (recognised)
FEEBRLERATZE reversed on trade and other
(FER ) B EIREEE - receivables under ECL model,
MR #E net of reversal (12,248) 37
BARERABRZ Fair value (loss) gain on financial
CRMEENANE assets at FVTPL
(B8 W (1,618) 7,172
WEMERE(EE)IKRE Fair value (loss) gain on investment
(FizE14) properties (Note 14) (11,739) 27,891
e WEYE - BEK&  Netloss on disposal/written off of
R FEE property, plant and equipment (1,704) (937)
HEGEBITERENYZ  Gain on disposal of investment in
debt instrument 848 -
EAKRIEREAAMIRES  Gain relating to termination of
lease contracts 37 553
HEHE A AR EE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
(f7E31) (Note 31) (1,036) =
(40,641) 453
W ZEeBEEEHE WK Note: The amounts mainly represent other tax benefits and
T B H A B U B R Bk encouragement received from the government for
B - PAZHFE A B b 2 local business development, employment support and
BER  REIZFRAE research and development activities in the Chinese
EE) o ZESBEBHGT Mainland. The amounts were fully credited to profit or
ABZE-ZT-_NFR-F loss for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

—=#+=A=+-HAL
R -
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Z=T-F+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. MKXEHR

8. FINANCE COSTS

—EmEF —E2-=F
2024 2023
FBT Fi&IT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
RITEEZFE Interest on bank borrowings 61,689 65,365
TEEE Bz FE Interest on lease liabilities 727 1,728
62,416 67,093
SO EWIEE ALTZEETR  Reclassification of net gain from
WEMENR 2 FIREHRYESE  hedging reserve on interest rate
R EE L2 F swaps designated as cash flow
hedges of floating rate debts (2,368) (3,572)
60,048 63,521

9. BR®LATALR

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

—EmEF —E2-=F
2024 2023
FBT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BELAT AR T AT (5 A)  Profit before taxation has been arrived
T A S IABIZEEL at after charging (crediting):
Y BERZEITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 103,905 124,066
B RFERBETER Less: capitalised in inventories (60,474) (61,015)
43,431 63,051
BINA - BIEESZHM Staff costs, including directors’
(BI5E6) remuneration (Note 6) 505,230 528,217
B RTFEERBETER Less: capitalised in inventories (177,283) (171,364)
327,947 356,853
MEAERE Short-term leases expense 4,945 5,578
& E Amortisation of intangible assets 2,032 2,863
Z B AT BN & Auditor’s remuneration 1,445 1,700
ERBIEERANZFEKA  Cost of inventories recognised as cost
(FF=E) of sales (note) 2,418,745 2,434,868

Mz : REBE-_ZT-_WFE+_A=+—
AIEFE BRBHEEKRARZH
ST BB R 42,322,000 T (=
T =4 : BEIH 356,000
7 ) R F B8 A4,025,0007% T
— T — =4 :4,758,000/87T) °

ERLIKERRLAT —T_NFEFR

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, provision
of allowance on slow-moving inventories amounting to
HK$2,322,000 (2023: reversal of allowance of HK$356,000)
and written off of inventories amounting to HK$4,025,000
(2023: HK$4,758,000) were recognised as cost of sales.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. Fi18 10. TAXATION
—E-NEF —F-=
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BVERT I8 — B A3 Current tax — Chinese Mainland
EMSE ([ REMER]) Enterprise income tax (“EIT") 14,690 7,974
TEHHE Withholding tax 114 395
BNEAFR IE — /G40 Current tax — overseas 556 1,000
15,360 9,369
WA FERRERE Overprovision in respect of prior years
— R A — Chinese Mainland (1,115) (4,999)
14,245 4,370
EIEFETE ST H (%) (Ff5E28) Deferred tax charge (credit) (Note 28)
BE Hong Kong (19) (30)
B A i Chinese Mainland 5,767 18,929
5,748 18,899
19,993 23,269
BEEBFEGH MRS - 2EKE Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
ERE_B 88T R MNER Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
825% MM KRR - MHBMBE=-A group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
8 78 7T B 4 T 4R 16.5 % B B R ER HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
o PREFGEHMARFNERE entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
BEMY A S 4 12 16.5% ) B8 —Ft regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate on 16.5%.
ARAEEZRA  BIMNEHMRR The directors of the Company considered the amount
FlFTE ke &5  HireMBERE involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
MEWTEKX - ZMEFENTS rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
BB IR b ERB R FIA16.5% statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
E - on the estimated assessable profit for both years.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. B8 (»)

iR B R RS BE RO RIS
BOREIEHD - = E KB AR
ZHEE-FE\E-A-BEH
25% °

AEEETRF RS ZHE
RAFEEBRIERBRI RN ER
BN BT E 2 SR A D
¥ AR -_—Fx-FT=F
FEZE15%ZFBHE o hBEME
FISFE R AZERISERER
ZEH B AR FHRERE -

BRI E BB ER T B At
BRREEZFBMARKESETFH
A B ARIE ST \F— A
— BB BREL 2 i F R 5 R 2 AR S
RZHIE - REDSEMSHEE
EBIRE - TR E B A2 F Sk
ANBET% (ZEZ=F : 7%) 28
KRB - RARKE THEH
A B B8 A B R BN 2 3 I R R 2
B BHERTEINFL - WHBEFIF A
RS IR ZIEBEES % (ZE ==
F 1 5%) 2 BIRBMNTENTL ©

REMBDEREBEELE ZHIBTIZE
FARDAER ZBITHRETHE -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

10. TAXAT'ON (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland is 25%
from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the Chinese
Mainland are either eligible as High and New Technology
Enterprise or operating in encouraged industries in Western
Region of China, and are entitled to an income tax rate of
15% from 2021 to 2030. The PRC's EIT has been provided
for these subsidiaries after taking these tax incentives into
account.

The withholding tax mainly represented taxation recognised
in respect of interest income derived from loans to
subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland and dividends to be
distributed from profits earned by certain subsidiaries in
the Chinese Mainland starting from 1 January 2008. The
withholding tax is recognised for interest income derived
from the Chinese Mainland at tax rate of 7% (2023: 7%)
and dividends to be distributed from profits earned by
certain subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland in accordance
with the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the
PRC that requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% (2023:
5%) for dividend upon the distribution of such profits to
the shareholders.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. %18 ()
4 o B 7 804 Bt 4T 440 I 0 2 65 40

1 0. TAXAT' 0 N (Continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

s before taxation as follows:
—E-ME ZE=F
2024 2023
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
B 75 AT A A Profit before taxation 115,687 83,865
RS E25% Tax charge at the domestic income tax
(ZZZ=%F : 25%):tE rate of 25% (2023: 25%) (note)
TR sz (B L) 28,922 20,966
DA FAZ 2 B2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 19,144 58,909
BARBIBMAZBBEE Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purposes (25,791) (32,531)
FEMGBE S DR EE 2GR E  Tax effect of share of result of
associates (24,006) (23,668)
FERTIBEEZRETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 39,998 28,100
FAZAIAERRIERIE 2  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
g2 previously not recognised (14,309) (26,312)
ATHWBARZEEFMESE  Effect of income tax on concessionary
FTiSfiz & rates for certain subsidiaries (9,149) (3,301)
RoKm MBI 2 2 Effect of withholding tax on
undistributed profits 6,811 6,213
BT SRR Overprovision in respect of prior years (1,115) (4,999)
At Others (512) (108)
Nz Taxation for the year 19,993 23,269

BIRE - ANHPRS BB R T e AR E AR
REDXBAERDEER 2T

Note: The domestic income tax rate is a tax rate in the jurisdiction
where the operation of the Group is substantially based.
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1M1.RE

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

11.DIVIDENDS
FAERBIRE ZRE Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
—EmEF T =F
2024 2023
FEx T
HK$'000 HK$'000
—Z I ERERR S FRZ37EL Interim dividend for 2024 of HK3 cents
(ZBE—=F: =% (2023: interim dividend for 2023 of
PR EARS S R 258 ) HK2 cents) per share 16,882 11,370
“E-_—FHARKEEMI0  Final dividend for 2023 of HK10 cents
BN =T =4 : (2023: final dividend for 2022 of
- —FHRKRE RS HK5 cents) per share
L) 56,848 28,425
—T - —FRRIREERTS  Special dividend for 2022 of HK75
el cents per share - 426,363
73,730 466,158

BREREZFNRENBRFEE
WA -

REREHRE - RAREEEE
HE-_T-_MWF+=-A=+—H
IEFEIREHRKRE S 11BL
—Z-ZF 108)  ALES
#961,431,0008 L (Z = =F :
56,848,000/ 7T ) ° HARAR BB RF
BREADNREERRBFAS L
HOAE -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

The dividends declared and set out above were settled in
full in the respectively years.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK11
cents (2023: HK10 cents) per share with total amount of
approximately HK$61,431,000 (2023: HK$56,848,000) has
been recommended by the directors of the Company and is
subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. 3R ER 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
RRTIRREG 2 FRER R #E The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
BANTIER NI BEETE attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

—E-mE S
2024 2023
FEx THT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR ESRERREERF Earnings for the purposes of
Z &R calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share:
N R IR R FE (1 7N 4F 4 ) Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 96,882 86,623
ki -4
Number of shares
TR T
‘000 ‘000
ARFTESRERREEEF Weighted average number of shares
Z hnE g R s (P EE) for the purpose of calculating basic
and diluted earnings per share (note) 564,885 568,484
Mz #E2=FT-—MF+=-A=+—H Note: The weighted average number of shares for the purpose
WHFE -  ARFIESRERRE of calculating basic and diluted earning per share has been
SRR 2 EFHREE SER adjusted for the repurchase of shares, which are held as
R (B EREFERD) EHSA treasury shares during the year ended 31 December 2024.
2 o
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(ZE=ZTZF+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.9% - RERRE

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT
B
RER
AELH  BEWE  BENE  HOERR nE  HERHE  REIR ait
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Leased Owned  and office Motor ~ Plantand Construction
land  properties  properties  equipment vehicles  machinery in progress Total
Tk T T T L T T Tk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B& cost
R-E-=%#-f-H At 1 January 2023 148,013 86,955 846,432 211,810 21,908 769,158 7548 2,091,824
EBRR Currency realignment (2,551) (1,119 (12,565) (3,248) (339) (15,701) (269) (35,792)
ENNE Reclassifications - - - 6,507 - 479 (6,986) -
BERRENZ Transferred from investment
property - - 6,295 - - - - 6,295
e Additions - 27,854 607 6,981 3,009 21,628 1,294 61,373
HE /s Disposal/written off - (49,564) (19) (1,528) (2,946) (7,844) = (61,901)
it At 31 December 2023
=t-H 145,462 64,126 840,750 220,522 21,632 767,720 1587 2,061,799
Era% Currency realignment (5,447) (952)  (26,157) (6,156) (692 (29.721) (1321)  (70,446)
BN Reclassifications - - 37,324 1,149 - 481 (38,954) -
UngE—RMB A (H330) Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 30) 2,937 - - 131 - 1,283 30,046 34,397
RE Additions - 2,470 329 3913 2,148 24,879 12,753 46,492
e /i Disposaliwritten off = (17,180) (3,149) (3,081) 2,131) (11,485) - (37,026)
HERBAR(KE31)  Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) - (3880) - (14580) (775) (8,610) - (W95
AZSZRE+ZA At 31 December 2024
=1-H 142,952 24,584 849,097 201,792 20,182 744 547 4111 1,987,265
ER{LLISEERLT —T-NFEEFRH
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B

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (Continued)

fh
RER
AELH  BEWE  BENE  BOAERR e HEREE  REIR fit
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Leased Owned  and office Motor  Plantand Construction
land  properties  properties  equipment vehicles  machinery in progress Total
T T L T L T T Tk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& BERAE DEPRECIATION,
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R-S-=%-f-H At 1 January 2023 33,283 48,306 299,497 155,461 15,044 409,948 - 961,539
EURE Currency realignment (615) (529) (5,264) (2,034) (141) (9,298) - (17,881)
KENE Depreciation for the year 3,162 18,648 25,215 17,446 1436 58,159 - 124,066
E /s E s Eliminated on disposal/written
off - (42,467) (18) (1,408) (2,670) (6,636) = (53,199)
FRREEE Impairment loss for the year - 10,250 - 863 81 3,773 - 14,967
i St = At 31 December 2023
==F 35,830 34,208 319,430 170,328 13,750 455,946 - 1,029,492
EiRE Currency realignment (1,415) (439) (11,991) (4,650) (433) (19,641) - (38,569)
KEfE Depreciation for the year 3,169 7,503 25,931 11,526 1518 54,258 - 103,905
HE /R Eliminated on disposal/
written off - (5177) (1,390) (2,836) (1,607) (10,602) - (21,612)
HERBAARER Eliminated on disposal of
(RysE31) subsidiaries (Note 31) - (23890 - (146%6) (775) (8,610) - (47.950)
RZE-mE+-A At 31 December 2024
=t-A 584 12215 331980 159682 12453 471351 - 1,025,265
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZEZMETZA At 31 December 2024
=t-H 105,368 12,369 S17117 2,110 7,129 273,1% 4M 962,000
i St At 31 December 2023
=t-H 109,632 29918 521,320 50,194 7,882 311,774 1587 1,032,307
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WEFTLZ W - BE R EEE
(TREERTR) L ERARN
TEEFE -

HELH NHE 7 WEpFHTE

HEmE NHEFHAE

BEMH M EFHsk2.5% -
R EHE

Gk EERPEDR 45%ZF25%

B 9%Z£25%

W5 Rtzs 5%Z20%

AEEGHETREELEM([R
SEABM]) 2R ESRIAET
AR - BEAKERENGZ
BRENRE19

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.9% - BERRXRE =

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the remaining term of the lease

Leased properties Over the term of lease

Owned properties Over the shorter of the term of the lease
or2.5%

Furniture, fixtures and office ~ 4.5% to 25%

equipment
Motor vehicles 9% t0 25%
Plant and machinery 5% to 20%

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of several
groups of cash generating units (“CGUs") for the purpose
of impairment assessment. Information about the Group's
impairment assessment is set out in Note 19.
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13.9% - RERZE» 13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQ UIPMENT (Continued)

AEBEREHEA The Group as lessee
FEHEEE(GFAYE K Right-of-use assets (included in property,
ER®ZE) plant and equipment)
HE i HEWE &5t
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
FAT FH T FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZBE-MEF As at 31 December 2024
+=A=+—H
RES%E Carrying amounts 105,368 12,369 117,737
N-TBE-=% As at 31 December 2023
+=—A=+—H
RES % Carrying amounts 109,632 29,918 139,550
BE-ZE-@F For the year ended
+ZA=+—HLFE 31December 2024
EEH Depreciation charge 3,169 7,503 10,672
HGHATAERB MY Expense relating to short-term
GEIE)) leases (note (a)) 4,945
HERSRHBARE Total cash outflow for leases 13,496
NEFEREEE Additions to right-of-use assets
(M 3£ (b)) (note (b)) 2,470
BE-T_—= For the year ended
+=ZA=+—BLEE 31 December 2023
nEER Depreciation charge 3,162 18,648 21,810
BT E R ZMY  Expense relating to short-term
(P 5E(a)) leases (note (a)) 5,578
HERS B Total cash outflow for leases 25,224
REFERAERE Additions to right-of-use
(Bt =E(b)) assets (note (b)) 27,854
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(ZE=ZTZF+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.9% - BERRXRE =

AEBEAEBA 2

EREEEGIFAYE - K
B R &RE) (4
P i -

() ZANEEFREIBESREELHE
EHFI M EHAE  EhAEE
HEIFESHERBRBHEERE
REHE - RN_TE_WFR_-ZET
—=%¥+-A=+—0: EAE
BREEFENEHESHEAE
NHEBEERAERSY 2 RBEE
HE -

(b) ZEREBERFIZNBEMR

B AEEE2,470,000/8 (=
T =4 : 27,854,000 L) °

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (Continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and plant and machinery, of which the Group
applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of staff quarters. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases in which practical expedient
was applied is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term leases expense disclosed above.

The amount includes addition of right-of-use assets from
new leases entered amounting to HK$2,470,000 (2023:
HK$27,854,000).
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.9% - RERZE» 13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND

AEBEAEBA 2

FERAREE(GGFAYE - K
BEREE)#E)
REERMEFES G EREER
ABRENEEUARETF - BRI
HEAHZEEREFHNT1F
EI5FE(ZBE=F  15£515%)
(WomEEA AR 1) - HE KK
ERIER « WER S TR RIE
o PAEEE M E F H R A Al
HEMRER  AEEEREHZ
EE ' WETEHMRFNTZE
/H\ﬂ °

o REEBEEETIEET
(ERTELERMMAEN) R}
REBT - ARBRZFYFEs
(PIEHEBEHE ) 2 EREE -
AEBEEREBZEMERE N
—EPRANFIA - ZFEEWEZ
ME B D RN FRIAR AT

EMOER - TEIRZ5 -

o RZZEZNFE+=ZA=+—
H ERRAEEE{E3,918,000
BT R AR & E 12,369,000
BRT(ZE-_=%: HEARG
42,859,000/ T R ARREFEREEE
29,918,000/ 7L) - R FAAFE
WHEEERRERIN  HEHR
WAEEIMNEMZL - HEEENS
FREEEEA -

EQU'PMENT (Continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases plant and machinery and
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 to 15 years (2023: 1 to 15 years)
with no extension or termination options. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings,
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located,
and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$13,918,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$12,369,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: lease liabilities of HK$42,859,000
and related right-of-use assets of HK$29,918,000). The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. REY 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AEBRBLLHEEEHEETHA
ERRE HEeREsAXMN - B
ERRENHEEREREHEFHA
B EMEERK o

HRAEEEHUEREE AR Z
Dt EREE  RASEYER
ZEHEZHMELINERR o %
SHE R QA BT R EEER
&/ REBAREEFHERIRE
BMERZEERE -

The Group leases out various offices and warehouses under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
of offices and warehouses contain lease payments that are
fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated
in the respective functional currencies of group entities.
The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end
of lease term.

FHT
HK$'000

ARE FAIR VALUE
RZEBE_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 195,710
B Currency realignment (2,677)
RNICEE I FEE Increase in fair value, net 27,891
HEZME  BERXE Transferred to property, plant and equipment (6,295)
NE Additions 8,271
R-ZZTE-_=F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 222,900
Bk Currency realignment (8,435)
RAERDFEE Decrease in fair value, net (11,739)
NE Additions 20,266
- Disposals (541)
RZZE-_ME+-H=+—H At 31 December 2024 222,451

REBEE-ZT-_MF+=-_A=+—H
LtEFE REVEIABZE

(BABIEEIEFEEE)11,739,000%8
T(ZE =4 REBWEZFHE

27,891,000 70) Est ARG B
NEM 2R SR 2 E A K&
BB &R -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

The change in fair value, being a net unrealised loss, on
investment properties amounted to HK$11,739,000 (2023:
a net unrealised gain of HK$27,891,000) for the year ended
31 December 2024 is included in “other gains and losses”
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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(2T +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. BEWHE » 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

REBERTREMENR ST _HF

—E-=F+=-A=t+—HzZA
BT IR RS B R E 2 B
AERBEAEMN RS BRET
ZHEET ASEEEEHREE
BINELEMBEEE  BUEE
A ERT RABR 2 6 A B o &K
SEERETEFRANARESE
HAEER  UREBLREMEAR
BEESRA -

AREBREMER_ZS_MNER—
T+ -_A=+—RHZ@HE]
FREELBREETE  REELy
E¥EBRATREHET2EFEN
BERATAZ A B BHER Sk fE
BRAET R ERERNE TS
e WHRERBEERRAEL
HE R - BEELBCAEENEN
B 7 SR E A BT S AT R R
5 o WK Ty AR A (A3t B 2 $B 1
MELBAT S A BEASRABE

.

REHIEZ R AER  MEZ&
SERERERBRNAE

AEBURBERFEALZKE
MEZRRESBRARBERAE
3R - MEFEHEBAREHES
A e

The fair values of Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis
of valuations carried out at the end of the reporting period
by independent qualified professional valuers, which are not
connected with the Group. The management of the Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management of the Group reports the findings
to the directors of the Company semi-annually to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the investment
properties.

The valuation of Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 was arrived at by using direct
comparison approach assuming sale of the properties in
their existing states with the benefit of vacant possession
and by making reference to comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market, or by using the income
approach taking into account the current market rent of
the property interest with due provision for any reversionary
income potential. The direct comparison approach is
based on market observable recent transactions of similar
properties in similar location. The income approach is
based on market observable recent rental income of similar
properties in similar locations.

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties
situated in Hong Kong and the Chinese Mainland are
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There were
no transfers into or out of Level 3 during both years.
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14. EWE =)
TREIWA=ZZ_WFE+ A
=t+t—HERZ=ZZFE=-_=F+=A
=—t+—BEBNNEEZSESREY
¥ AnE(LERMERZHE
Rt R AEE) - AR ARER
ERBEHASE 2 A BREEE
T2 ARBEERZER -

BRRA=-B=IF
TZA=t-HZARE  AAERH
Description and

fair value as at Fair value
31 December 2024 hierarchy

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.

ELBERAREED
EER EXBEERGAYE a2 BE
Relationship of
Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value

NNEBZBRAE2TE  £3%
=T #%57,250,0008 7T
(ZZ =% :9,042,000
BT

A certain portion of the Level 3
27th Floor of Fortis
Tower, Hong Kong
HK$7,250,000 (2023:
HK$9,042,000)

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

BRLEBE BRER  STARERFEATSEEN STAREEMABEA
MTHEREL2RE BHBEE - U R K BlREAME -
A5 A tER s HibERIR X (Flak -

ALBHERS - Bk BE - BRSE))
NFEELHR10,2008TE
FBEHRI7I00ET(=F
Z=%F: 5F¥HR12,700%
TEFFEHR21,70087T) ©

Direct comparison Price per square feet, using A slight increase in
method assuming sale market direct comparable the price per square
in their existing states and taking into account of feet will significantly
and by reference location and other individual increase the fair
to comparable factors such as size, building value.
sales transactions facilities, levels, age of
as available in the building, etc., which is
relevant market. ranging from HK$10,200/

sq.ft to HK$17,100/sq.ft
(2023: HK$12,700/sq.ft to
HK$21,700/5q.1t).
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

BERR=Z=MF ELBRBAYEED
TZAZt+t-RZAAE  AAERH AERS EXELBZEGARE fEZEE
Description and Relationship of
fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value
fIRpBEEREIMT2  F34% BEEERE  BRER BT AABRRATSERT  BTHREREARA
5,990,000/ 7 RTHERELRE BUHBEE - WAt B R BEREDNE
(ZZTZ=%:6,713,000 M5 LA fER HipERIR R (FlmA) - 1
v AEHRHEERS ° FRiE - BE  BRE))N
FTHYEFRL560BTES
FHR5,6808L(Z2==
F: GTHRSIA0BTES
F75K6,500/87T) ©
Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase
in Jiangmen City, method assuming sale market direct comparable in the price per
Guangdong Province, in their existing states and taking into account of square meter will
the PRC HK$5,990,000 and by reference location and other individual significantly increase
(2023: HK$6,713,000) to comparable factors such as size, building the fair value.
sales transactions facilities, levels, age of
as available in the building, etc., which is
relevant market. ranging from HK$4,560/

sg.m to HK$5,680/5g.m
(2023: HK$5,940/5g.m to
HK$6,500/sq.m).
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14. BEWHE » 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

HERR-B-nE BEABEEGAYEAMN
TZA=t-B2ARE  AAERE HERE EXBLREDARE fEZBE
Description and Relationship of
fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value
i El FEARBRRLI 3R WAL gRtkI%E (\BABTARTSHESERA ()T5BABTAAES
Z TEW3133,055,000 BERERER/ % MSEHA AL REE - I HARKERS AR
BL(ZTZ=F: BRI G ER M AR EMENERG  E-
141,977,0007%7T) SRNFE - Lot AN BFRIG  BE
S BREBWAG BRE))NTEAGTAAR  ()EAMEEEHASA
REERME - 4SETEAGTAKI49  BREQAE-

BT(ZE=%: EBNT
BASERKISOBETES
AEEHKI58ETT) o

(VERMEHE  6%(ZF==

F:6%)

Industrial property in Level 3 Income approach taking (i) Market rent per square (i) A slight increase
Pudong District, Zhang into account the net meter per month, using in the market rent
Jiang, Shanghai, the PRC rental income of the market direct comparable per square meter
HK$133,055,000 (2023: property derived from and taking into account of per month will
HK$141,977,000) the existing lease location and other individual significantly increase

and/or achievable in factors such as size, building the fair value.

the existing market facilities, levels, age of

with due allowance building, etc., which is (i) A slight increase in

for the reversionary ranging from HK$145/ the capitalisation

income potential of sq.m/month to HK$149/ rate will significantly

the leases. sg.m/month (2023: HK$150/ decrease the fair
sq.m/month to HK$158/ value.

sg.m/month).

(ii) Capitalisation rate: 6%
(2023: 6%)
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. REWZ =) 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
BERR=Z=MF ELBRBAYEED
TZAZt+t-RZAAE  AAERH AERS EXELEERAYE fEZEE
Description and Relationship of
fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value
IRRBERIMERR 2T F3R BEEERE  BRER BT HABRRATSERT  BTHREREARA

{87 % E1752,088,000 RTHERELRE BHBREE - Wit R BEREDNE
BL(ZE==%F: W5 FAI#ER HiERIRZ(FlaA -
56,203,000/ ) AEHRHEERS ° BFRIE R  BiRE))

NTEFTK38,8008 L2
FFJ7#40,20087T(—F
=% : §F5K40,9007
TLEBFHK43,70087T) °

7 commercial units Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase

in Luohu District, method assuming sale market direct comparable in the price per
Shenzhen City, the PRC in their existing states and taking into account of square meter will
HK$52,088,000 (2023: and by reference location and other individual significantly increase
HK$56,203,000) to comparable factors such as size, building the fair value.

sales transactions facilities, levels, age of

as available in the building, etc., which is

relevant market. ranging from HK$38,800/

sq.m to HK$40,200/sq.m
(2023: HK$40,900/sq.m to
HK$43,700/5q.m).
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14. REWHE »)

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

HERR=Z2=MF ELBRRABEED
TZAZ+t-RZAARE  AAERH EERM EXBEEEGAYE fEZBE
Description and Relationship of

fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs

31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value

finhEERE 2 OEEE E=R BEEERE  BRER BT HABRRATSERN  BTHREREARA
#173,061,000/8 7T RTHERELRE BUHBEE - st R E EREDNE
(ZZ22=%: R E W5 A a2 REMERRZ(WAN - B
ERE 2 =(AFEEN AELBHER S ° &% BE  BRE)N
3,453,0007%7T) THEHKT 5008 TES

FHk8,8008L(=ZF ==
F: BEFKI0,4008TE
GEFK12,00087T) °

4 residential units in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase
Guangdong Province, method assuming sale market direct comparable in the price per
the PRC HK$3,061,000 in their existing states and taking into account of square meter will
(2023: 3 residential units and by reference location and other individual significantly increase
in Guangdong Province, to comparable factors such as size, building the fair value.
the PRC HK$3,453,000) sales transactions facilities, levels, age of

as available in the building, etc., which is

relevant market. ranging from HK$7,500/
sq.m to HK$8,800/5q.m.
(2023: HK$10,400/sq.m to
HK$12,000/5g.m).

AP B )I14 2 m{E F=R EEEERE  BRER ST AAEBREATSRERT STAREREARA
{FEE112,644,0007% 7T RTHERK2RE BHEBEE - Wit kA EN ERBANE -
(ZZZ=% :3,363,000 A REMERRZ (AN - 2
o) AENRHEERS ° ERim - BE BRE)N

FEEHK5 9008 TEE
FHAR12008T(ZE==
F: GEHRTB0BTES
F7K8,7007T) ©

4 residential units in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase

Sichuan Province, the
PRC HK$2,644,000
(2023: HK$3,363,000)

ER{LIKERRLF

“TMFEFR

method assuming sale
in their existing states
and by reference

to comparable

sales transactions

as available in the
relevant market.

market direct comparable
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as size, building
facilities, levels, age of
building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$5,900/
sq.m to HK$7,200/sq.m.
(2023: HK$7,800/5q.m to
HK$8,700/5q.m).

in the price per
square meter will
significantly increase
the fair value.
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fair value as at Fair value
31 December 2024 hierarchy
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

BEEEBARBED
EE R EXELBZEGARE fEZBE
Relationship of
Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value

URFEZHEN—FEEE F=R
811,198,000 L=
T =4 : 1,377,000/

L)

1 residential unit in Anhui Level 3
Province, the PRC
HK$1,198,000 (2023:
HK$1,377,000)

ERNERE  BEAEE STAREREATSERY SYAREBHMASEA
ATHERLCLRE BHBEE - Wit RAEMN EREALE -
WmiE LAEaz REMEREZ (AN 2
ENBHERS - HEE - BE  BERE))N

TEEHKT 0B TLER
FHK92008L(ZE==
F:BEHKI 4008 TEE
FA7K9,70087T)

Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase
method assuming sale market direct comparable in the price per
in their existing states and taking into account square meter will
and by reference of location and other significantly increase
to comparable individual factors such as the fair value.
sales transactions size, building facilities,
as available in the levels, age of building,
relevant market. etc., which is ranging

from HK$7,800/sq.m to
HK$9,200/sq.m. (2023:
HK$9,400/5q.m to
HK$9,700/sq.m).
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14. BEWHE » 14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

HERR-B-mE BEAEEGAHEARN
TZA=t-B2ARE  AAERE HERE EXBEEEGAYE fEZBE
Description and Relationship of

fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value

BRLEZE  BRER
RTHERKLLRE

BEHAER(EATSERY  SYRERMABA
BLEEE - Wit RAUEA BREALHE

URFEERENAETE F=R
B4717,165,00087T(=

T_=F H&) W5 A a2 REMERRZ (AN -
AELBHER S ° BERG R BRE))
NFETEFHK156008TE
FFHK16,50087T(=F
Z=F  TER)
6 residential units in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square meter, using A slight increase

market direct comparable
and taking into account of
location and other individual

in the price per
square meter will

Guangxi Province, the
PRC HK$17,165,000
(2023: nil)

method assuming sale
in their existing states
and by reference significantly increase

to comparable factors such as size, building the fair value.
facilities, levels, age of

building, etc., which is

ranging from HK$15,600/

sq.m to HK$16,500/sg.m.

(2023: N/A).

sales transactions
as available in the
relevant market.
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

HERR=Z-MF BEEEGAYEHRD
TZAZ+t-RZAAE  DAAERH AERM EXELBZGARE fEZBE
Description and Relationship of
fair value as at Fair value Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
31 December 2024 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) input(s) to fair value
i EfEaf—EEE E=R BREBE  BRER ZIoWF: MER(ZEZ=  BYARERMASK
By RTHERLELRE F: BEHARER  RAT ERBALE
—ZoME E(ZF W5 FAI a2 SBEEUALBEE - Wit
Z=% :772,000%7T) TELBHERS ° R B PA R E At B 5 2= (4
(BERERHLE) AN BER BE 2
#%) N FEFFKS,700
BITEEYJ1K6,000
BT )
1 residential unit in Hunan  Level 3 Direct comparison 2024: N/A (2023: Price per Aslight increase

Province, the PRC
2024: nil (2023:
HK$772,000) (sold
during the year)

15.
Bl —EBE T2

RE& N e 2w

method assuming sale
in their existing states

square meter, using market
direct comparable and

in the price per

square meter will
and by reference significantly increase
to comparable

sales transactions

taking into account of
location and other individual the fair value.
factors such as size, building

facilities, levels, age of

building, etc., which is

ranging from HK$5,700/s.

m to HK$6,000/sq.m.)

as available in the
relevant market.

15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNT DUE FROM AN

o
FIE ASSOCIATE
(a) REtE DRl 2R (a) Interests in associates
—EmEF —2-=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JEEME A A RIRERKA  Cost of investment in associates,
unlisted 1,215,242 1,215,242
JEMG U EE R AL R R b2 Share of post-acquisition profit and
X HBREWER B other comprehensive expenses,
net of dividend received 93,062 50,487
REEE Impairment loss (4,496) (4,496)
B Currency realignment (66,163) (19,891)
1,237,645 1,241,342
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. R NEl 2 2%
W —EBE ATz

I ()
(a) REtE QT 2=
(%)
RB|ERAR » REESHEHE
REIZFBEWT :
BENR AR AR S B R
Country of

15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNT DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of
the reporting period were as follows:

TEEXME

Principal place

FEBERAZMERE
g5 Lo Al
Proportion of
ownership interest held

FTEEH

Name of associate incorporation of business by the Group Principal activities
—EC-ME —FT-=F
2024 2023
HERE
Directly held
AN AR o by ol [ 20% 20% REDERERS
TRRERRA The PRC The PRC 20% 20% Provision of property
renovation services
ARECTERERDE] B 5 32% 32% REEBRKEERA
([#f5LT%E])  Hong Kong Hong Kong 32% 32% Investment holding and
Handsome Chemical trading in solvents
Development
Limited (“HSD")
EERE
Indirectly held
ERIEEREBRLAD BH Bk 24% 24% BAERKREERH
Yip's Industrial Hong Kong Hong Kong 24% 24% Investment holding and
Holdings Limited trading in solvents
it IEEER AR FE B 24% 24% HREERREESRH
The PRC The PRC 24% 24% Investment holding and
trading in solvents
RBCTESHERAR FE e 24% 24% EERAH
Thansome Chemical Hong Kong Hong Kong 24% 24% Trading in solvents

Trading Limited
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. At N 2R~ 15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/

B —EBE ATz AMOUNT DUE FROM AN
%&Iﬁ(éé’f) ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(a) AEEE ARz (a) Interests in associates (continved)
(%)
rEEBE AR
BEARAR HEMEIER FEEXEMH 43541 TEEK
Proportion of
Country of Principal place  ownership interest held
Name of associate  incorporation of business by the Group Principal activities
—g-mE —T-=fF
2024 2023
BMEECTERAR FE H 24% 24% BEREBRE
The PRC The PRC 24% 24% Manufacture of and

trading in solvents

RESTBETHE R ] 24% 24% BiERBEEAE
BRAH The PRC The PRC 24% 24% Manufacture of and
trading in solvents

EMIEFM H B 24% 24% RiERBEERAE
BRAF The PRC The PRC 24% 24% Manufacture of and
trading in solvents

iz (FIFT) #rat ¥t FE P 24% 24% BUEREERE

BRARE The PRC The PRC 24% 24% Manufacture of and
trading in solvents
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. At N 2R~ 15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/

Bl —EHBE ATz AMOUNT DUE FROM AN

MIE @) ASSOCIATE (continued)

(a) AEE ARz (a) Interests in associates (continued)
(#&)
ERBENTNGSE Summarised consolidated financial
BEREE information of the material associate
BRANEBREKNES DA/ The summarised consolidated financial information
SEVMBEERBEENT - T in respect of the Group’s material associate is set
X 4R A B 18 & R L 2 e B out below. The summarised consolidated financial
ENRIREEBGREE information below represents amounts shown in
B84 A 5 E TR the associate’s consolidated financial statements
SHE o HENAREHBA prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. The associate
AIERAERENAEGE Y and its subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity
BWwEARNAR o method in these consolidated financial statements.
RELLIREREHRB A HSD and its subsidiaries (collectively
A(FEBRELCIRRE referred to as “HSD Group”)
= J)
HELTIBREEB LS The functional currency of HSD Group is RMB. For
oA AR - BT REM financial reporting purpose, the assets and liabilities
= RELIREEEZE of HSD Group are translated into HK$ using exchange
ENAEILRERKR BT rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period,
EXRHpEAET  MEAR while income and expenses items are translated at the
B IEB RLE RN ZENEE spot exchange rate during the year.

“E-OmF —T=F

2024 2023

FHET FHTT

HK$'000 HK$000

RBEE Current assets 3,908,131 3,887,580
FEREBEE Non-current assets 1,792,171 1,069,098
M EE Current liabilities (1,649,088) (1,431,422)
EmRBARE Non-current liabilities (648,963) (124,688)
BEFE Net assets 3,402,251 3,400,568
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15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNT DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(a) Interests in associates (continued)

(#&)
BEARBERATRNGEEY Summarised consolidated financial
BERBE#) information of the material associate
(Continued)
RELCIZRERREKE D HSD and its subsidiaries (collectively
Al(HB RELCIZRRE referred to as “HSD Group”) (Continued)
1))
—2opmEF —E=F
2024 2023
FHET FHT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
e Income 10,573,726 10,042,794
RELLT Profit for the year 403,604 395,029
REEMEEmHAST Other comprehensive expense
for the year (118,681) (49,784)
REEHE =B Total comprehensive income
for the year 284,923 345,245
ANEAREET WHZ/LT  Dividend received by the Group
EEREENRE from HSD Group during the year 53,449 43,120
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15. R N Tz R
EW—EBE N2
I =)

(a) REtE DRl 2R
()
BEABENTRNGSH
BEREE )

RELCIRERAEKEA
Al(HB RELCIZRE
1))
ERRA B AR R
& BTSSR R A
B S EEAMRE A
MR E S 7 2 B8R

15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN

ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Summarised consolidated financial
information of the material associate

(Continued)

HSD and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “HSD Group"”) (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated

financial information to the carrying amount of the

interest in the associate that is material to the Group
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

—E-mEF —E=F
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
HELTEREEEEFE Net assets of HSD Group 3,402,251 3,400,568
REFEAHREILTEREEE Effective proportion of the Group'’s
P B R 2 B R EE 1 ownership interest in HSD Group 24% 24%
816,540 816,136
AEEBINEE8%HIE  The Group's additional share of
{t TEBERFEGER equity attributable to owners of
HSD of 8% (15) 826
NEEENFHE/ILTEERELE The Group's share of net assets of
EEETE HSD Group 816,525 816,962
JEREF DB ERE % AR Share of gain arising from
2B EHAENHIE  remeasurement of investment in
{EITEEEBZREFME  HSD Group upon reclassifying to
A H s interests in associates 431,840 431,840
Bk Currency realignment (10,720) (7,460)
REBERFEETHEREER® Carrying amount of the Group's
EERE SR interest in the HSD Group 1,237,645 1,241,342
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(b) EW—REEt= AT
Z I8
FEl— R A 2 AR
AT - 8 R A
TR T B AR R o
AATEERA - @i Kb
B3 P B 2% A 7 A0 7E B SO
%+ TEHIA R S AR
R R+ — A AR
WEER - Bt - ZERE
SR AERBAE -

16. B REFAHME
H oS THE -
BRAREFARRZ
THMEEREZAAE
SFAHMEE KRGS
BREHEREAZ2ERT
=1

(a) RAREFTAEM
EHWRZE 2 ERET
=

ZEBEEARBERHASRS
R BKY 2 AR T ZK
AfgEm o ARBERDER
BEZENERZTRAZKRE
REBEAREFAEMEER
& RRARREFRELIFR
EEE  RMAKERIFE
% FRAKE (F R HKE A
& e ARRIEFMIE - NEB
BERZEFRENARELZ
MRS B G BAKEEK
ERERSFRERREES
HRBENZRBE—H -
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNT DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(b) Amount due from an associate

The amount due from an associate is unsecured,
interest-free and will be repayable upon certain
milestones fulfilled by the associate. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, after considering the
project status of the associate in Jingmen in the PRC,
it is not expected the repayment will be received by
the Group within next twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amount is
shown as a non-current asset.

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT
FVTOCI, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
FVTPL AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(a) Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Amount represents the Group's equity interest in
private entities established in the Cayman Islands and
the PRC. The directors of the Company have elected
to designate these investments in equity instruments
at FVTOCI as these investments are not held for
trading. Instead, the Group intends to hold these
equity investments for long term strategic purposes.
The directors of the Company believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with
the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes and realising their performance
potential in the long run.
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16. B REFAHME
HW @2 EmTH -
BRAREFARRZ
THMEEREQRE
SFAHMEE KRGS
BREBHERAZBERT

Hg)

(a)

(b)

BARETTAHM
2HKREZERT
B
RZZE_WE+=ZA=+—
B ZSEZTESER
Green Monday Holdings
Limited 2 0.27% (=& = =
F:07%) AR - R—
MARBEAERE22.37%(=
T =4 237%) BRAHE
mERS—HE RN EE
09%(=ZEFE==4 :09%)
AR A A o

B0 R B A
ZEMERE

MR AN EF AB R E
ZEREE

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT
FVTOCI, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
FVTPL AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(a) Equity instruments at FVTOCI

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the equity instruments
comprised of 0.27% (2023: 0.7%) equity interest
in Green Monday Holdings Limited, 2.37% (2023:
2.37%) in an entity in the Chinese Mainland and
0.9% (2023: 0.9%) in another entity in the Chinese
Mainland.

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

—2opmEF —E=F

2024 2023

FTHER FAxT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FLEMIREES Unlisted investment funds 197,220 196,942
JE ETB AR () Unlisted preferred shares (note) 658,837 660,469
856,057 857,411

MisE: ZESHEEREENURE
{&85,000,0003% T (&
M 667,300,000 7T ) &
& FPAGAC Heisenberg
Holding | Limited ( — &
R 28 S M A
AR EITHMAR A ER
ERERELR -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

Note: Amount represents the Group's investments in
two redeemable non-voting preferred shares
issued by PAGAC Heisenberg Holding | Limited, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, for a
subscription price of US$85 million (equivalent to
HK$667,300,000).
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SEEE - Bt - BEEL™
BEHERES B RIRAABER
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT
FVTOCI, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
FVTPL AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(c) Debt instruments at FVTOCI

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, amount
represented the Group’s investments in listed bonds
with maturity dates over 3 years at date of investment
or sinkable bond. The maturity dates of the bonds are
between 11 April 2026 and 7 October 2034 (2023:
between 11 April 2026 and 12 September 2033) with
coupon rate ranging from 1.8% to 6.4% (2023: from
3.1% to 6.4%) per annum. The bonds are held by
the Group within a business model whose objective
is both to collect their contractual cashflows which
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these
financial assets. Hence, the investments in these listed
bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.
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BEAREFTAERZ

TREEREAAE

SFAHMEEmKRE

BBERA2ERT

I=NZ))

(d) ZEBERRZ2ER
TH
RZEZNFRZZTZ=F
+=—A=+—8  %&®EE
AEBMENIEE BB =
FAREHN EMESFETH
|E - BEBEHIPANT=Z
ZARFE—ANBEZZ=R
F+-A+RB(ZE=-=
F:NF_ZT-"F—AN
BE—ZEZ-_X"4¥+-A+=&
H) ZEEMENFTEF
1.1%%E6.9% (=T =4 :
11%E7.0%) - N&EEF
BHEEESFMRANEBE
X HEWERKERESEYD
Rens mMAEBEREERE
EASINAERREERS
ZHE - At - HELEWE
FIRE DT RBIRB AR -

BAREFAREGEEKER R
AR 2 B TR 2R ERTE RIZ
Qﬁ AAAEMEE WS 2 e T

CBAREF ARSI EREE
&?A tEFFAREMEEREZE
BTAZ AR ER[TZFBENH
u£33°
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Z=T-F+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. B REFAHME

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT
FVTOCI, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
FVTPL AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(d) Debt instruments at amortised
cost

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, amount
represented the Group's investments in listed
bonds with maturity dates within 3 years at date
of investment. The maturity dates of the bonds are
between 8 January 2026 and 15 December 2026
(2023: between 8 January 2026 and 15 December
2026) with coupon rate ranging from 1.1% to 6.9%
per annum (2023: from 1.1% to 7.0%). The bonds
are held by the Group within a business model whose
objective is to collect their contractual cashflows
which are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. Hence, the
investments in these listed bonds are classified as at
amortised cost.

Details of the impairment assessment of debt instruments at
FVTOCI/amortised cost and fair value estimation on equity
instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL and debt
instruments at FVTOCI are set out in Note 33.
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17. 58 17.GOODWILL
FAT

HK$'000
R AME COST
N-ZE-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 97,089
B ARE Currency realignment (691)
W_Z-_=%F+-"A=+—8H At 31 December 2023 96,398
U 8% — REI BT BB A B (M a%30) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30) 3,984
HERHBAR (KFE31) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) (39,405)
RZB-WOFE+-HA=+—H At 31 December 2024 60,977
EstREEE ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
R-_ZE-_=%—HF—H At 1 January 2023 1,888
FRRERE Impairment loss for the year 39,405
R-—Z-_=F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 41,293
oS BB A E R 8R (PR3 1) Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) (39,405)
RZZE-WE+=—A=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,888
BREE CARRYING VALUE
RZZE-_WME+_-_H=+—H At 31 December 2024 59,089
R-ZE—_=F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 55,105

BB RS2 BRI 19
B -

Particulars regarding impairment testing of goodwill are

disclosed in Note 19.
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/ ~.
18. B EE 18.INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BEREFGE EFE®BE st
Trademarks
and patent Customer
brands relationship Total
FBT THT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAE COST
RZZT-_=F—H—H At1January 2023 52,385 42,445 94,830
B Currency realignment (259) (127) (386)
R-ZZE=_=%+=A At 31 December 2023
=+—H 52,126 42,318 94,444
B Currency realignment = (83) (83)
HEH B AR (KFE31) Disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 31) (14,797) (4,953) (19,750)
RZZE=—WF+=7 At 31 December 2024
==F¢ 37,329 37,282 74,611
55 MR E AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZE_=%F—H—H8 At 1 January 2023 1,952 10,781 12,733
ERE Currency realignment = (45) (45)
FRRE Provided for the year = 2,863 2,863
FRRERE Impairment loss for the year 14,797 3,302 18,099
R_ZE—_=F+—-A At 31 December 2023
=+—H 16,749 16,901 33,650
B Currency realignment = (66) (66)
FNEAE Provided for the year = 2,032 2,032
o 5 BB A BB HE 8R Eliminated on disposal of
(M95%31) subsidiaries (Note 31) (14,797) (4,953) (19,750)
RZZE=—WF+=7 At 31 December 2024
==F¢ 1,952 13,914 15,866
EREE CARRYING VALUES
R-_Z-mME+—A At 31 December 2024
=—F¢ 35,377 23,368 58,745
R-—BE-_=%1+=-A4 At 31 December 2023
=+—H 35,377 25,417 60,794

ER{LIKERRLF

“TMFEFR
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. B EE » 18.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

EiEPEERRB HRABEER
OIS

AErRERNRE(AE 104F
BRAEAFH)

AEREMNRE(EE TrEEH
BT (EATH)

RERAFR 62194

EFBEEEENRERME R
T2EHMEMETFPRITARZM
T ERERESFEAR -

% N A fm 2 48 P W B 2 R
B Rms LERERYTRANA
B o

EREABERAEHFHZELE
B BRI SR B RM 5E 19 3R -

The above items of intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the following periods:

Trademarks and patent brands 10 years
(with finite useful life)
Trademarks and patent brands Not amortised
(with indefinite useful life)
Customer relationship 6-19 years
Customer relationship mainly represents the practice of
establishing contracts with customers related to coating
products under the brand name Camel, regardless of

whether a contract existed as at acquisition date.
Trademarks and patent brands represent the brand names
acquired which have high recognition and awareness in the

market.

Particulars regarding impairment testing of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are disclosed in Note 19.
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19.BEREGERAE

HERzEBREEZ
ZAEREERS

AETRERNR - W17 %188
HEENAEEERAFERFHZE
ErEMNREEIEE=A(=-Z
—ZFZEA)REELAEMN B
BERSER 2 ARNBEARR
HESER —EHBRAR(ZZ
—=F 2B ABEKNE
AR R EMDEHRZ ALEKH B A
7)) PEEZSEBEU BHENE
BERAFEAFH HZRERNR
FRERE £ %8 (IR 2FHREE ) I
S ¢

19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives set
out in Notes 17 and 18 have been allocated to three (2023:
three) CGUs, comprising five subsidiaries in the coatings
segment and one subsidiary in the inks segment (2023: five
subsidiaries in the coatings segment and nine subsidiaries in
the others segment). The carrying amounts of goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives
(net of accumulated impairment losses) allocated to these
units are as follows:

EEERUERAFHZ
mE BERER G E
Trademarks and patent
brands with indefinite
Goodwill useful lives
—EomME —T-o=F ZBZNE T _-=4F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FET FAT FTHERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI DM Coatings segment
— EFIIEEHR - EFIERR( E8)ER
(EB)ER AL EHRE Ik
AR & &) BR A Bland &K FH
fEfET (L TEER (B #ED)
B)ER AT AR AF (Unit A)
SESTIp(
R (BCER)
R AT
(BRF) 11,261 11,261 - =
— ¥ CEREE ~ Yip's Camel (Hong
(BE)BR Kong) Limited and
ANAIRES BE 2K (ERE)
28 (E%) BR2AE (Unit B)
BRARA
(Bf1Z) 43,844 43,844 35,377 35,377
MBS R Inks segment
— I EIE — BTSRRI RH
MR RN BR2AF] (Unit C)
R AT
(BR) 3,984 - - =
59,089 55,105 35,377 35,377
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BEMAGERAERFHZIAR
RENGRETEEESENREE
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E {7
LBz A mERE HERNERE
BEEEET  ZAEEERE
RIEARE B EIRE L E 2 7 F 5
ZE=F: AFHMBKESR
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7.6%)ETZIREMIER Bz
TFERERRENENEBITEER
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EHEREHEE  ARMGGER
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ZE-T-_MF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

In addition to goodwill and trademarks and patent
brands with indefinite useful lives above, property, plant
and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and other
intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill and trademarks and patent brands with
indefinite useful lives are also included in the respective
CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.

Unit A

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management of the Group covering a five-year period
(2023: five-year period), and a pre-tax discount rate of 7.2%
(2023: 7.6%). The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a 3% (2023: 3%) growth rate
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales with annual growth rates ranging from 1% to 3%
(2023: 3% to 20%), such estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and the management'’s expectations for
the market development. The cash flow projections, growth
rates and discount rate as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
have been reassessed taking into consideration for change
due to ongoing uncertain macroeconomic factors in the
PRC, which include the persistent effects of downturn of
real estate market.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the unit. The management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
its recoverable amount.
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/JEHE J-‘Et(f”

B
LBz AT m e R HENERE
Bt HEEAETE - et BEEERAE
\ﬁ$%IAﬁFHEZ£¢%
“ERO-F: AFH)MBEE
RBATBEEE16% (ZTZ=F :
15.2% ) #ET 2R S MM - B
Z O FHER S MERNHERAITRE
RIEAIA3I%(ZF_=%F : 3%)
BIEREEE - FREEFEEZ
E{@ig@j*n/ﬁgﬂﬁfﬁﬁium)\/
mh o BRERENTFO%EI%(ZF
“=F 5% E3%)ZFEER
EHEREHE - ARAMGER
BUBRTREREEEHMISER
Z TEEIED -

REBEEZE_ZF_HNEFR_FT_=F
TZA=+—HLLEE  AEEE
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19. 5 E R EEERAME 19.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

Unit B

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management of the Group covering a five-year period
(2023: five-year period), and a pre-tax discount rate of 16%
(2023: 15.2%). The unit's cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a 3% (2023: 3%) growth rate
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales with annual growth rates ranging from 0% to 3%
(2023: -5% to -3%), such estimation is based on the unit's
past performance and the management’s expectations for
the market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the unit. The management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
its recoverable amount.
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19. 582 EEERAME 19.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

BEPBFEEE2
VEREN: N

VA

WRSEEBU 2RO RETIE
REREBEAEELEE - Xt 8
AERENGASEEEELEL
hERMBEREREEHATRR X
TA%ETZHRERER - Bz
TEMRASRENBRTEER
BRANEEIEREES - EEER
% BUANEEEAREASER
HFEMBRARL NEKR - BZHE
BENEAREERTEHAKERN
FABRELEMEEKEEREAXN

By 4aB
TR o

RBE-—ZT_NE+-A=+—H
IEFEE AEEEEEETZE
AR (E - BERERE - ERZ
EBRIALREMSEREEFH TS
BYEMNEOCEBBREATKE S
%

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

Unit C

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period, and
an appropriate pre-tax discount rate of 7.1%. The unit’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using an appropriate growth rate based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts. The management considers that
the balance of goodwill of Unit C is not material to the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position and
any impairment loss of this goodwill will not cause material
impact to the Group’s consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment on the
unit. The management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the unit to exceed its recoverable
amount.
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‘€
20. 78 20.INVENTORIES
—E-NE —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Rk Raw materials 189,686 224,199
FEG Work in progress 25,086 25,546
EK i Finished goods 145,328 143,501
360,100 393,246
RBE-—"ZT-—_mNE+—-F=+— During the year ended 31 December 2024, provision of
BIEFE  BHEFEEBTRQ allowance on slow-moving inventories and written off of
2,322,000 0 (&8 = =4 : # inventories amounting to approximately HK$2,322,000
& % [0 356,000/ 7T ) R 2 M 1F (2023: reversal of allowance of HK$356,000) and
54,025,000 T (Z T == : HK$4,025,000 (2023: HK$4,758,000) respectively, were
4,758,000/ 7T ) 5 Bl E MR I AT A recognised and included in “cost of sales”.
[SHERA] -
21. EZEWFIE - HEf 21. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
FE W BR R R T A9 RRIE DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
(a) EZERFIR (a) Trade receivables
TEmEF ZE=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REBFEA#2E SEIWGN Trade receivables from contracts
18 with customers 1,372,606 1,298,050
B EEBAREE Less: allowance for credit losses (64,487) (57,127)
1,308,119 1,240,923
RZEZ=F—H—8 " X As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts
BEFEHZE S EWGRIE with customers amounted to HK$1,249,911,000.
#1,249,911,0007 7T °
AREEE W EH#E314,981,000 Bills received by the Group amounting to
B (Z T = = & : HK$314,981,000 (2023: HK$325,187,000) refer to
325,187,000 T ) 5 B A 3R R 17 7 H [E 2 (“banker's acceptances”) which are
1TAEGR RIERN R RITHEMN, accepted and guaranteed for payment by PRC banks.
[EE - AEBIZERIBERES The Group accepts the settlement of trade receivables
BB RERITHE N 2 SR TH by customers using banker’s acceptances accepted by
HIEZEEEE ZEIRIE - the PRC banks on a case by case basis.
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21. B Z WA - Hf
FE W BRI FELAY =R

21.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(4&) (Continued)

(a) EZEWFRIE @)
B AR ERAEEY
RITHEGEENE AR
THBE—FANFE - SRI7H
HEEmENEG R
WERITRLRBBN
RITEEEZHALN

RBEHR - B HEKHIA
(BRHBREEBRAEE T
BAEBRERKEEMTS
ZERBIERBEZAHZT 2

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

These banker’s acceptances are issued to or endorsed
to the Group and with a maturity period of less than
one year from the date of issuance. The banker’s
acceptances will be settled by the banks, which are
state-owned banks or commercial banks or financial
institutions in the PRC, on the maturity date of such
banker’s acceptances.

An aged analysis of trade receivables, which is net of
allowance for credit losses (excluding bills held by the
Group for future settlement) and presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, is

BRI DA T - as follows:
—E-WF ===

2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000
TEE={EA 0-3 months 609,804 590,704
mEREA 4-6 months 252,477 239,962
NEA L E Over 6 months 130,857 85,070
993,138 915,736

REBATRAE S RFRME
NF30REOAZIEEL -
REENEH FHADER
FZRESIERREFRERE
B -

ERMERFELA - A&
Bz ABEEEH RGN
HEEREFZEEEER M
ARAREFEREEEESR
BEREFPEEEERBENRE
BEE - ARE S FHERHN
BEPZRE -

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to
90 days to its trade customers. A longer credit period
may be granted to large or long established customers
with good payment history.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has an internal credit control system to assess the
potential customers’ credit quality and the directors
of the Company have delegated the management to
be responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals for customers. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. B ZEWRE - Hf
FE W BRI FELAY =R

(&)
(a)

B S BWREIE®
RZE-—mWE+=—A=+—
H @ #469% (=T =4 :
71%) 2B 5 ERFEBE(CTE
EAEERRKEEMIZE
2 4% ) BR £ 16 HA U 4 (R RO
B HERAREBEAEBHR
BRZEERHERES  %E
ZBoREKFBEFTAEBR
HEEE -

R-ZE-_WFE+=—A=+—
H: AN&EBEZSERKE
(TEREASERARRESR
FFEEZER)BIEE 8 H
ZEWERR  BRMAEAR
312,459,000 (=& ==
£ : 263,168,000 % 7T ) °
w4 & - 130,810,000
BT (& = = F ¢
106,154,000/ 7T ) B %190k
AL BTRERABELD -
REARKABIESZRA « £
REZEEFNRE HE
¥BBEREUNRZERFPHNE
SERBH  TEEZEEF
K= EHBrEEIE

RZE-_WmWF+=_A=+—
B AEEZZSERZECH
BREAEERERRGEE T
B2 ER)BIERE N — M
NElESHEBERE  RER
B A641,0008 (==
£ : 678,000/87T) ©

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

21.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, approximately 69% (2023:
71%) of the trade receivables (excluding bills held by
the Group for future settlement) are neither past due
nor impaired as they were assessed to be of good
credit rating under the credit control system used by
the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) are past due debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$312,459,000 (2023:
HK$263,168,000). Out of the past due balances,
HK$130,810,000 (2023: HK$106,154,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default because the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that it is the business practice that the
credit terms of these customers are extended which is
due to long-term/on-going relationship and historical
repayment cycle of these customers.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) is trade-related amount due
from an associate with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$641,000 (2023: HK$678,000).



21. EZBIRFIE - Hf
FE W AR AR TR YRR

(&)
(a)

) A EE )
HEETMEE
NTAEEETFHERKAE
FHRITVEAEEZEEREZ
AEEEZEHEREIE -
A A & B 4 kA
ZEZENERRAR KE
W HBEENZ 5 E KK
B BREERZEEZRZE
A - R EETFHER
HIZ 4 111,754,00058 7T (=
T~ =4 : 113,092,000 %
TL) o ANEE SR H R
HEESRNFEZEE S
B OEERZERIHBHA
IE - ERBEEE FRITHRIE
122,247,000 0 (= E ==
£ 1 33,597,00087T) * A&
Ei5 IR B MR S R A
BHEMEK -

ZERBIRB KA BRI
AR B A MBI R
W[ 5 EWERIA ] o
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21.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)
Transfer of financial assets

The following were the bills received by the Group in
its trading activities that were endorsed to supplies
or discounted to banks on a full recourse basis. As
the Group has not transferred the significant risks
and rewards relating to these bills, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of these bills in the
“trade receivables”. For bills endorsed to suppliers of
HK$111,754,000 (2023: HK$113,092,000), the Group
continues to recognise the full carrying amount of
respective trade payables until maturity dates of the
bills. For bills discounted to banks of HK$122,247,000
(2023: HK$33,597,000), the Group recognised the
cash received on the discounting as a collateralised
borrowing.

These bills are carried at amortised cost and included
in “trade receivables” in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

EETHERYEEEZE /RRTFECAYAFTEE

BREZERERE BREREZERERE
Bills receivables Bills receivables
endorsed to suppliers discounted to banks
with full recourse with full recourse
“E-ME ZT-=F ZE-WF ZT-=F

2024 2023 2024 2023

FTEx TAT TEx TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000

BEEEEEEZRME Carrying amount of

&R transferred assets 111,754 113,092 122,247 33,597
BB ERE % Carrying amount of

HIA associated liabilities

— B FERIRZ - in trade creditors (111,754)  (113,092) - =

— & — in borrowings - - (122,247) (33,597)

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 235



236

BSR4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fm © 81115 ¥ 5 Bfy 5E

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. B ZEWRE - Hf
FE W BRI FELAY =R

21.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(#&) (Continued)
(b) HttFEWER R TE (b) Other debtors and prepayments
NFRIE
H i FE Y BR 5k R TR S BIE Other debtors and prepayments mainly consist of
TERRBANHERKRIE payments in advance to suppliers of HK$13,902,000
13,902,000 T (=ZE == (2023: HK$19,489,000), commission receivable from
 : 19,489,000/ 7C) * & suppliers of HK$7,445,000 (2023: HK$8,679,000),
1z ¢ jE 75 18 & 7,445,000 8 value-added tax recoverable of HK$32,249,000 (2023:
T(ZZF -~ =% : 8,679,000 HK$33,988,000) and loan receivables from entities
BIT) -~ A E g E R of HK$7,069,000 (2023: HK$52,989,000). The loan
32,249,000/ T (& = = receivables are unsecured, interest bearing at China’s
F : 33,988,000/8 L) &k & one year loan prime rate and will be repayable within
I & BE & 7 7,069,000 T 1 year.
(ZZ==% : 52,989,000/
7o) c B EFAEER &
FEz —FHERMSRE
FIERFTERER—FAER -
BEZZ-_NERZZT== Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
F+A=+—HLEEEZ and other debtors for the years ended 31 December
5 FE W IE 2 H h JE U BR 5K 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 33.
2R BT S IRE AT FE33 ©
& 5 e WK IE K H 4t 8 Us BR Included in trade receivables and other debtors are
REETIAE@EERE ARG the following amounts denominated in currencies
MBI ZEREEZ other than the functional currency of the group
IR entities to which they relate:
—E-EF —F-=
2024 2023
FTET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
EyI United States dollar (“USD") 1,655 1,343
BT HK$ 4,424 849

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH
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TTEERMITHE 22.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS
B JERED
Current Non-current
—EomE —T_= —EBENE T _=4F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FHExT FHIT FET THT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

D EEHAEE Derivative financial
Z{TEE€MIE  instruments under
hedge accounting

M= EE 4 Interest rate swap contracts
— A — inflow
— it — outflow

LIRS Rz A R
HEN

e LB RS e S LIRS
WAN - BBBTHNEWRAE
ERE - BEBTIBRTEE
ReRPDEREERE - HFA
492 (RIS RETS 14 B ST H BT 1
B2 5B (A EEBRRT
BEZASE  HERFX I
R) - AAREFRAFIREBA
HBBMENTA - LRKE N
AT RS TARRS RN T
H o

TR EEH 2 RS RARM
E OHRASEAEM HEZZT
—HE+—A=+—HLEFE MU
WERE P2 ¥R TAZ ARER
61,525,000 L (Z T ==
3,264,000/ 0) E R H b 2 RS
EREREPREERNRE - ARHA
EERH B EMERNRE K%
RARENHREARE A 2 T E A B 48

2

BX

o

(89) - (38) -
162 1,531 68 97
73 1,531 30 97

Interest rate swap contracts under
cash flow hedges

The Group entered into a number of interest rate swap
contracts with the commercial banks to minimise its
exposure to cash flow changes of its floating-rate Hong
Kong dollar denominated bank borrowings from banks
by swapping floating interest rates to fixed interest rates.
The terms of these contracts were negotiated to match
with those of the hedged bank borrowings with the same
notional amounts to principal amounts of bank borrowings,
currency and interest rate index. The directors of the
Company consider that the interest rate swap contracts are
highly effective hedging instruments and have designated
them as cash flow hedging instruments for hedge
accounting purpose.

The hedges were highly effective in hedging cash flow
exposure to interest rate movements. Fair value loss
of HK$1,525,000 (2023: HK$3,264,000) on hedging
instruments in cash flow hedge for the year ended
31 December 2024 has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
The directors of the Company expected the accumulated
sum is to be released to profit or loss at various dates in
the coming maturity periods after the end of the reporting
period.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2.0TEERM T A

LR &Rz FRE
HEN @
RS - 27 BT

Z=T-F+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

22.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
|NSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate swap contracts under
cash flow hedges (continued)

Included in borrowings as disclosed in Note 27 were bank

EREBReREHPBE T ZRITEER
= =% ¢
176,667,000/87T) &7 =8 5

210,000,000 T ( ==

borrowings of HK$210,000,000 (2023: HK$176,667,000)
which were under cash flow hedges and the major terms of
the respective interest rate swap contracts at the end of the

BRI EZBRFIT ¢ reporting period are as follows:

EREH | 2 HA PR 2 [ WEUE S TRER

Notional amount Range of maturity Receive floating Pay fixed

R-B-mFE+=A=+—-H

At 31 December 2024

100,000,000/ 7T “E-RF-A-+TWmAZRE 77T —{E AHIBOR * 4.80[F
“E-XENAZ1+WAH

HK$100,000,000 24.2.2025-24.8.2026 HK$ 1-month HIBOR* 4.80%

50,000,000/ T “ZERFAZTEERE W7t — 18 AHIBOR 5.16
T RENAZTIAE

HK$50,000,000 24.2.2025-24.8.2026 HK$ 1-month HIBOR 5.16%

60,000,000 7T “E-RF-A=tTWMAZRE 77t —{&E AHIBOR 4.86[F
—E-XENAZ+WAH

HK$60,000,000 24.2.2025-24.8.2026 HK$ 1-month HIBOR 4.86%

RZZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H

At 31 December 2023

100,000,000/ 7T —E_NE+ZA=+—HZE "t —{E AHIBOR 4822
—Z-XENAZ1+WAH

HK$100,000,000 31.12.2024-24.8.2026 HK$ 1-month HIBOR 4.82%

50,000,000/ 7T 777E¢ A+ZB=% 77t — 18 AHIBOR 1.49F
—ZE-MFE+AMA

HK$50,000,000 12.2.2024-4.10.2024 HK$ 1-month HIBOR 1.49%

26,667,000/ 7T _?_Ei AABRZE 77t — 18 AHIBOR 3148
“ZZMFE+—A+—H

HK$26,667,000 5.1.2024-11.11.2024 HK$ 1-month HIBOR 3.14%

* HIBORIEEBIRITRIERE. ° &

ERPTTETERAAENE - B
—ENER-ZTE-_=F+=-A
=+—H W L#lfTETAEZFHESD
BAARBRNFZE ZHK(FE
RKIE33) -

ERLIKERRLAT —T_NFEFR

HIBOR represents Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

The above derivative instruments are measured at fair
value. The classification of the measurement of the above
derivative instruments as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
was Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy (see Note 33 for
details).



23. R EE =18 A 2/
ZEAMITER - R
THReEREE

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © 811 5 R S5 By 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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23.SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY
MORE THAN THREE MONTHS
AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

—EmEF —ZF-=
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
REERTEBRES The Group’s bank balances and
251% : cash represented by:
REHBA=AARNKNEE  Short-term bank deposits with original
RITER maturity within three months 90,280 229,166
HeMEeEHE Cash and cash equivalents 504,097 386,927
594,377 616,093

[REIEA B AR = (A A 1B HIERTT
BFHRARRITEHR LR BE T
NEBEERRINGEEEIAIIZE

Included in short-term bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months and bank balances and cash are
the following amounts denominated in currencies other

WEEZFIE than the functional currencies of the group entities to
which they relate:
“E-OmF —To=F
2024 2023
THER TET
HK$’'000 HK$’000
ETT usbD 15,094 272,974
ST HKS 1,962 2,092
AR RMB 90,628 29,143

FrA R BRI sk AR T BB SRR Y
F0.001%E4.59% (=T - =4 :
0.001%Z25.82% ) 2 T 5 F HZ5t
B o

[RENER B ABiE =8 A M8 ERT
GREBITHEBREZE S -NF
F—E-_=F+-_A=+—HIEF
&R R B A B H R M FE33 ©

All short-term bank deposits and bank balances were
carrying interest at market rates ranging from 0.001% to
4.59% (2023: 0.001% to 5.82%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months and
bank balances for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are set out in Note 33.
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24. B BRI BT E A

24.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED

CHARGES
—E-MEF —E=4
2024 2023
FExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$000
B SRR (EG)) Trade creditors (note (i) 418,549 488,755
EEESHAGEID)) Bills payables (note (ii)) 284,187 227,535
En SRR R ETER Other creditors and accrued charges 222,436 244,739
925,172 961,029

(i) R-_ZE_WFE+—_A=+—H"
e ARz ESHBRER
AARNEBEESREMER IR
T 4818 /% 35,265,000/ 7T ( = &
T~ =% : 48,190,000/ 7T ) °

(i) ZAEBREAEEERBEESE
MR AR HERREREN
BHRNEREH o HEEA RN
SRIMBEHERTERSERS
o REBEEHEREEBNERIE
(UL —FEH) - HRAE
BLARREEH A RiamER
TRITNREE - AEEEERE
REFEFRNER - NEAH
EREXRT  RETHZUHE
MAREBEENZSEREDTA

Mo hR MK TE A
RGERDI °

HmENERREFEREEZR
FRENKREDSE  BEREEX
J511,208,0008 L (ZE==4F :
5,945,00087T) « ENEIH SR
BA (B EEEME)89,734,000
BIT(ZZT =4 : 89,154,000/
7T) - BB & # 30,124,000
BIL(ZZT =4 : 25,849,000/8
JT ) BA B2 Bt E 45 £ 523,275,000
B (ZZTE =4 : 23,921,000/
JT) °

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

Notes:

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’'s trade
creditors are trade-related amounts due to associates with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$35,265,000 (2023:
HK$48,190,000).

The balance relates to trade creditors in which the Group
has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for settlement of
trade creditors. The suppliers can obtain the invoice amounts
from the bank on the maturity date of the bills. The Group
continues to recognise these trade creditors as the Group
are obliged to make payments to the relevant banks on due
dates of the bills, under the same conditions as agreed with
the suppliers without further extension. In the consolidated
statement of cash flows, settlements of these bills by the
Group are included within operating cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements.

Other creditors and accrued charges mainly consist of

payables of acquisition of property, plant and equipment
of HK$11,208,000 (2023: HK$5,945,000), payables of

staff

salaries and benefits (including sales commission)

of HK$89,734,000 (2023: HK$89,154,000), payable of
storage and transportation of HK$30,124,000 (2023:
HK$25,849,000) and other tax payables of HK$23,275,000
(2023: HK$23,921,000).
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24 EHERARESTER 24.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED

(%) CHARGES (continved)
RIEEAR - B 5 EMARFRENE An aged analysis of trade creditors presented based on the
SRAZYZERESITIT invoice date at end of the reporting period is as follows:
—EmEF —ZF-=
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE={EA 0-3 months 358,797 410,648
LEpANEDE 4-6 months 55,646 71,523
NEAA E Over 6 months 4,106 6,584
418,549 488,755
BEEMmNTHEEHRRNTR(Z The average credit period on purchases of goods is 117
TZ=F :124K) ° (2023: 124) days.
JERBRRBIE NIABEBEE R A Included in creditors are the following amounts
Ee B AN BB EBE 2B ¢ denominated in currency other than the functional currency

of the group entities to which they relate:

—E-_EF =
2024 2023
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
=1 USsD 9 15,283

25. 58 E 25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—EmE —E-=F
2024 2023
THET FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEZE - MEBREEMZ  Contract liabilities on sales of coatings,

aHaE inks and lubricants 34,174 31,956
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25.

26.

=W N=Ki-1C )
R-_ZBE—_=F—F—H AHAEE
/335,258,000 7T °

B AR ERFGEEEB KR
2 RANHEBENEELEAYD
BE - BHERAEBEZERE
BERINEENEANEERER
RBEE REBEE_T-_NE+—
A=+T—HILFE BEEREE
¥631,956,0008 L (Z T ==4F :
35,258,000/ T ) EFF AF AR E
HEEA -

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$35,258,000.

When the Group receives a deposit before the
commencement of production activity, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract. Contract
liabilities which are expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current
liabilities. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
revenue recognised amounting to HK$31,956,000 (2023:
HK$35,258,000) was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year.

HESE 26.LEASE LIABILITIES
“E-mF ZT=F
2024 2023
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREERE Lease liabilities payable:
—FRN Within one year 4,454 15,170
BB —FERBAMEZ Within a period of more than one
HAFEI A year but not more than two years 2,273 15,445
B EEARBEARFE 2 Within a period of more than two
HAfE A years but not more than five years 4,878 8,230
HRiE A F 2 AR Within a period of more than five
years 2,313 4,014
13,918 42,859
B 1218 A R EIRIAEEY Less: Amount due for settlement with
GMARSBEZSRE 12 months shown under
current liabilities (4,454) (15,170)
B12ME B & BIHA&BEWHEMA Amount due for settlement after
EnBBEZEHE 12 months shown under
non-current liabilities 9,464 27,689

BERENTNR3.45%E4.75% (=
T =4 :3.60%%5.63%) 2 &
o

R—_ZF=—_=F+=-_A=+—H8 -
BE—HMEEBZEMEEZELLD
1,358,000 L (=T =N : #&)
ZIRITHELR o

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 3.45% to 4.75% (2023:
3.60% t0 5.63%).

As at 31 December 2023, a bank guarantee was granted
to the landlord for a tenancy agreement amounting to
approximately HK$1,358,000 (2024 nil).
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H
27. 68 27.BORROWINGS
—EmEF —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’'000 HK$000
BEBERITEER : Borrowings included bank borrowings:
IRITIEE — EHE Bank borrowings — unsecured 1,104,466 1,368,196
EE2HEEBREZEIREE  Discount bills with full recourse 122,247 33,597
1,226,713 1,401,793
BEFRATFEHESR The borrowings are repayable as
follows*:
—FRA Within one year 563,648 239,120
—FERENFEA More than one year but not more
than two years 294,400 176,606
MEBRERAFA More than two years but not more
than five years - 294,400
858,048 710,126
BEREREEEK(EMNA  The borrowings that contain a
E@JEﬁME‘FgEATZﬂJ HHE  repayment on demand clause
BHEE (shown under current liabilities) but
repayable as follows:
—fFRN Within one year 308,665 691,667
—FERENFEA More than one year but not more
than two years 40,000 -
MERERFA More than two years but not more
than five years 20,000 —
368,665 691,667
1,226,713 1,401,793
B —FAE BN SERA Less: Borrowings due within one year
mEEEZEE shown under current liabilities (932,313) (930,787)
BRRERBAEGZEE Borrowings shown under non-current
liabilities 294,400 471,006

Zit .

set out in the borrowing agreements.
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BITRAEFREINOEER BT
REFEIMABBE(ZZE_=F :
BEARITAEREMOCEERTE
fﬁﬁlﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂm A7) RIZHE
5 % W E F R R LR &
Ii E(ZTZ=F  FEEXK
MHFREFF) =M LR EEE L
=) o MER—EAE—FHHEE

=

Z=T-F+=H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. 88

27. BORROW' NGS (Continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings carry annual interests at the
range of HIBOR plus 0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.13% (2023:
HIBOR plus 0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.47%) per annum and at
the China loan prime rate plus or less a fixed margin (2023:
China loan prime rate plus or less a fixed margin) per
annum. Interest is repriced in the period from one month
up to one year.

= o
“E-mF ZT=F
2024 2023

BERRA Effective interest rates
EEEE Fixed-rate borrowings 0.68EZ6.6E 0.07E2%6.82%
0.68% t06.6% 0.07% t0 6.82%
FEEE Variable-rate borrowings 535EZ5.72E 6.38F%6.83F

& & 6 $5666,713,0008 T (=&
zi 834,120,000/ 7T ) & Ef&
CARNEIEREA—FR o

= &%TB?IJLAEF'E’EI TIJJ%*E
BRI B EELZ Y

5.35% t0 5.72% 6.38% 10 6.83%

Included in borrowings are HK$666,713,000 (2023:
HK$834,120,000) at fixed-rate borrowings with the
contractual maturity dates within 1 year.

Included in borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the group entities to which they relate:

—E-OE —E =4

2024 2023

FHET FHT

HK$'000 HK$000

BT HKS 12,000 -

ERLIKERRLAT —T_NFEFR
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28.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated

{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets

and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis

BREBZDH of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:
—E-WF -

2024 2023

FEx T

HK$’000 HK$000

FEEFRTBEE Deferred tax assets 2,496 2,727
BEERIRE E Deferred tax liabilities (33,304) (38,018)
(30,808) (35,291)

AT RAEECHER 2 EERER
BEEEE) RERAFEMBE

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during

FERNZES : the current and prior year:
F2k BERE
MERERE REEE RRZENR NEEH BxRfE it ERAEEE HEEE At
Withholding
Accelerated tax on
tax Tax undistributed ~ Revaluation ECL Right-of-use Lease
depreciation losses profits  of properties provision Others assets liabilities Total
T Thn T Fién Thn T Tién Thn T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BfzE)
(Note)
RZFZZE-F—H At1January 203 3,046 (4323) 11,582 1,034 (2,490) 7,954 6,160 (6,675) 16,288
(FFA)MERE (Credit) charge to profit or loss (30) 421 6,213 1,727 1,366 (4,905) (,713) 5,020 18,899
T Currency realignment - 102 12 59 52 (121) - - 104
WZEZ=F+ZF  At31 December 2023
= 3,016 - 17,807 12,820 (1,072) 2,928 1,447 (1,655) 35,291
HEPHEENERES Release upon distribution of
Rl dividends from the entities in
the Chinese Mainland - - (9,818) - - - - - (9,818)
(FFA)nERE (Credit) charge to profit or loss (19) - 6,811 (1,048) - - 23) 2 5,748
RHRE Currency realignment - - (5) (456) 4 ) (154) 162 (13)
WZZZWE+ZF  At31 December 2024
= 2,997 - 14,795 11316 (1,031) 2,927 1,270 (1,466) 30,808

=r
=
&

F ol B AR R R R R B

REBEE(AEFEELRY
¥ BELRRB)AABRAEE

EZRERARE -

Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax liabilities arising from
fair value adjustments on assets acquired (i.e. intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment) on acquisition of

subsidiaries.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

28. EETIBEE BE

(#&)
RZTE-_ME+=_A=+—H -
AEBBARAFERAMBEEBELD
1,326,551,0008 (=T = =4 :
1,180,130,0007% 7T ) AT L4 8§ 7R 2R
wmH e RZE-_NER-_ZT-_=F
+=ZA=+—H  BHRKEETE
FomFRE - BRE A B E SR
RELEHIBEEE - AERHIBEE
906,739,000 T ( —F = =
% : 807,803,000/ 7T ) A £ [R Bpaz
%+ 115,480,000 T (- - =
£ 1 129,440,000 7T) R - =
SNE(ZE=F: —T==%)
HZATMZEB R RES
RZZBZNF(ZTZ=F: =%
ZN\F) 2RI ZE B BEIE -

D

AEEERBEFRCEMSHEE
MEfRBIRRE - AT RAFHE R B A
ETHBARE T N\FE—F—
HRERELZ SRR KRERE -
BLHT B A Bl K 2K g F HE SRR RE R
15 o RBI{PFEFTETAE M 1R B3R
E MR D IRA BmFHZ5% (=
T =F :5%) 2 BHEGMEN
o ARARRIESRAAEET
EH RO TR ER 2 R - M
ZEA LR AITE R B RS HD -
HUZA &2 B 30 L A B A B B A A
BE-TZENF—A—HERRZE
F AR IRRB & F212,272,0007%
JL(=ZZF = =4 : 198,016,000
To) FERIEIE R IE -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

28.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

LIABILITI ES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$1,326,551,000 (2023: HK$1,180,130,000) available
for offset against future profits. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in the unrecognised tax
losses, HK$906,739,000 (2023: HK$807,803,000) may
be carried forward indefinitely, HK$115,480,000 (2023:
HK$129,440,000) will expire at various dates up to and
including year 2034 (2023: 2033) and the remaining
balance will expire at various dates up to and including year
2029 (2023: 2028).

Deferred taxation on undistributed profits of subsidiaries
has been recognised taking into accounts the dividends to
be distributed from profits earned by certain subsidiaries
in the Chinese Mainland starting from 1 January 2008
under the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of
the PRC that requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5%
(2023: 5%) upon the distribution of such profits to the
shareholders. Deferred taxation has not been recognised
in respect of certain undistributed retained profits earned
by the subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland starting from
1 January 2008 amounting to HK$212,272,000 (2023:
HK$198,016,000) as the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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HE-_ZT-WF+=-HA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. g A 29.SHARE CAPITAL
KR EE k-]
Number of
shares Amount
T FHT
‘000 HK$'000
FREEEO. 10/t 2 @M% Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
VETE Authorised:
R-_ZE—_=%—H—H8 At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
T —FERKR T _PFE  and 2024
+=A=+—H 800,000 80,000
REE k-]
Number of
shares Amount
TFh& FHT
‘000 HK$’000
EETRAR Issued and fully paid:
RZF=Z=%F—H—H -  At1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
ZEZ=FR-TMF and 2024
+=—A=+—H 568,484 56,848
FTEEBITRGHEME T EES All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing
BReBREERTRN=ZERZE shares in issue in all respects.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. HQZ'K(@) 29.SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
REBEZE-_ZT_NF+=-_A=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
WEFE - AR R B AT B BN 1 repurchased its own ordinary shares through the Stock
REFROFEAEHRA R L ER Exchange and held as treasury shares as follows:
™

BREE
0.10 7T 2 IRERE
LB (Faf
E1 8 B 5 RABE BRER RBHKK) RERE
Aggregate
Number of consideration
ordinary paid
shares of Price per share (excluding
HK$0.10 3] &ff transaction Transaction
each Highest Lowest costs) costs
T BT BT T FHL
Date of repurchase '000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000 HK$'000
“Z-NELA July 2024 2,300 1.5 1.5 3,450 16
—“E-mENA August 2024 3,024 1.47 1.47 4,446 24
“ZMEARA September 2024 4,700 1.53 143 6,938 34
10,024 14,834 74
RBE_T_=F+-A=+—H No ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled during
IEFE - W B R s A the year ended 31 December 2023.
B&An o
HE_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—HI 10,024,000 (2023: nil) ordinary shares were repurchased
FE - ARaE 10,024,000 8K and held as treasury shares during the year ended 31
(ZZ2=F : ) E@RIFHIER December 2024. There was no sales or transfer of treasury
EERG - B K - REE shares held by the Group since the repurchase and these
ERESERERAENEFRG treasury shares were remained as outstanding at the end of
WRHEHKR - ZFEFRO A the reporting period.

AARWBERRBMERMEFEA None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
BE HEXBEREMAREZE redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
&S o both years.
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30. WiE — M E A 30. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
RZZTZMFE— A - NEE R In January 2024, the Group converted the outstanding
BIEFMERR AR AR (LR loan receivable of RMB31,365,000 (equivalent to
35 ) AR#31,365,0007T (FHE R HK$34,520,000) of It BIFFH M AR AR A A ("=
34,520,000/ 70 ) 2 KREEERE 35") into paid up capital of 1L = 3H. Upon completion of
BMARILEENEHER - RR 5 the transaction, the Group acquired 59.91% equity interest
TR AEBEBWERILER 2 in 3# 4t ¥ 3B . The acquisition has been accounted for as
59.91% ik #E - Z BB 8 A U EE acquisition of business using the acquisition method. The
HEVEREFWIBAR - BEmE amount of goodwill arising as a result of acquisition was
A2 BB SR R3,984,0008 7T © HK$3,984,000.

RKEBRNEc EERERZE Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
BT acquisition were as follows:
RS B 5
At the date of
acquisition
T
HK$'000
M - BB R&E Property, plant and equipment 34,397
FE Inventories 4,895
B 5 FE WO IE R E fth FE LK BR 5K Trade receivables and other debtors 21,031
RITER KIS (M) Bank balances and cash (note) 327
JERTERR R IEETE A Creditors and accrued charges (9,678)
50,972
Mizk  RITEREREUNB e REASE Note: The bank balances and cash were represented by cash and
27 - cash equivalents.
EEENE - Consideration transferred:
FHET
HK$'000
o Ath FE U BR TN — FEULE 3R Other debtors — loan receivables 34,520
ABEEmMEE 2GS Goodwill arising on the acquisition:
FHET
HK$'000
EEERE Consideration transferred 34,520
oo SRR RE R Add: non-controlling interests 20,436
B BRI FEE Less: net assets acquired (50,972)
3,984
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UK EE B BifERR 2 AL IS IR AR
#Ez (BN40.09% ) 1% I 1258 f% 1 o
15351 BG4 R & R B R
SR L HIEE -

P 2 (B B 48 B 4L BIF TR 1
WRIE  EXRERE - KEMH
EREREBTAR IS
WEFAWBELRE - BRZF
BB A A RRI BT & EZ R
R R R B R D FIRERR
ERRBEEC AERHTAH
w5 o

HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. WiB — KB A8l 30. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

The non-controlling interests (i.e. 40.09%) in # it & 35
recognised at the date of acquisition were measured at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the identifiable net assets of J#Jt=
5.

The consideration paid included amounts in relation to
the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future
market development and the assembled workforce of J#it
35 and these result in goodwill arising on the acquisition.
These benefits were not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria
for identifiable intangible assets. The goodwill arising from
the acquisition was not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.

WHEE & 2 ) FHREMA Net cash inflow arising on the acquisition:
FAET
HK$'000
NIBeZ 2R E Consideration paid in cash =
mn: RRITESRER S Add: bank balances and cash acquired 327
327

gﬁﬂﬁ%@%ﬁ 7

HE-T-_mWF+-_A=+—Hit
FEE7HENBIE R EE 2 2154
B R E1E1,373,0008 T © A&
BHE—ZT-_mWE+=-A=+—H
IEFEzEE£ERRBBILEBEE
245,708,000/ 7T °

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

Impacts of acquisition on the results
of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December
2024, loss amounting to HK$1,373,000 was attributable
to the business operation from j# 3t & 3% . Revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 included
HK$45,708,000 which was generated from #1235,
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In January 2024, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of 61% equity interest of A 4t K Z and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Disposal
Group”), to the other shareholder of JAJdt K%, i.e. a non-
controlling shareholder, at a cash consideration of RMB1.
The transaction was completed in January 2024.

REERBMHESR 2 FAEN The net liabilities of the Disposal Group at the date of
T disposal were as follows:
THT
HK$'000
ISy Inventories 5,329
B 5 FEWRIE K H b FEUER 5K Trade receivables and other debtors 4,991
RITER KIS (M) Bank balances and cash (note) 3,426
FE At — A [B) R B A 508 Amount due to a fellow subsidiary (33,018)
JEN R R IEETE A Creditors and accrued charges (17,560)
HEAE Lease liabilities (10,928)
BEHEFER Net liabilities disposed of (47,760)

Mzt : RITEBEREARE RAELSE

Note: Bank balances and cash were represented by cash and cash

25 o equivalents.

HENE AR 2 EE Loss of disposal of subsidiaries:
FAT
HK$'000
BRME Total consideration =
o0 : e RE RS Add: non-controlling interests (15,778)
B BEHEFEaE Less: net liabilities disposed of 47,760
31,982

FEWORIE REFIBRTEEER L Impairment loss on amount due from

BT 2 EE R JAl 4k K2 under ECL model (33,018)
HEHEREZEE Loss on disposal of the Disposal Group (1,036)
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

31. HEMEB A 8l =)

31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
HEEEZFREME ¢ Net cash outflow from the disposal:
FAT
HK$'000
B NRE Consideration received in cash =
B ERERITEREES Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (3,426)
(3,426)

32

EXREBEE

REEEEHE R AERBBEL
EfEERTE  EAEEETA
AR ALY YRR FR&
SO o REFEBREEBEF

AR °

AEBZEREBREERE X2
RIRME27RE 2 EERA AR
REGERS(SEEITRA KK

wEREHE(E

RIREER)) -

ARBEZEHMEHELRHERE - 1F

RER D

AEREERBRZER - REFZ
& AREEBIRMNRE - BITH
BEBEITHEREBRREGER -
AFEAREE R EARER -

ER{LIKERRLF

“TMFEFR

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly include the borrowings disclosed in Note 27, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium, and reserves including
retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

—EME —F-=
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EMEE Financial assets
R SR At amortised cost 2,218,571 2,391,406
RANE AEE At FVTPL 856,057 857,411
BAEFAEMEER R  AtFVTOCI
—BAREFAEMEMEY - equity instruments at FVTOCI
mER TR 16,101 20,444
—BAREFAEMEMmY - debt instruments at FVTOCI
mZBEBIA 70,357 22,492
PTEeMIT A Derivative financial instruments
—IREREHAITA — designated as hedging
instruments 230 1,628
Ea =N Financial liabilities
bi7g: FZ) W At amortised cost 1,998,566 2,214,149
PTESBTA Derivative financial instruments
—BERHFITA - designated as hedging instruments 127 =

BB b B B AR BRI
®
AEEcRTABRTEE S ENKK
B HMREWERSR  TESRT
A RIHPARBE=M@ANE
HIR1TER  ROEHREAS &
SREFARMEE K 2 Em T
B BAREHABRZZERE
CBRAREFARMGEERE
TR RBHKAZEBT
L U —FEBEE R EBOR - BN
RN E M BN RIBARMEE © %
SeRMTAFBREMERE - &
ZELMITAMBEZARBREMS
BB (HMER K - 7= @ R R E Al
ERER) EERARERBES
Rk o BRAKZERR 2 REREI 0
T AKEEEEEREREREZS
BB - PARELR &S B U EREVE B
HiE o AN EATE B 2 hi5 AR
HERRtEZRARZTAMES

m >

4

it

f

kv

A}

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
other debtors, derivative financial instruments, short-
term bank deposits with original maturity more than three
months, bank balances and cash, equity instruments at
FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at
FVTOCI, debt instruments at amortised cost, amount
due from an associate, creditors and other payables,
and borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented in a timely and effective manner. There
has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure
to market risk or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.
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33 €@ T B

PR EE B ZHEK
R

s E K

SN JEL B
RRATE THB A TAIMNEETT 8
ERIRE - BINERITAES RIRTT
BE  SALEBEEEINERR o &
EB/A05%(ZE_=F:0.4%)
ZHENEITHEZHBEE AR
2R EE AN E¥EEE - A&
T%99% (ZE =4 : 99% )~
FENEBARSHZNEEEE
=i

REBUINEEEZEREERE
EEIEE 5 &G IE & H b FE Wk
I - RITHES  BEERERREER
HRRERZEESED B
FE21 23 2427 ER -

BRE DT
AEBEFEMEET - ARERE
TLZINER - TRAMZEBER
Al 2 ee B 5 AR INE T+ k5%
—E=F 1 5%) 2 AREEHE
[Eob%(ZE-_=4 :5%) A%
BEHIMNEERA gL 2 S
FFEATRA 2 BB R o Gk
EONMERE N AREEAIINE EE
ZEHEIRE - W AR IR INE [E &
5%(—ZF =% : 5% ) AEH
BE - REDMEIEE FEKK
1B - RTTHER  BNERREE -
FHIENEEE L B@EINEE R
5%(—T =% :5%)  RE4
FIBFTIG N - EINREEKE S AB RSN
IS5 % (B =4 : 5%k -
1SERNFAF B RERRTE -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, bank balances and bank borrowings
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 0.5% (2023: 0.4%) of the Group’s sales
is denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities making the sale, whilst
almost 99% (2023: 99%) of purchases is denominated in
the group entity’s respective functional currency.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities including trade
receivables and other debtors, bank balances, creditors and
borrowings at the end of the reporting period are disclosed
in Notes 21, 23, 24 and 27 respectively.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to currency risk of USD, RMB
and HK$. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in functional
currency of respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used which represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 5% (2023: 5%) change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
trade receivables, bank balances, creditors as well as
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit for the year where functional currency strengthens
5% (2023: 5%) against the relevant foreign currency. For a
5% (2023: 5%) weakening of functional currency against
the relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit for the year.
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33 £ T A 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

B ISR EE B AZHE K
K

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

miEEK &) Market risk (Continued)
SN [\ B (42 ) Currency risk (Continued)
BRRE DT (&) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
—EoE —E-=
2024 2023
FExT FET
HK$000 HK$'000
ET usD (691) (10,873)
AR RMB (1,679) (1,217)
BT HK$ 276 (114)

AEBAEEERER EBAER
RARBEZINERRE - ZE5E KA
ISR AR NS NINZ &
BEBE EEWREEARNEER
M S RN RS % (ZE ==
F:5%)F - NEBERFLFEIL
h011,064,0008 (=T =4 :
24,529,000/ 7T) © HIE R FEERH
#N5,349,0008 (=== :
5,515,000/7T) © RZINA °

AEBEEERR  ARFREAR
Y ARBRBEEFERR  SWHRE
DA TR RAEINERR

The Group is also exposed to currency risk in respect
of amounts due from/to group entities, which are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. When the functional
currency of relevant group entities strengthens 5% (2023:
5%) against the relevant foreign currency, profit for the
year of the Group will increase by HK$11,064,000 (2023:
HK$24,529,000) and the translation reserve will increase by
HK$5,349,000 (2023: HK$5,515,000) and vice versa.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the relevant years.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, bank borrowings (see
Note 27 for details) and lease liabilities (see Note 26 for
details). However, since the majority of the fixed-rate bank
borrowings will mature in a year, the management of the
Group considers the risk is insignificant to the Group.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank deposits carried interest at prevailing
market deposit rate (see Note 23 for details) and floating-
rate bank borrowings (see Note 27 for details). The use of
financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies
approved by the directors of the Company, which provide
written principles on interest rate risk and the use of
financial derivatives. The risk is managed by the Group
by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and
floating rate for bank borrowings with initial maturity
period of two years or more. The Group uses interest rate
swap contracts to hedge interest rate risk for certain bank
borrowings carrying interest at floating rate in order to
achieve the appropriate mix in accordance with the Group's
risk management policy. Hedging activities are evaluated
regularly to align with interest rate views and defined risk
appetite and to ensure the most cost-effective hedging
strategies are applied.
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33. 2@ T A 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

ISR EE B AZHEK
R
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FRERE)

il 8 1 & 40 T 4 2 B AR
TE - WEERYhEE (S
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AEERETHRERRIHFIER
(B EaBEAeBHE) M2
o ZEA WA S AEER S
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$hIE B AR - ELAEEHER
M AT S MR - TR RS
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BE o 2% B h R R o B A
TEREARDH T RAREAY
TEERREEERHAYNARE
TR MR ELRREREF
REHYE T HEHHIBEAALME
£ 5 4 b B (R T 30 L SRR
5 o

VAJE BERIAR A TE BRI R K=
Hak  —#EE/RERE T
VAR 7R &2 [ A SR 17 & SR PT 2 R
KMEERORSIRER o XK=
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NATRETH SR - EERT SR
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Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate swap contracts are designated as effective
hedging instruments and hedge accounting is used (see
Note 22 for details). Under interest rate swap contracts, the
Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and
floating rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional
principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to
mitigate the risk of changing interest rates and the cash
flows exposures. As the critical terms of the interest rate
swap contracts and their corresponding hedged items are
the same, the Group performs a qualitative assessment of
effectiveness and it is expected that the value of the interest
rate swap contracts and the value of the corresponding
hedged items will systematically change in opposite
direction in response to movements in the underlying
interest rates. The main source of hedge ineffectiveness in
these hedge relationships is the effect of the counterparty
and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the
interest rate swap contracts, which is not reflected in the
fair value of the hedged item attributable to the change in
interest rates. No other sources of ineffectiveness emerged
from these hedging relationships.

All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate
interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are
designated as cash flow hedges to reduce the Group's
cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on
bank borrowings. The interest rate swap and the interest
payments on the borrowings occur simultaneously and the
amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss
over the period that the floating rate interest payments on
borrowings affect profit or loss.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
bank balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s HK$
denominated borrowings.
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's bank balances are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate. The directors of the Company consider
the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank deposits
with original maturity of less than three months and bank
balances to interest rate risk is not significant as these bank
balances are with short maturity period and thus they are
not included in sensitivity analysis.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For bank
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount
of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole period. A 100 basis points
(2023: 100 basis points) increase or decrease is used which
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates on interest bearing borrowings
(excluding bank borrowings under cash flow hedges of
HK$210,000,000 (2023: HK$176,667,000) and borrowings
at fixed rate of HK$666,713,000 (2023: HK$230,126,000)
had been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/
lower and all of other variables were held constant,
the profit for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$2,923,000 (2023: HK$8,308,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate borrowings which are not hedged against their
exposures to cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period.
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
in equity instruments, unlisted investment funds and
debt instruments. The Group invested in unquoted equity
instruments for long term strategic purposes which had
been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has a special team
to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to debt or equity price risk at the reporting date.

If the price of the financial assets at FVTPL had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s profit for the year would increase/
decrease by HK$42,803,000 (2023: HK$42,871,000).

If the price to sales ratio of the unlisted equity instruments
had been 10% higher/lower, the Group’s investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$18,000 (2023: HK$63,000). If the price of
other unlisted equity instruments had been 10% higher/
lower, the Group’s investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2024 would increase/decrease by HK$1,592,000
(2023: HK$1,981,000).

If the price of the debt instruments at FVTOCI had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s investment revaluation reserve
as at 31 December 2024 would increase/decrease by
HK$3,518,000 (2023: HK$1,125,000).
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other debtors,
amount due from an associate, bank balances and debt
instruments at FVTOCI|/amortised cost (2023: trade
receivables, other debtors, amount due from an associate,
short-term bank deposits with original maturity more
than three months, bank balances and debt instruments
at FVTOCI/amortised cost). The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that
settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by bills
issued by reputable financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:
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and policies (continued)

(Continued)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)
Financial risk management objectives

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

THER comprises the following categories:

B 5 R URRRIE MU

REBEEFTR Bl S RWRIE ZEMEE

Financial assets

Internal other than trade

credit rating Description Trade receivables receivables

v REFZENRREEESABRRIBBR SHEHBEEERLR- 12EAEHEEERX
B BRPEEEE - EHBEERE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and the Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
debtors sometimes repay after due dates but not credit-impaired
usually settle in full.

ERAE EHRARTADREN  BEABARBEXHCE 2HHEAEERLA- 12EAEHEEERL
o ELREERE

Watch list Debtors frequently repay after due dates but with  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
reasonable and supportable information. not credit-impaired

75t BERY VETMAARBEAAREXRHZEN R 2HHEHEERL- 2HEHGERL-
T HA30R A L &EMW$%%%§E% ﬁ EHBEERE EHREERE
FHETTIAER AR - GERBEBEEN -

Doubtful Overdue without any reasonable and supportable Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
information. Amount is over 30 days past due not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
or there have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition through information
developed from internal or external resources.

DS FORRHBEIORX - AEEBEREELRGER 2HEREERA- 2HEHEEERL-
18 e BEHREERE BHREERE

Loss Amount is over 90 days past due or there is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired. credit-impaired credit-impaired

at 8 BEREBBETERARABRENR  AEELEKE KIESKTH FIAB WL
FIEZERES -

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.
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33. 2@ T A 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
which spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated the responsible personnel for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks. Bills received from trade customers
amounted to HK$314,981,000 (2023: HK$325,187,000)
as at 31 December 2024. The directors of the Company
consider the ECL for those trade receivables is insignificant
because the relevant banks are reputable banks with high
credit rating issued by credit rating agencies in the PRC. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables not backed by
bills individually or on collective basis. Except for trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
remaining customers. Debtors are grouped by similar loss
patterns which are based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings, and these debtors’ repayment history and past
due status. Net impairment loss of HK$11,710,000 (2023:
HK$2,367,000) was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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3.8 T Ew 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
B 7% B B B I B B Financial risk management objectives
%({5) and policies (Continued)
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Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based
on collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Debtors which are credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of HK$58,160,000 (2023: HK$49,636,000) as at
31 December 2024 were assessed individually.

At 31 December 2024

MEREEHE TPHERXER FRABRAE RESHE

Gross Average Net
carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate  allowance amount
FHET FTER FTHERT
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
A &R 5 E AR Internal credit rating
iWE Low risk 983,608 0.08% (750) 982,858
ERAE Watch list 2,588 18.55% (480) 2,108
T &R Doubtful 13,269 43.79% (5.810) 7,459
999,465 (7,040) 992,425
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

BEmeE CPHBRAX FRERERG me

Gross Average Net

carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate allowance amount
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

A ER1S EER Internal credit rating
1K =2 B2 Low risk 906,132 0.08% (750) 905,382
BERZE Watch list 2,592 18.13% (470) 2,122
F5E Doubtful 14,503 43.71% (6,339) 8,164
923,227 (7,559) 915,668

BETEAERDEREUIRRIARF
HAZELBREORL HEF
A RN B ) B AT 45 2 B
BHENGEE - ZFELEWMHRIT
EHENMEEENAAEEERE
ERRFHERIRE A 2 BNETOR
RIATORIER - DEBAEEE
BEERNER - UHEREFEEBA
Z BB HERE R o
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The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Such forward-looking information
with reference to market and industry data is used by
the management of the Group to assess both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

BE) . simplified approach.
2 HTEH 2 HTEH
(EN-%-FS [5-¢-FS
(U|HE (BEHEEFEE
E8RE) AR ) st
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
Impaired) impaired) Total
FHT FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-_ZE-_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 7,644 50,093 57,737
#ABEHBEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (2,883) 2,883 =
ERBEFEB (B ERE  Net impairment losses (reversal
E18) of impairment losses)
recognised 2,931 (564) 2,367
58 =PI YL Bl £ 7R Amounts written off as
uncollectible (157) (1,983) (2,140)
BHRE Currency realignment 24 (861) (837)
R-EBE-_=F+—A At 31 December 2023
=+—H 7,559 49,568 57,127
#BADHBEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (3,265) 3,265 =
ERREFER Net impairment losses
recognised 3,141 8,569 11,710
88 AN AT U El & 58 Amounts written off as
uncollectible (390) (1,672) (2,062)
BT Currency realignment (5) (2,283) (2,288)
RZZ=—WFE+=A At 31 December 2024
=+—H 7,040 57,447 64,487
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings whichever occur
earlier.
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3.2 T R 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
B 7% B B B I B B Financial risk management objectives
K& and policies (continued)
EEREREENEE) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
TRAJAEBEMEREELE The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
ERR  FERERRARIBREER Group's other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
BRAHE assessment:

12883, R-B-mE R-B-=f
2HREBEE t+=-A=t-B t=A=t-H

MBEETR  ABEEFR KX ZAEESE HAKRELE
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
External Internal as at as at
credit credit 12m or 31 December 31 December
rating rating lifetime ECL 2024 2023
TR TR
HK$'000 HKS$'000
REBMHANEREE  Financial assets at amortised
cost
BiBB=MEAZI#2  Short-term bank deposits with ~ AZEkSA L TER 128 AT 594,377 854,247
BHRAERRET  original maturity more than A or above N/A REBRX
bl three months and bank 12m ECL
balances
Eft A Other debtors TEm (e 1218 AFH 101,095 85,165
N/A Low risk FEBRX
12m ECL
fEly—fHB2 ARIZUE  Amount due from an associate iR ER % 12{A%EH 73,998 76,817
N/A Low risk FEEX
12m ECL
RBERAZERTE  Debtinstruments at amortised ~ BBB-RZbA L TER 12EAES 141,367 135,750
cost BBB- orabove  N/A FEBRX
12m ECL
BAREFARM2ZE  Financial assets at FVTOCI
v eREE
BRAREFAEMBZE  Debtinstruments at FVTOCI BBB-aki L TEA 12[EA B 70,357 22,492
Wz EBIA BBB- or above  N/A FEBX
12m ECL
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Short-term bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months and bank balances

Credit risk on short-term bank deposits with original
maturity more than three months and bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months
and bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by international
credit rating agencies. The management of the Group
considers these balances are short-term in nature and based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on these balances is
considered to be insignificant.

Other debtors

For other debtors, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other debtors based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31
December 2024, an impairment loss of HK$538,000
(2023: reversal of impairment loss of HK$2,404,000) was
recognised.
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3.8 T Ew 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
B 7% B B B I B B Financial risk management objectives
%(Zg and policies (Continued)
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& #[E165,0008 L (ZT==F :
TEHA{E B 18 K E5 R B 5640,000%
JT) °

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amount due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associates. The Group’s credit risk in this balance
is mitigated through the value of the assets held by this
entity and its subsidiaries and their power to participate
the relevant activities. As at 31 December 2024, amount
due from an associate with gross carrying amount of
HK$73,998,000 (2023: HK$76,817,000) was assessed
individually based on 12m ECL and was considered to be
performing well.

Debt instruments at amortised cost and FVTOCI

The Group's investments in debt instruments comprise listed
bonds with principal amount of US$28,430,000 (equivalent
to HK$220,691,000) (2023: US$19,970,000 (equivalent to
HK$156,477,000)) and coupon rate ranging from 1.1% to
6.9% (2023: from 1.1% to 7.0%) per annum. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, a reversal of ECL loss allowance
for debt instruments at amortised cost and FVTOCI of
HK$65,000 (2023: ECL loss allowance HK$640,000)
was recognised based on the reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.
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BEEMREE B EZHEK
A¢ )

REE S R
AEBRBESAR  AEEED
HeRBEZHEY KT  BHES
RAEBERERAAEIKT -
AAZELBRE  WRERS R
EEY e BB EELRITISE
ZEAERRRREAERRE .

REBEKRBRITEEEARDES
ZEBRB - AT -_MNE+ A
=+—08  AEBXRHHZAIHHA
IRITIZERE 51,449,673,000/8
TT(=ZF = =4 : 598,457,000 %
JT) °

TRFMAAEEEBEERITET
BEZHBTEMBMBER - BIEPTE
ERAEEMS @ ZINRDIREASK
BAXNEBMAERT 2B 2
RREREH - JIREBEMNEREAE
EMER o WHSREZES - BIE
BRI MERRZ A REH -
RRREEFE  TAETASWRE
FRRB R FEBR

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
available unutilised bank facilities of HK$1,449,673,000
(2023: HK$598,457,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and derivative
instruments. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period. For
derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted
net cash outflows are presented.
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

NEEE #15268,665,000/8 (=
T =4 :66,667,000/87C) 2 &
REFRBEHERTERZ L 12
A M&ZEREREEREBHEF
AL B H A 5T 2[R B skegk
R—1EA JREEEER o

3.2 T R 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
B 7% B B B I B B Financial risk management objectives
K& and policies (continued)

REBESEEE) Liquidity risk (Continued)
RBESRFZEEBER Liquidity and interest risk tables
REXY, -ENLE  RENML ANERR
mEPERE  HR-fAR -BAZ-F TREWEF BTEBRE IENL RERBE  REtE
More than ~ More than Total
Weighted On demand Tmonth  1yearbut 2 years but contractual
average or less than to  lessthan less than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 1 month 1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
E T L T L T T T
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-ME+-F  At31December 2024
=0
FTEERAER  Non-derivative financial
REgE liabilities and lease
liabilities
EfEN Creditors TERNA 322889 448,964 - - - MME3 TS
o Borrowings
~i38 - at variable rate 100,472 170,679 320,423 - - 591,574 560,000
-E8 - at fixed rate 324,099 348,979 - - - 673,078 666,713
UTA60 968622 32043 - - 2036505 1,998,566
BERR Lease liabilites 481 4,590 2712 5,648 2,456 15,887 13,918
RZE-ZEZR  At31December 2023
Er=0
ETEEHAER  Non-derivative financial
HEEE liabilities and lease
liabilities
B Creditors MERNA 356,850 455,506 - - - 8123%  8123%
ffE Borrowings
-%8 - at variable rate 77,093 20,891 182,654 344,768 - 625,406 556,667
-8 - at fixed rate 645,385 195,617 12,137 - - 853,139 845,126
1079328 672014 194791 344768 - 2290901 2214149
HEaE Lease liabilities 1,442 15,359 12,742 13,761 4353 47,657 42,859

The Group has the right to roll over revolving loans
amounting to HK$268,665,000 (2023: HK$66,667,000) for
at least 12 months after reporting period and such amounts
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time
band in the above maturity analysis based on the due date
of the loans.
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B i b B TR B AE B
R

RBEERE)
RBESRFEAREKE)
MR EREFERORITEE
HA R BB E S 2[R E ks
LPR—EAIBHEEER - R_F
—HWE+=—A=1+—8  ZEE
TE B/ 4 AR H {8 4 368,665,000
BT (T = =4 : 691,667,000
BIL) o EEE AL B ISR
N AEBEEERE - RITT
AATREATE E BB Z KB RE
K BEERE  2EROTEBE
AR IR & F & T & 2 T8 E 2 3K
HE RBEHARE—FANEER
308,665,000/ T * R—ZEMF R
{83240,000,0008 T R AR E = 4F
N{E#20,000,0008 7T * ARAFS
B9

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$368,665,000 (2023:
HK$691,667,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the management of the Group does not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such bank borrowings will be
repaid HK$308,665,000 less than 1 year, HK$40,000,000
between 1 year to 2 years, HK$20,000,000 between 2
years to 3 years after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

HHASH - REREERRER
HERERERRTNBIER (BENEAH)
Maturity Analysis - Bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments (include interest payments)

-E0LE MENL FHR

YR-§  BFEBME (ETRERF BENE  REMLEE ik
More than More than

1 year but 2 years but Total
Less than less than less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years cash outflows amount
TER TER TER TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“ECREFIAST-R 31 December 2024 310,690 13,530 2453 - 376,673 368,665
ZEZ=EFZAZT-H 31 December 2023 695,854 - - - 695,854 691,667

fir 2 B F 5 2 B E) B35 HAREE E
E{EET R RAE - Bl B F EhF] =
TEAMHESEAGET -

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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33. €M T A 33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

EMIAECZAREE

AEETFD M ITARMBRER
MRAREE - RAREFET
RAREFEZEZHERMEBA
R

ERETARER - AEEEBAG
SR BREE - RE=RTE
RTABRGABBNETTAM
5 AKREEZRBEBUYAERER
HERMETHE FAEEERER
REMZEEIE  UREEREY
BE S ERM N ABE -

(i) ZEBUREEE
BAAREGENS
MEERESHMEE
MARE
AEEHSLMEEREB
BERNEREBREARE
HE - TREBHEBDAS
ERELBEERSRARE
2 RABORERAER 2
ERATREABE) - ARA
REHEERAAEHES
B2 TEREZEH
AAERAN(E—E=R)Z
B -

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors
of the Company determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for the fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For certain
instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works closely with the valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model.

(i) Fair values of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.2 T A 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SRIAZAREFE Fair value measurements of financial
(#) instruments (continued)

(i) AEEUREREE (i) Fair values of the Group’s financial
EARBEIENSE assets and financial liabilities that are
REERTRAE measured at fair value on a recurring
WA RE® basis (Continued)

SHEE/SHER RTHIREZALE ] MEFBRTRIEBAEE EABEERBAHE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) ~ unobservable inputs
13 Z3IcE
tZB=t-H tZA=1-R
31.12.2024 31.12.2023
EORETALLREREZ  703570008%  2249,0008T £ ARTHHE - i
BHIA
Debt instruments at FVTOCI HK$70,357,000 HK$22,492,000  Level 1 Quoted price in an active market. ~ N/A
AEATESRIAZNE BE gE EZ& HRAER - RRRSNENE  FER
EHaY (REHH (BEEH HNE (RS AR AIBE S
&) &:hk) RGN RETAR R
-230,0008% 1,628,000 BB A7 RASE(HER)
fEERRBMAZYS -
- 8
(REgH (R4
gihk) &:hik)
-127,00087 &
Interest rate swap contracts Assets Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash ~ N/A
classified as derivative (under hedge (under hedge flows are estimated based on
financial instruments accounting) accounting) forward interest rates (from
- HK$230,000 - HK$1,628,000 observable yield curves at the
end of the reporting period)
Liabilities Liabilities and contracted interest rates,
(under hedge (under hedge discounted at a rate that
accounting) accounting) reflects the credit risk of the
- HK$127,000 = Nil counterparties and of the Group
as appropriate.
ERAEF AR 2ENEL & 19.811,0008  £=f EHR5 AR - NER
ERIA-BRAETA
At 2ENGH BREER
I8
Equity Instruments at FVTOCI Nil HK$19,811,000  Level2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- unquoted equity
instruments at FVTOC|

ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH
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—MFE+=HA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

EMIAECARENE

(%)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(i) AEEUREEE (i) Fair values of the Group’s financial
BRAREBEFENE assets and financial liabilities that are
MEERSREAE measured at fair value on a recurring
E’gi\\ﬁﬁ(fg) basis (Continued)

SHEE/CHAR RTSIBAZAAE ] MERERTRIZAARE  EARIBEBANE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) ~ unobservable inputs
I S ===
tZA=t-A +-A=1-H
31.12.2024 31.12.2023
BOMEHARELERAR g 1981100087 E=R TR AER - &R
-~ LR
Financial assets at FVTPL Nil HK$19,811,000  Level2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- Unlisted investment funds
D Eﬁ/\HMEMZ 184,000 7 6330008  %=R ERERSZOEMEREEGY TR THEAS
BRTE-BAARTA LARB. AREAR  RZIK
H%iﬁ%zﬂﬁf‘ e
B&EIA
Equity Instruments at FVTOCI HK$184,000 HK$633,000  Level 3 Fair value derived by the Price to sales ratio. The
- unquoted equity management estimation with higher the price to
instruments at FVTOCI reference to the price to sales sales ratio, the higher
ratio of the industry. the fair value and vice
Versa.
BARBH AL EENE 8,708,000%7 B 2= ERERSZOEMARRAESY TREZ -TREAS
LEGETE-RRAMEGTA LARE. ARERE R
AftrERE BRERE iR
I8
Equity instruments at FVTOC| HK$8,708,000 NIl Level3 Fair value derived by the Price to eamnings ratio.
- unquoted equity management estimation with The higher the price
instruments at FVTOC| reference to the price to earnings  to eamings ratio, the
ratio of the industry. higher the fair value
and vice versa.
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HE-ZT W&+ =H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.®@M T B
ERMIBEZAAREE

(%)

33.

(i) AEBULHEEE

ER{LIKERRLF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair values of the Group’s financial

BRAREBEFENE assets and financial liabilities that are
REERTRAE measured at fair value on a recurring
E’gi\\ﬁﬁ(@) basis (Continued)
SREE/SHER RTHRHZALE ] AMEFBRTRIZBAEE EABEERBANE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) ~ unobservable inputs
13 I St2
tZB=t-H tZh=1-A
31.12.2024 31.12.2023
BAREH AR EENE 7,209,000%7 & 2= HERISENNEAEFERAT BmaRBHN -
LERTA-BFRAMEA B - e
A2 ENG BREEE A5 RAERE -
IZ R - (W)
Equity instruments at FVTOCI HK$7,209,000 NIl Level3 Applying marketability discount to ~ Discount on lack of
- unquoted equity the net asset values per share or ~ marketability. The
instruments at FVTOCI unit. higher the discount on
lack of marketability,
the lower the fair
value and vice vera.
(note (i)
RAAETAREZER 1972000087 177,131,000 £=% HERUBENNRERERRT MTTERAM -
BE-FITRASS B - e
A ARERE -
R » (Hizk(i)
Financial assets at FVTPL HK$ 197,220,000 HK$177,131,000  Level 3 Applying marketability discount to Discount on lack of
- unlisted investment funds the net asset values per share or ~ marketability. The
unit. higher the discount on
lack of marketability,
the lower the fair
value and vice versa.
(note (ii))
T FEEFR
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{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair values of the Group’s financial

assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring

WA B basis (Continued)
SHEE/RAR RTSIAHZAAE ) MEFERHRTEGAEE EXBXEZRARE
Financial assets/ . Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) ~ unobservable inputs
“EopE - S
tZA=t-B  tZA=t-A
31.12.2024 31.12.2023
RAAEHAREL 658,837,008 660469,000FT  £= FARERDENAEERES N MRE-BREAE.

SHAE- Lotk

Financial assets at FVTPL
- unlisted preferred shares

BR= TS A R ST AN 0 R

0.5% 1M AT 3 H fth 8 B2 -

FRF AR D 1 I136,0007 7T
T =F )

R TG A M B 30 0,
0.5% M BERMBEHTE - &
F 4R R  3 11986,000 7
(=T = =% :886,000/T) °

BRIE RN 0.5% M AT A
Hih#HRE - ANEAF B
4/ #9113,100,000& T (=&
=4 :16,013,000/87T) °

HK$658,837,000

RAfE AR SR AN
AHMEER - RRREARE
BB HAENR -

AMERE Rz
Tish o (REE(i))

HK$660,469,000  Level 3 Discounted cash flow based Discount rate. The

on the estimated future cash higher discount rate,
flows that are expected to be the lower the fair
received by the Group as well value and vice versa.
as the estimated timing of such (note (iil)
receipts, discounted at a rate
that reflects the credit risk of the
preferred shares.

Notes:

(i) A 0.5% increase/decrease in discount on lack of marketability

holding all other variables constant would decrease/increase
the profit for the year by HK$36,000 (2023: Nil).

(i) A 0.5% increase/decrease in discount on lack of marketability
holding all other variables constant would decrease/increase
the profit for the year by HK$986,000 (2023: HK$886,000).

(iii) A 0.5% increase/decrease in discount rate holding all other
variables constant would decrease/increase the profit for the
year by HK$13,100,000 (2023: HK$16,013,000).
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

()

Fair values of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of two
unlisted fund investments classified as equity
instruments at FVTOCI and two unlisted fund
investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL were
determined by reference to the recent transaction
prices and hence were classified as Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy. As at 31 December 2024, two (2023:
one) of these unlisted fund investments classified
as equity instruments at FVTOCI have no recent
transactions and such the fair values were determined
based on fair values derived by the management
estimate with reference to the price to earnings
ratio of the industry and based on the valuation that
involves unobservable inputs for the asset respectively.
In addition, two (2023: one) of these unlisted fund
investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL
have no recent transaction and such the fair values
were determined based on the valuation that involves
unobservable inputs for the asset. Accordingly, these
unlisted fund investments were transferred to Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024.

Except of the above, there were no transfers
between Level 1, 2 and 3 during both years. The
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
are determined at the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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E-T_MF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

iR measurements
BARETA BRARE
Htt 2 mEWE 2z STABEZ
EHRTHE SREE
Equity Financial
instruments assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
FAT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-_=%—HF—H At 1 January 2023 2,139 164,963
BEEEE = Transfers into Level 3 = 5,636
WESmEE Acquisition of financial assets - 657,267
REME2ERRERZ Fair value loss recognised in other
NI EEE comprehensive income (1,506) =
RIBRERZ AREEZS)  Fair value gain recognised in profit
g or loss = 7,172
% 8 U A Dividend income = 17,855
Bk Currency realignment - (15,293)
R-BE-_=F+—# At 31 December 2023
=+—H 633 837,600
BEEEE=Q Transfers into Level 3 19,811 19,811
WiESmEE Acquisition of financial assets = 5,392
HESHEE Disposal of financial assets = (698)
REfth 2 E W R 2 Fair value loss recognised in other
NAEEE comprehensive income (3,664) =
RIBEERZ ALEEE  Fair value loss recognised in profit
or loss - (1,618)
& B U A Dividend income = 25,547
B UEAR B Dividend received - (2,599)
B Currency realignment (679) (27,378)
RZZTZWHFE+=A At 31 December 2024
=+—H 16,101 856,057

EWEH\T@ & A U 2= Bk B 18

HBER - RERISREBRKRE
ﬁZ} AREFABERZ®
MEECEBAREREBER
1,618,000 L (ZF = =
F o R WER7,172,0007%8
TL) o BARBEFABRZ S
MEEZAABEREREE
T AT E Az R &R ]

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in
profit or loss, HK$1,618,000 unrealised loss (2023:
HK$7,172,000 unrealised gain) relates to financial
assets at FVTPL held at the end of the current
reporting period. Fair value gains or losses on financial
assets at FVTPL are included in “other gains and
losses”.
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ERMIBEZAAREE
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(ii)

(iii)

ER{LIKERRLF

E=HMANREFTEZSE
BR (%)

FRFAEMBEAKEZZA
REEEBEF - RNAHE
HRBEZEAREFAR
thEEmim s TAEZE
< 5 E518 43,664,000
TT(ZZE = =% : 1,506,000
PEIT) °

FREMUAARETE
ZAEBTRMEERS
MEEZANE

HiteMEERTRBEZ
AAETDRRBRENRKRR S
MAMZAREEBRELE
E o ARAEERR  WE
RBHKARRZERMEE
heBABsRASBEER
SERE -

BREH - JEEBITR
EREEZHEREOUHGE
ZEMEERTREAE

NEEDHETHRBE I
RAEBRFELERIBITERR]
EEESHETET EEHE
(T'1SDARE 1) ° FRFAISDAR
FREREN BEHERGK
WERBRETHE A
£ ® B AT A SRR BT
EHEEERZERE © M
ENMETAEYERRATS
R KE - AR AT R
WP SNSRI TE
X A REEE—F 2B

= o
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33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Of the total fair value change for the year included in
other comprehensive income, HK$3,664,000 (2023:
HK$1,506,000) unrealised loss relates to equity
instruments at FVTOCI held at the end of the current
reporting period.

Fair values of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with general
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis. The directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of these financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
approximate their fair values.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable

master netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group has entered interest rate swaps that are
covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”)
signed with various banks. These derivative
instruments are not offset in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the ISDA
Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that
the Group currently has no legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts. No further disclosure
is provided as the amounts involved in master netting
arrangements are not significant.
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MEXBMEEZR
E¥ iR

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities

TRBINEEAKEREXHAE
ErZREEHFE  BRASRFE
B8y MEXBMELZAR
DRERERIARRENRAEEZ
FERERERADEARIBRER
BREEZERERIZEE -

are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

EfFIE EfRE
HnfrE (ARt (sEARA
SRRE g HEEE  EAHE) ERRfH  EAFRE) @it
Hedge Interest Dividend
derivative payable payable
financial Lease  (included in Treasury  (included in
investments  Borrowings liabilities other payable) shares other payable) Total
T T T T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZZF-F-H  At1January 203 - 2,180,475 41,206 3,026 - 15,959 2,240,666
HERSH Financing cash flow 3,558 (778,682) (19,646) (65,704) - (482,684)  (1,343,158)
flEx Interest expense (3,558) - 1728 65,351 - - 63,521
EERRS Dividends declared - - - - - 466,158 466,158
HEfgaR Addition on lease liabilities - - 27,854 = = = 27,854
®IHAE Termination of leases - = (7,650) = = = (7,650)
A% Currency realignment - - (633) - - 567 (66)
S | At 31 December 2023
=+-A - 1,401,793 42 859 2,673 - - 1,447,325
HERER Financing cash flow 2,463 (162,141) (8,551) (62,387) (14,908) (73,730) (319,254)
FEXH Interest expense (2,463) - 77 61,784 - - 60,048
EERRE Dividends declared - - - - - 73,730 73,730
HEfEaE Addition on lease liabilities - = 2470 = = = 2470
KIHAE Termination of leases - = (12,040) = = = (12,040)
HENBARME31)  Disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 31) - - (10,928) - - - (10,928)
UEES Currency realignment - (12,939) (619) - - - (13,558)
RZZZMETZA At31 December 2024
=t+-H - 1,226,713 13,918 2,070 (14,908) - 1,221,793
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AN RIB AR R fit
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ER{LISEEAERLT —T_NFEFH

HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

35. B IR RE T & 35.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“2022 Share Option Scheme”) adopted by shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 6 June
2022. The 2022 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years from the date of adoption, i.e. 5
June 2032.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme the directors of the
Company may grant options to any eligible participants,
including directors of the Company or of any its subsidiaries
and associated company, advisers, consultants, agents,
contractors, clients, suppliers and/or such other persons,
who in the sole discretion of the directors of the Company
have contributed or may contribute to the Company and its
subsidiaries and/or associated company. The exercise period
of options granted shall not be more than ten years from
the date of grant and the directors of the Company may
provide restrictions on the exercise of a share option during
the period a share option may be exercised.

No share options were granted for both years.
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36. EAAEIE 36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—g-mE —E-=%F
2024 2023
FER THET
HK$'000 HK$'000

BREAWEYE BENMKREZ Capital expenditure in respect of the
B - BRJAMERMER  acquisition of property, plant and

&SR equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated
financial statements 12,865 5,444
37. XEME AR 37.OPERATING LEASE
COMMITMENTS
AEBEEAHEA The Group as lessor
FrBAFERIE S 2 MERNT TR All of the properties held for rental purposes have
R—FEZRFERAEZEMAA ° committed lessees for the next ranged from 1 year to 5
years.
MEZARBREREESRET : Undiscounted lease payments receivables on leases are as
follows:
—E-mEF —E=F
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—F A Within one year 4,158 5,093
RE—F In the second year 1,126 820
RE=F In the third year 368 585
NGRS In the fourth year 235 122
RERF In the fifth year 177 -
6,064 6,620
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3. BT RS

BB mEEMBOMKES

S

(a)

(b)

(e)

ER{LIKERRLF

’ EWZE‘%HHF

RSEFWOTF -

FRN - AEE 960,000
#It(ZZ = =4 : 960,000
B2 e FAEERERR
AE([EE]) AXRFlZ&
RIEBRRERE EEERE
EREEENZRER -
HAENEANBEEZHHER
RS -

FR - AEBREIEERKEE
EESERARIZHERE
FB & 264,000t (==
— =4 : 304,000/ 70) & AR
BB WAS3,0008 (==
— =4 :53,000/87T) '+ ARA
ﬂZ?%NWﬁ%%&%%%
B E R %R R A R
BEZS o

FRN AEERAIEEH
zi”’/“EE%EH%I
111,147,000 Tt (ZE ==
£ 1 108,736,000/ T) 7 &

oA ©

s |11

REBEE-ZZT-_=F+=H
=+ —RHLFE  AEEM
RNEEE 2B A AR B
7,720,000 7T 2 RS - M 4F
ARNESE R i RN B
HAEMRART

TEEEABRARRES

RAREITRERAR - 4
T8 F 2 F B 15 SN MY &
6o

“TMFEFR

38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the related party transactions for the
year are presented below:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(e)

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000
(2023: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments Limited
("Goldex"”) in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the ultimate
controlling shareholder and a director of the
Company, has controlling interests over Goldex. The
lease arrangement with a lease term of 12 months is
considered as a short-term lease.

During the year, the Group received rent and license
fee of HK$264,000 (2023: HK$304,000) and service
fee income of HK$53,000 (2023: HK$53,000) from Ip
Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited in which Mr.
Ip Chi Shing, the ultimate controlling shareholder and
a director of the Company, has controlling interest
over it.

During the year, the Group purchased goods
from associates of the Group amounting to

HK$111,147,000 (2023: HK$108,736,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group provided services to associates of the Group
amounting to HK$7,720,000, while the Group did not
provide any services to associates in current year.

The key management personnel are the directors of
the Company and the management executives of the
Group. The details of the remuneration paid to them
are set out in Note 6.
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39. B IKERIFTEl 39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

AEE 2 ER BB RN 3 &D)
B2 E BT 8] ([ B R IRGT
8l ) MR B SR B AR F &P
REZZZTF+Z ARV 281
R E(RESFEL) - %F
ABZEERARBZEENH -
MREAERZERESRE - #
SRIRE AL Z AT RABER
WREtBIKEZREMEZEES E
BERNGINBERESE
MABER_FTETF+ _A—HBxX
MR ABASE 2 EERIAZ A
g EtEl

AEBERFEABZHBARIEES
TP ERBBTEECBREER
BARBHEEZKE - WEHBERQ
AZHABREFERAZEER
D (ERZRKERNE EIERN Z
B o NEBBZENRSE N F B
W —BEEARMTEMRRK -

M8 & kR 2 XA & 45,220,000
BT (ZZ =4 : 43,733,000/8
7o) - RERAEE IR 2R AT
ZHRRA M AZETEX
e IS /4

ARRERFNE  ARAREES
BIENREEABRBIR - €20229F
B8 KR REH 8UE I (R 85 22 5F)
(ERT) &P ) H AR S B Ry 22230
BEXo

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme")
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit plan operated by the government of the Chinese
Mainland. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to
make the specified contributions.

The costs charged to profit or loss of HK$45,220,000 (2023:
HK$43,733,000) represent contributions paid or payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans in respect of the current accounting period.

The directors of the Company have assessed that the impact
of the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
to the Group is insignificant as the Group has only limited
number of employees working in Hong Kong.
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HE T UF+ =8 =+—HILE5E For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. T EBE A 7

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ARREZMBRRZFHBEWT

HEADER

BEANE

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

BRfTRAZAERE/
iftax

Nominal value of

FRBRAERAR
AEE/ERES 2
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

IEEH

ER{LIKERRLF

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
gopE CTOcF
2024 2023
EHEHHERERAR Bt BRIk 149,665 100% 100% REZR
Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$149,665 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
SHEAI( L) ERAT hE-BENELE AR ARM2,000,0007 100% 100% EEZH
Bauhinia Chemical (Shanghai) The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Company Limited enterprise RMB2,000,000
AR LE)BRAR hE-BENELE BRER 40,800,000 100% 100% HEREEEH
Bauhinia Coatings Manufacturing The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and trading
(Shanghai) Co., Limited enterprise USD40,800,000 in coatings
AR (BN ERAR (5 EER-1%T 100% 100% REER
Bauhinia Coatings (Overseas) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Bauhinia Paints Limited EBREE LB 1,008 100% 100%  REBR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
KRR () ERAT hE-BENMELR BAER- ARM28,0000007 100% 100% SHEREEEH
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and trading
(Chengdu) Company Limited enterprise RIMB28,000,000 in coatings
A RRARAR 3 ERR-20%T 100% 100% REER
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$20 100% 100%  Investment holding
FERBE(TI) ERAT hE-BENELE BRER - AR20,350,0007 100% 100% WERE
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment
(Hebei) Limited enterprise RMB20,350,000
EEERRERAR B EER-2%T 100% 100% EEHAR
Best Lubricant Blending Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Trading in lubricants

“TMFEFR
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40. T EMEB A S w)

il e

BEANE R

BefTRAZAER/
&%

Nominal value of

FRBEAERTR
AEE/EREs 2
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

{ZE-ZT & +=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IEEH

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZBIpE TR
2024 2023
BERE(RE)BRAA B SER-1%T 100% 100% REER
Best Prospect Investments (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Brandway Limited EBRIES LER-1%T 100% 100% AR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERRREERAR (5 EER-2%7 100% 100% REER
Clover Strategic Investments Company  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
REARARAT B LR -200%7 100% 100%  REBR
Clover Ventures Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$200 100% 100%  Investment holding
B TRRERAR Bt ER1%—160,000%7 75% 5% REAK
Concord Chemical Storaging Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$160,000 75% 75%  Investment holding
RERE (BN ERAT hE-FENELE AAER-24,500,000%T 100% 100% EEHMK
Da Chang Polymers (Huizhou) Limited ~ The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in resins
enterprise HK$24,500,000
REATHEREEERAA hE-BENERE BARER-50,000,000%7 100% 100% HEREERER
Dongguan Pacoil Lubricant Company  The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and trading
Limited enterprise HK$50,000,000 in lubricants
BRERRRERAT & ERIR-15,807,383.74% 7 100% 100% REZRREEHS
Focus Hong Kong Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$15,807,383.74 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading in inks
ERERAT BE: ERR-1%T 100% 100% REZR
Great Success Limited Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
A IRBERAR Bt E31%—60,0007%1 100% 100% REARRBRRAZR
Handsome Chemical Services Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$60,000 100% 100% Provision of treasury

services and investment
holding
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40. T EMBE A S 40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRARAZEE/ IEEHECRTR

fER AEE/ERER 2L
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

HEARER BEANE IERH

Nominal value of

ER{LIKERRLF

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZBopE CTOCF
2024 2023
[B22H (25 ERAT hE-BENMELR EAREH-20,000000%7 100% 100% SHEREEEH
Hang Cheung Coatings (Hui Yang) ~ The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and trading
Limited enterprise UsD20,000,000 in coatings
Hang Cheung Coatings (Viet Nam) ~ HEI—BEINELE EARER-100,000%T 100% 100% EEZH
Company Limited Vietnam - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
enterprise USD100,000
B2 IERAR 3 £31R—800,000%7 100% 00% REZR
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$800,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hang Cheung (W.S) Limited EED L1350 100% 100% AR
Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EARTERRERAA &k BER- 18T 100% 100%  ®EBR
Hong Kong Pacific Oil & Chemical Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited
IARAAHRRERAR hE-BANMELR EAREH-53,000,000%E 7 75% 5% NERE
Jiangmen Thansome Solvents The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 5% 75%  Property investment
Production Limited enterprise HK$53,000,000
REBRRERRAR B EER-1ET 100% 100% RERR
Joint Rich Hong Kong Investment Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Radiant New Limited RERUES ERR-1%T 100% 100% WERE
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Property investment
RELE(FH)ERAA B EER-2%T 100% 100% #HEHR
TM Holding (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark
TM Holding Limited EBRRES LER-1%T 100% 100% #AEE
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark

“TMFEFR
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REANE R

BefTRAZAER/
ifiax

Nominal value of

FRBEAERTR
AEE/EREs 2
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IEEH

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
§-mE 3R
2024 2023
ERSR(FA)ERAA &% EER-1%T 100% 100% EE2H
Yip's Camel (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited EBRSEE LER-50057 100% 100%  KEAR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$500 100% 100%  Investment holding
FRIIHR(LE)ARAR PE-BRNELE BAEE-17,000000%7C 100% 100% WERE
Yip's Chemical Research & The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment
Development (Shanghai) Company ~ enterprise UsD17,000,000
Limited
ESNEEIES B ERR 99950087 100% 100%  REBRRRERSE
Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$999,500 100% 100%  Investment holding and
provision of services
ERh2(5E)ARAA B EAR- 281 100% 100% REZR
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
FRHEE () ERAT hE-FENELE BAEH - AE%299,900,0007 100% 100% SEREEAS
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Zhejiang) The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacturing of and
Limited (formerly known as enterprise RMB299,900,000 trading in inks
“Bauhinia Variegata Ink &
Chemicals (Zhejiang) Limited”)
FRAHE (P ) ERAT hE-FENELE BAEH - A\RH162,524 4017 100% 100% SEREEAS
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Zhongshan) ~ The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
Limited (formerly known as enterprise RMB162,524,401 trading in inks
“Bauhinia Variegata Ink &
Chemicals (Zhongshan) Limited")
ERERM(EE)ERAT B £k —290,000% 7 100% 100% REFRREZEAR
Yip's Lubricant Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$290,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading in lubricants
Yip's Pacific Limited ZBRIEE L3RR -36,251,000%7 100% 100%  EBR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$36,251,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
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40. T EMBE A S 40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ER{LIKERRLF

HEARER

BUEANE

B&fTRAZAER/
s

Nominal value of

IEEHECRR
AEE/EREs 2L
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

IEEH

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
gopE CTOcF
2024 2023
ERHRERAA (2 EER-1%T 100% 100%  HABR
Yip's Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EREEMRRIERAR HE-BRNELK AAEH - AXH1,000,0007 100% 100% RERHS
The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Provision of services
enterprise RMB1,000,000
ERBNRR (R ERAT HE-BENMELE BAREE - ARH500,0007 100% 100% EEHAR
The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in lubricants
enterprise RMB500,000
ESANR (R ARAR hE-BELE EAEH- AR%10,000,0007 100% 100% EEEEH
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in lubricants
enterprise RMB10,000,000
SAEAMHRB(RIERAR  BE-BENELE BAREH - ARH5,000,0007 100% 100% KEER
The PRC - wholly owned foreign ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Investment holding
enterprise RMBS5,000,000
FEARMSERE(RL)ARAR  HE-BALK BRERE - AR524,000,0007 100% 100% WERABEREERE
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Inks and other product
enterprise RIMB24,000,000 quality inspection
REER(RBRAA TE-BENMELE B ER - AR¥60,400,0007 100% 100% REARR
The PRC - wholly owned foreign  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Investment holding
enterprise RMB60,400,000
ERURA(M)ERAT hE-BALE BAEH - AR%10,100,0007 100% 100% REZR
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Investment holding
enterprise RMB10,100,000
R RAR AT HE-RERERE BAREE - ARH38,800,0007 60% - BEREEME
Ha)
The PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - 60% - Manufacture of and trading
RMB38,800,000 note (a) ininks

“TMFEFR
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40. TEMB AT =) 40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRTRAZEE/ REEHECROR

fER AEE/EREs
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

HEARER BEANE IEEH

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZBIpE CTOEE
2024 2023
ERR( ERIEERAR hE-RERERE B E# - ARH6,000,0007T 99.83% - REER
Hi(b)
The PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - 99.83% - Investment holding
RMB6,000,000 note (b)
MITEVRREERBAR(BR  E-a¥0% ERER - ARE1,000,0007 99% - REER
&%) H&(b)
The PRC - partnership enterprise  Capital contribution - 99% - Investment holding
RMB1,000,000 note (b)
AR REREREARAR hE-RERELE EAEH - \EH8,903,0627 - 61% RERRR
Ko REEAEREMR
The PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - - 61%  Investment holding
RMBS,903,062 note (c) and provision of car
maintenance services
WRAEEEBREERAA hE-BAMK BARER - ARH3,000,0007T - 61%  fREAERERS
Ko
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB3,000,000 note (c) maintenance services
RETABAEERBERAN  PE-FAL% BARER- ARH1,000,0007T - 61%  fREAERERY
Bz
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 note (¢) maintenance services
BUTAESEERBERAR  PE-BARE BARER - ARH500,0007 - 61% RETERERE
W)
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 note (¢) maintenance services
ROTAEBEAERBERAR  PE-BARY BAREHE - ARH500,0007 - 61% RETERERE
W)
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 note (c) maintenance services
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40. T EMBE A S

HEARER

BEANE

BRfTRAZAER/
s

Nominal value of

FRBEAERAR
AEE/EREs 2z
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IERH

ER{LIKERRLF

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZgopE CTOCF
2024 2023
BRAEEEERBERAA HE-BERR BAREEI- AKH1,000,0007 - 61% REAERERH
W)
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 note (¢) maintenance services
WEAE I EEEREERAA HE-FEAX BRER - ARE1,000,0007T - 61% REAERERH
H(o)
The PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 note (c) maintenance services
WEHEEFHBERAA TE-RERELR EAEH - \EH34386567 - Q7%  RERERERE
K(o) iz (o)
The PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - - 42.7%  Provision of car
RMB3,438,656 note (c) note (d) maintenance services
WAHEERBERAR hE-RERERE BARH- AR6714797 - 07%  RERERERE
Bz itz (o)
The PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - - 42.7%  Provision of car
RMB671,479 note (c) note (d) maintenance services

“TMFEFR
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40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

40. T EMEB A S w)

GEE

Bl

(a) AEERHE-_Z-_MFE+_A
St HALEFERBEZHEA
ch

by HHBARARBE-_T_MF
+ZA=+—RALFEFEMK
s

(0 AEERBE-_ZT-_NF+_A
=St BILFERZHERRE
EMdERE—HEE -

(d) I ARBEBZZMBE AT 70%
B RS o

B* Yip’s Chemical (BVI) Limited Ff
RARBEERBIN A HAMME
NAEREEFE  REABERE
2 B ARSI - BT bt
Mt AR EERE R B MK
S 2 s BhAS A o

ERMIAEE B AR ES
RESHEAEBXEREELE
B2 EEZHBAR - EEREIIH
HaftB AR 2 F B ARTRR
= o
EWBATRIN-_Z_ME+_HA
=+ — B Sk F R {a] B R A 4 T ]
BEIEHES o

RZBE_WMFR-_ZF_=F+_A
=+—H  F2ENBRTAIEE
iR AEBIWTEKX -

Notes:

(a) The subsidiary was acquired by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

(b)  The subsidiary was incorporated during the year ended 31
December 2024.

() The subsidiary was disposed of together with i it KX 25 by
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(d)  JA[HEXZE has 70% interest in these subsidiaries.

Except for Yip’s Chemical (BVI) Limited which is held directly
by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.
Except for the investment holding companies which have
no specific place of operation, all the above subsidiaries
operate principally in their respective place of incorporation/
registration.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting

at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the year.

The non-controlling interests of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are individually immaterial as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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41.TEFBRERH
REE-_ZE_NNF+-_A=+—H
IHEE AEEREREEDE

42

ER{LIKERRLF

RBE M EET I FHEEAR -
REZE-_Z-_MNF+=-_A=1+—H
EEFE  AEERHEERREER
fFA#EEE?2470,0008 T (==
T =4 27,854,000/ 7L) M E
B 1&2,470,0008 (=== :
27,854,000/ 7T) °

REE-—ZT-_MNF+=-A=1+—H
IEFE  AEERIEEREEREK
I T 3R {8 A # & &= 12,003,000 %
JTL(=ZZT =4 : 7,097,000/ )
NHEEEE 12,040,000 (==
— =% :7,650,000/7T) °

REBEE-T-_mMF+=-_A=1+—
Elmiﬁ $%IH&@%&§¢%
% 20,266,000 L (= & = =
& 18,271 ooo/%rz) J Mﬂ:“;
20,266,000 L (ZF = = F :
8,271,000/%7E)EE’<\L*¢E5§@
H%*HF%%%&E@M&%%XL%%
BRHEBRKBZEMNIEEEE

BEREREE

R=_ZFE-_AF—A++tH - &
B btSmeELFEES O
(Tt fEER L)) R EERA
HEEXREEZESIIVEAR
T E R BRI LR
FLRERE MASEERER
EEREEMRTRE BT L
& & |1 57 48 2 18 5 1288 55 MY (L
i T & 4 5 46,666.93 F 7 K &Y
— A T ERE  REA
A B #69,110,000 7T ( 18 2 R 49
74,342,000/ 7T ) © IR B 1E
HRARNBEHE-_T=_HF—A
T+HERZRE -

“TMFEFR

41.

42.

MAJOR NON-CASH
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into new lease contracts for the use of leased
properties and plant and machinery. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
of HK$2,470,000 (2023: HK$27,854,000) and lease
liabilities of HK$2,470,000 (2023: HK$27,854,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
terminated leases and derecognised right-of-use assets of
HK$12,003,000 (2023: HK$7,097,000) and lease liabilities
of HK$12,040,000 (2023: HK$7,650,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
acquired investment properties of HK$20,266,000
(2023: HK$8,271,000) with the full consideration of
HK$20,266,000 (2023: HK$8,271,000) which was settled
in previous year by transferring the related trade and other
debtors to deposit paid for the subsequent acquisition.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 17 January 2025, the Group, Shanghai Jinshan District
Land Reserve Centre (_E/8 M € U [& + #1 & & 9 0) (the
“Land Reserve Centre”) and the Shanghai Carbon Valley
Green Bay Industrial Park Management Committee

EEmAKEEXEEIEZ 8 E) entered into the state-
ovvned land reserve agreement pursuant to which the Land
Reserve Centre has agreed to acquire, and the Group has
agreed to surrender and dispose of the land use right of
a parcel of land situated at No. 1288, Hua Tong Road,
Jinshanwei Town, Jinshan District, Shanghai, the PRC ({1
EETE LIRS LA EEBR12885%%), with a site area of
approximately 46,666.93 square meters, for a consideration
of RMB69,110,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$74,342,000). Details of this transaction are set out in
the Company’s announcement on 17 January 2025.
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43, XA T B ISR R &R 43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

“E-mF ZT=F
2024 2023
FER FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
R B AR ZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,209,954 1,254,006
FE Uk — B8 A Rl 5K IE Amount due from a subsidiary 474,133 509,525
1,684,087 1,763,531
mENEE Current assets
H th & W R IE K FB A SRR Other debtors and prepayments 151 8,792
FEU — I8 A BIFRIE Amount due from a subsidiary 13,937 =
RITHEBREIRE Bank balances and cash 873 235,074
14,961 243,866
mEaE Current liabilities
HAoh R R R ERT & A Other creditors and accrued charges 902 988
FES— M B A Bk IE Amount due to a subsidiary - 139,528
MBEREE Financial guarantee liability 277 277
1,179 140,793
mENEESHE Net current assets 13,782 103,073
EEFE Net assets 1,697,869 1,866,604
AR R R Capital and reserves
i@ Share capital 56,848 56,848
G Reserves 1,641,021 1,809,756
s Total equity 1,697,869 1,866,604
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43. KD B B R R 3/ ) 43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
REEE Movement of reserves
EXRE
RVEE  EERG BRERG  HBRE  ENRS R REEA At
Share Capital
Share  Treasury option Other Translation redemption  Retained
premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
T Thn Thx TEn T TEn THL TEx
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i)
(Note)
RZFZZF-F-F At1anuary 2023 576,022 - 3,738 77,700 76,248 6,431 587,123 1,327,262
REH Profit for the year - - - - - - 1017874 1,017,874
RASZE25E%M  Bchange difference
EE/ENER arising on translation
to presentation
currency - - - - (69.222) - = (69,222)
RERA(XH)RE  Total comprehensive
&% (expense) income for
the year - - - - (69,222) - 1,017,874 948,652
BRIERK Lapse of share option - - (3738) - - - 3,738 -
BRRE Dividends paid - - - - - - (466,158) (466,158
WZFZ=F+ZF  At31 December 2023
S 576,022 - - 77,700 7,026 6431 1142577 1,809,756
TEER Loss for the year - - - - - - (13814)  (13814)
RFEZ2HEHM  Exchange difference
EiERES arising on translation
to presentation
currency - - - - (66,283) - - (66,283)
FEREZLEE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - (66,283) - (13,814) (80,097)
BRRE Dividends paid - - - - - - (BBY {3730
mERMA Repurchase of shares - (14,834) - - - - - (14,834)
EERHEERAHA  Transaction costs
attributable to
repurchase of shares - (74) - - - - = (74)
RZZZWETR  At31 December 2024
=+-A 576,022 (14,908) = 77,700 (59,257) 6431 1,055,033 1,641,021

M RtREEERE - AN —F&EE

Note: Other reserve represents the reserve arising from group

AMESE 2 - reorganisation in 1991.
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